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Alexander Apke, Christopher Beahn, Christine Han Beahn, Michel Bechirian, SpencerJones, - 1.
Anna Munoz, Peter Owens, Geoffery Pierce, Carolyn Radisch and Ni/ooTehr‘dn'chi}{A/ T
Members of the TIC Owners Group 53 S L A———
668-678 Page Street
San Francisco, CA 94117

668678pagestreet@gmail.com

March 29, 2018

VIA HAND DELIVERY

Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

City Hall, 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place, Room 244
San Francisco, CA 94102

RE: Appeal of DPW Disapproval of Tentative Parcel Map for 668-678 Page St (ID 9475)

Dear President Breed and Honorable Members of the Board of Supervisors:

This letter notices our appeal of the Department of Public Works (DPW) disapproval of
the above referenced proposed subdivision as noticed in March 28, 2018 letter signed
by James Ryan and Bruce Storrs, PLS, City and County Surveyor. We believe the decision
was improper due to its failure to fully consider the facts of the case and the applicable
law. We further believe ourapplication is accurate, truthful and fully meets the
requirements of the Expedited Conversion Program (ECP). The detailed factual and legal
basis for our appeal is contained in the documents attached to this filing notice.

Per instructions in the letter, we are filing the appeal within the 10-day appeal period
together with a check for $327 payable to San Francisco Department of Public Works.
We appreciate your careful consideration of our appeal.

Sincerely,
v d

a4

e 4
i A A
Co

Alexander Apke
on behalf of the above listed members of the 668-678 Page Street TIC Group.

Supporting Documents Attached:

March 28, 2018 DPW Disapproval Letter signed by James Ryan and Bruce Storrs
February 26, 2018 Letter: Scott Emblidge to SF Planning Commission w/ Exhibits A-W
January 2, 2018 Letter: Scott Emblidge to SF Planning Commission w/ Exhibits A-J
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A

SAN FRANCISCO

PUBLIC

WORKS

Mark Farrell
Mayor

Mohammed Nuru
Directar

Bruce R. Storrs P.L.S.
City and County Surveyor

Bureau of Street Use & Mapping
1155 Market St., 3rd floor

San Francisco, CA 94103

tel (415) 554-5827
Subdivision.Mapping@sfdpw.org

sfpublicworks.org
facebook.com/sfpublicworks
twittercom/sfpublicworks

Date: March 28, 2018 ‘ bl tien
PID: 9475 =t RN G Y Rt U

Dear Applicant,

Regarding your application for a land subdivision at the following location(s):
Address: 668-678 Page Street
APN: 0843 /015

This is a notice to inform you that Public Works disapproves this application pursuant to
Planning Commission Motion No. 20132, adopted March 8, 2018 and hereby terminates
PID 9475, being a 6 unit condominium conversion project on the stated parcel.

If you would like to file an appeal of Public Works disapproval, you must do so in writing
with the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors within ten (10) days of the date of this letter
along with a check in the amount of $327.00, payable to SF Public Works.

The Clerk of the Board is located at: City Hall of San Francisco

1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place, Room 244
San Francisco, CA 94102

(415) 554-5184

http://sfbos.org/

Additional information for filing an appeal may be found at the Board of Supervisor’s
website, under the “Tentative Subdivision Map” link:
http://sfbos.org/appeal-information

For specific information about property history, zoning, planning applications, building
permits, and more, please visit the Department of City Planning’s website:
http://propertymap.sfplanning.org/

If you have any further questions on this matter, our email address is:
Subdivision.Mapping@sfdpw.org.

Sincerely,

' . James Ryan
[, /i 2018.08.28 14;
/7 19:25-0800

Bruce R. Storrs, P.L.S.
City and County Surveyor
City and County of San Francisco
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Moscone
Emblidge
&Otis Lp

220 Montgomery St
Suite 2100

San Francisco
California 94104

Ph: (415) 362-3599
Fax: (415) 362-2006

www.mosconelaw.com

January 2, 2018 Scott Emblidge
. emblidge@mosconelaw.com

Via Hand Delivery

Rich Hillis, President

San Francisco Planning Commission
1650 Mission Street, Suite 400
San Francisco, CA 94102-4689

Re: 668-678 Page Street Condo Conversion Application

Dear President Hillis and Members of the Planning Commission: '

Our firm represents the owners of 668-678, whose application to
convert the TIC units to condominiums (“the Project”) is on your
agenda for January 11, 2018. This should be a straight-forward
matter. Asyour staff has demonstrated, the Project satisfies all the
criteria for approval. We submit this letter brief because we believe it
is likely that some members of the public will oppose the project at
the January 11 meeting on spurious grounds and we would like to
provide you with the true facts about their allegations.

Background

The applicants are Geoffrey Pierce (668 Page); Peter Owens and
Carolyn Radisch (670 Page); Spencer Jones (672 Page); Christopher
and Christine Han Beahn (674 Page); Alexander Apke and Anna
Munoz (676 Page); and Michel Bechirian and Niloo Tehranchi (678
Page). There are no tenants in building and all the applicants have
been owners for many years.

Peter Owens purchased the building in 2002. He rehabilitated the
aging structure and converted the property from apartments to TIC
units in 2002 and 2003. The other applicants purchased TIC-related
interest in the units beginning in 2003.

When Mr. Owens purchased the property there were four tenants,

three of whom moved out in 2002. The remaining tenant, Iris
Canada, wanted to remain in the building and Mr. Owens wanted to
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President Hillis and Member of Commission
January 2, 2018
Page 2

help her do so. Accordingly, he negotiated an agreement with Ms. Canada in
2005 that converted her tenancy into a life estate, enabling her to reside in her
unit for as long as she desired. (Exhibit A.) Ms. Canada, who was 89-years-
old at the time and who had resided in the apartment for 40 years, was
thrilled with this arrangement and very appreciative of Mr. Owens efforts.

Seven years later, in 2012, Ms. Canada moved out of the unit. In 2016, after it
became clear that Ms. Canada did not intend to live in the unit any longer,
Mr. Owens regained possession of the unit. We provide more details about
this below.

Qualifications for Conversion

The building meets all requirements for conversion of tenant-in-common
ownership to condominiums under the San Francisco Subdivision Cede. The
building is entirely owner-occupied and has no tenants.

All the applicants have owned a share of the building for many years. Four of
the units have been continuously owner-occupied as a primary residence for
periods ranging from seven to fourteen years — far exceeding the minimum
standard for conversion of three owner-occupied-units for six years. The
building history has no disqualifying evictions and no disqualifying buy-outs.
Your staff recommends approval of the application. '

Why the Applicants Want to Convert

The applicants are hard-working San Franciscans who represent a snapshot of
this City, sending their children to neighborhood schools, volunteering their
time to their neighborhood, and struggling to find a way to continue to live
here despite sky-rocketing housing costs. Most of them are first-time
homeowners. One applicant was born and raised in the Mission by her single
working mom. Several of the applicants are raising families in the building,
including three young children with a fourth on the way.

TIC ownership provided the applicants with an opportunity to own a home
in a City they otherwise were priced out of. Condo conversion will help the
applicants stay in their homes because it will allow the conversion of high-
risk, high-cost, variable-rate TIC loans to standard fixed-rate mortgages. This
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President Hillis and Member of Commission
January 2, 2018
Page 3

is critical to helping San Franciscans like the applicants retain homes when
interest rates rise.

Why the Objections are Unfounded and Unfair

While no one can dispute that the applicants are entitled under the law to have
their application granted, several members of the public have demonized the
applicants and exploited the situation of Iris Canada. If their motive is to
make a point about tenant evictions, they are deliberately barking up the
wrong tree. If their motive is to help Ms. Canada’s grandniece obtain a unit
to which she has no entitlement, their conduct is simply shameful.
Regardless of their motives, nothing they say has any bearing on the
applicants’ rights under the law to have their application approved.

Here, briefly, are the relevant facts.

When Mr. Owens (along with his wife and brother) purchased the six-unit
building in 2002, it had four tenants. Mr. Owens notified the tenants that he
intended to renovate the building and remove the property from the rental
market. He reached agreements with three of the tenants whereby they
relocated. Mr. Owens and his brother renovated five of the six units. (Exhibit
B [Owens Declaration without exhibits] at 1:25-2:3.)

The sixth unit was occupied by Ms. Canada. She was 86 years old at the time.
Mr. Owens wanted to find a way to allow her to keep residing in her unit, but
she could not lawfully remain there as a tenant. So, working with Ms.
Canada’s attorney, Mr. Owens conveyed to her a “life estate,” which gave her
the status of an owner (rather than a tenant) of her unit. It meant she would
be entitled to live in her unit as long as she was physically able; her
ownership would terminate only if and when she no longer resided in her
unit. (Exhibit B at 2:4-20.)

Through this arrangement, Ms. Canada’s monthly cost to remain in her unit
went down —1i.e., the cost she paid as an owner subject to a promissory note
was less than the rent she paid as a tenant. It was also less than Mr. Owens’
carrying costs for the unit. Mr. Owens did this to help Ms. Canada remain in
the building. If he was a hard-hearted, profit-motivated Scrooge, he could
simply have evicted her in 2002 (in compliance with all laws) when he
purchased the building. (Exhibit B at 2:13-20 and at 19:23-27.)
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President Hillis and Member of Commission
January 2, 2018
Page 4

All went well for several years. Ms. Canada and her neighbors had good
relationships, with her more able-bodied neighbors helping her out with tasks
like bringing in groceries. (Exhibit C [Apke Declaration] at 2:1-8; Exhibit D
[Beahn Declaration] at 2:1-8; Exhibit E [Geoffrey Pierce Declaration] at 2:1-6;
Exhibit F [Munoz Declaration] at 1:27-2:4; and Exhibit G [Bechirian
Declaration at 1:28-2:6.) But in about 2006 Ms. Canada began to show signs
that she was no longer being able to care for herself. Her unit became
increasingly cluttered. She sometimes left the gas on her stove on, or set off
smoke alarms. (Exhibit H.) By 2012, the situation has deteriorated to the
point that her unit was infested with rodents and other pests. (Exhibit B at
3:24-4:9.)

At that point, Ms. Canada’s grandniece moved Ms. Canada to Oakland. From
that point forward, Ms. Canada did not reside in her unit. (Exhibits C at 2:9-
26; Exhibit D at 2:9-4:8; Exhibit E at 2:7-3:16; Exhibit G at 2:6-2:28.) Because
her life estate required her to reside in her unit, her life estate ended when she
relocated to Oakland in 2012. However, Ms. Canada’s grandniece intervened
by first blocking all Mr. Owens’ efforts to contact Ms. Canada and help her
cure the breach of her life estate, and later claiming that she should be able to
take over Ms. Canada’s unit. This resulted in Mr. Owens seeking the San
Francisco Superior Court’s assistance in ending Ms. Canada’s life estate, and
returning possession of the unit to Mr. Owens. The court found that Ms.
Canada had “failed to permanently reside at 670 Page Street since 2012 in

violation of the obligations of her life estate.” (Exhibit I [January 25, 2017

~Orderat 5:3-5.] The courtawarded possessionof the premisestoMr-Owens -~

and ordered Ms. Canada’s life estate terminated. (Exhibit ] [March 22, 2016
Judgment] at 3:1-12.)

This unfortunate end to the applicants’ relationships with Ms. Canada was
exacerbated by the conduct of a few housing activists spurred on by Ms.
Canada’s politically connected grandniece. The activists made wild
accusations in the press and staged violent protest rallies at the Page Street
address. (See Exhibit C at 5:10-6:9; Exhibit D at 4:9-5:3; Exhibit E at 5:9-6:9:
Exhibit F at 4:25-6:9; and Exhibit G 3:21-4:3.) Essentially, the activists
exploited Ms. Canada’s situation to make a political point.
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President Hillis and Member of Commission
January 2, 2018 '
Page 5

But this application is not about politics; it is about whether the applicants
meet the criteria in the Subdivision Code. The battle between Ms. Canada’s
grandniece and Mr. Owens simply has no bearing on this application.

We ask that the Commission look at the true facts, and evaluate this
application based on those facts and the requirements in the Subdivision
Code. We are confident that if the Commission does that, it will approve this
application as the law requires.

Sincerel

G. Scott Ersblidge

cc:  Members of the Planning Commission
David Weissglass
Jonas Ionin
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The undersigned Grank(s) declares(s) that the
DOCUM NTA Y TRANSFER TAX
1§ 5 » 2 UNTY §____ CITY
. computud on ﬂ:e consideration or vale of praperty conveyed; or
__ compuited on the consideration vallie léss liens or encumbrances remaining
at time of sale; or
__other

GRANT OF LIFE ESTATE

. APM: Lot 015, Block 0843
Property Address: 668-678 Page Street
San Francisco, CA

FOR A VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged,

PETER M. OWENS and CAROLYN A. RADISCH, husband and wife, as community property
with right of sur v1vorsh1p, as to an undivided 2/18th 1nterest and STEPHEN L. OWENS, a2

married man, as his sole and separate property, as to sn undivided 1/18th interest, as
Tenants in GCommon A

hereby GRANT A LIFE ESTATE to IRIS CANADA

as to the Grantors’ specific interest in the real property inthe City of San Francisca, County of
San Francisco, State of California described as .

.~
4

See Legal Description attached and made a part hereto marked Exhibit “A”,

pursuant to the following terms:

For the term of Iris Canada’s natural life, for as long as she permanently resides, as the sole and
only occupant, in the property commonly kmown as 670 Page Street, San Francisco, California,

Excepting, therefrom however, Iris Canada’s right to rent, lease or sublet the 670 Page Street
property and/ot Iris Canada’s right to have any other occupants living with Iris Canada at the 670
Page Stieet propetrty, and the right of Iris Canada to assign, transfer, pledge or encumber her
interest in the property so as to secure any financial arrangement other than to Grantors herein,

Page 1of 3
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Further reserving to said Grantors the right to revoke this Grant of Life Estate should Iris Canada.
fail to remit payments pursuant to the Promissory Note of even date heceof, the right of Grantors
to revoke this Grant of Life Estate should Iris Canada violate the terms of the Deed of Trust of
even date hereof, and the right of Grantors alone 1o refinance the property of which this Grant of
Life Bstate is a part. Further reserving to said grantors any and all obligations to pay property

taxes for the dwation of the life estate.

In case of such revocation being made, it shall be made and can only be made in writing, duly

acknowledged and recorded.

Dated:

STATE OF easimennn [NeVw Hampshire
COUNTY OF SArERANGISEE & vor§ 'EON
on\elit]oS tefare me Carrie A Hamel

___personaliy appeared Pel .
m. we i { oS

personally known 1o me or proved to we on this basis of

satisfactory evidence to be the person{s) whose name(s)
is/mre subscribed 10 the within instrument and acknowledged
ta me that he/shefthey execuled the same in hisfher /their
aulhiarized capacity{ics) and that by hisfher/their signatuce(s)
o the instrument the person(s), or the.entity upon behalf of
which the person{s) acted, executed the instrument,

WITNESS HAND FEICIAL SEAL.
Signature W

T CARRIE A, HAMEL, Notary Pubfio
Ry Commission Explres February 5, 2008

G;@Uz\w

Peter V& Owens .

M

Carolyn A. Radisch

.

AN )
) 2 A

Stephen L. ©wens

STATE OF CONNECTICUT:

COUNTY OF HARTFORD

gs8: West Hartford June 15, 2005

Personally appeared Stephen L. Owens, signer of
the foregoing, who acknowledged the same to be his
free act and deed before me

Page 2 of 3
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Kathleen C. Lauria
Notary Public
My Commissgion expires:
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EXHBIT A
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

Property Information

668-670-672-674-676-678 Page Street
San Francisco, CA. 94117

Legal Description - Assessor’s Block 0843, Lot 015

"Commencing at a point on the northesly {ine of Page Street; distant thereon 100 feet eastetly from
the easterly line of Steiner Street; running thence easterly along said northerly line of Page Street
37 feet 10 % inches; thence at a right angle northerly 15 feet 9 inches; thence northwesterly along
a line which if extended would intersect the easterly line of Steiner Street at a pont thereon 76
feet 5 inches northerly from the northerly line of Page sireet 4 % inches, more or less, to a point
distant 137 feet 6 inchés easterly from the easterly lien of Steiner Street; measured along a line

drawn at right angles thereto; thence northerly and parallel with Steiner Street 91 feet 9 inches;
thence at a right angle westerly 37 feet 6 inches; thence at a right angle southerly 107 feet 6
inches to the northerly line of Page Street and the point of commencernent.

Being a-portion of Westerly Addition Block No 370.
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ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
235 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 400
SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94104
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ELECTRONICALLY

FILED

Andrew M. Zacks (SBN 147794) S County of San Francises
1| Mark B. Chemev (SBN 264946) 10/28/201

ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC Gle{k of t/he couﬁ:

235 Montgomery Stireet, Suite 400 BY:CAROL BALISTRERI

San Francisco, CA 94104 : Beputy Clerk

Tel: 415.956.8100

Fax: 4152889755

Attomeys for Plaintiffs

Peter M. Owens .

Carolyn A. Radisch

Stephen L. Owens

SUPERIOR COURT — STATD or CALIFORN IA A

COUNTY OF SAN FRAN ClSCO UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual,

J CAROLYN A. RADISCH, an individual,
|| STEPHEN L. OWENS, an individual,

. Plaintiffs,
V8.

TRIS CANADA an individual, OLD .
REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California

Case Nu (.,(JL 14-543437
DECLARATION OF PETER M. OWENS

- IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIKFS>.

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND
AUTHORITY IN SUPPORT OF SETTING
BOND AMOUNT FOR STAY PENDING
APPEAL AND OPPOSITION TO STAY
PENDING APPEAL

. - : : "~ Date:  November 1, 2016
corporation, and DOES ‘1-10, inclusive, Time: 2:00 p.m.
: Dept.;: 502
Defendants. Judge: Hon. James A. Robertson, I
I, Peter M. Owens, declare as follows:
1. I have personal knowlédge of the foilowing facts discussed below and would

testify truthfolly thereto if called to do so.

-2, My wife, brother and I bought thé six unit building located at 66 -678 Page

Street, San Francisco, Cahfomna in August 2002. In September 2002 we noticed the four

occupied units of our intent to remove the bulldmg from rental use under the Ellis Act as of
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ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
235 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 400

SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94104
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Janﬁary 2003. Following all proper noticing and procedures, three of the ténants moved out of
thé ~l.mild'mg _in late 2002 / early 2003. ]juﬁng this time I lived on the property with my brot‘her
Christopher and réhovated and sold five of tﬁe six units as TIC units by late 2003, |

3. - The %emaining unit, first floor unit 670, had been occupied by then 86-ycar old
Iris Canada since November 1, 1965. As her neighﬁors,'we got to know Iris Canada well and
decided we wanted to find a way to k;e;ap her in her longtime home. Ilowever, under Lllis Act
rcmoval_ rules, she was not the allowed to 1'01;1ain as a renter. Aftel"a yeatlong discﬁssion with
attorneys of alternatives to renting that would not jeopardize our long-term interes’t's, ;ve settled
on the concept of a “life estate™ iﬁ early 2004. We agreed to finance her purchase of a life
interest in her unit so long as she “permanently resides as the sole aﬁd aﬁly occztpant”
(attached as Tixhibit A). She would ceasc to be a tenant paying rent, and instead become an
owner of re(:(.)rded property interest repaying a zero interest~ $250,0000 loan in .incrcmcnts of
$700 / month. "The batance of the loan is forgiven at the time of her death, As explained in a
January 31, 2015 email exch'ange with her attorney, $700 / month obligated us to indefinitely
subsidize more than 50% of her'home’s $1,500 / month carrying cost for as long as she lived

there. It also testifies to our explicit concern for Tris Canada’s welfare—to “make sure this will

work for Iris” au& tliat “we care abou( her b;t;elbbeirzg" (éttached as Bxhibit B).

4. By design, the life estate beneﬁteAd Iris Ca’néda, and Iris Canada alone, so long
as she actually lived there, independently and on her own. Iris Canada understood this
condition and freeiy apreed to it while represented by ex;:ellent’ counsel. In a January 26, 2005
email between from her attorney, Steve Collier aﬁd our attorney Denise Leadbetter (attached as
Exhibit C), attorney Collier reports “I have reviewed the life estate documents aﬁd discussed

them with my client.” His outlines his three remaining concerns: payment amount, loan terms,

R
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SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94104

ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
235 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 400

\éoo\lch.m.zxuamx—‘_‘

and property taxes, There is no expressed concern whut~so—e,vef about the independent living
clause (“permanently residing as the sole and only occupant”’) or about any desire to purchase
the unit. To the contrary, he notes In's éanada has 10 assets and a very ‘limi'tf.:d, fixed income.
He is primarily concerned that her estate does not incur any debt or cxpensc that she would be

unable to pay.

5. The independent living clause was critical to protecting us against a family

|| member or other persons unknown to us attempting to claim rights to the unit that were not

theirs to claim. Tn a second January 31, 2005 email to ’aunmey T.eadhetter, T discnss the

|| significance of the clause “as long as she permanently resides as.the sole and only occupant”
1 1g . v.L ‘D

( attadhéd as Exhibit D). Igo on to say “while this protects us from Someoné moving in, it
doesn’t feally address the problem of what happeﬁs if she reaches the point where she can
longer no l&nger take care of hersglf " After discussing several options, I wonder t(‘)'what
extent ."aféw di&tant nieces.in the East Bay ' would.be willing or able to help if she needed it.

6. It is critical to understand that the media headlines about the alleged
displacement of a 100-year-old widow does not change the fact that there is clear agreement
amoﬁg the parties that Tris Canada is no longer ab]e to liv.e indcp'cndgntly at 670 Page Street (or
anywhere else for that matter)—that she is no longer able to méét the requirement (o
"perménently feside as the sole and only océupant. ” Sheb has simply 'réached an age where
that is nc; longer poséible.

7 As early as 2006, written communications show Iris Canada becoming slowly
less able to live on her own. In a February 15, 2006 email, social worker Sara Madigan of the
Community Health Resource Center reports that while Tris Canada is a pretty functiqnal and

independent 90-year-old, she is experiencing some social withdrawal and minor memory -

-3
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ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
235 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 400
SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94104
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|l also reports that Iris’ niece (also named Ins) ‘was supposed to be war/ang on the issue but I

posed by attorney Mark Chernev) she corroborates that her aunt is simply no longer able to

issues. She also reports some clutter and hazards in the apartment but Iris said “her nieces’
haven't had time to help her" (attached as Exhibit E). By January 26, 2009, a letter from Larry
Henderson of Adult Protective Services shows that her situation has declined considerably. He

reports seven documented incidents of the gas being left on or smoke filling the apartment. He

have not heard back from her in some time now” (attached as Exhibit F).

8. By the summer of 2012, the situation had gotten so bad that apartment had
bccome infested with rodents and pests (see full description on page 8 of my October 1, 2015
declaration) and her grand niece, Iris Merriouns, was forced to move her out to live with her in

Oakland. In Iris Mefriouns own sworn deposition on October 7, 2015, (answering questions

stay ovemlght by herself—espemally at the Page Street apartment.

. Q. So when you stay in 9969 Emplre Road, your aunt is with you?
A Typically she’s with me, and if she has an appointment, she’s over here and in
.San Francisco, depending on who has the t1me
Q. Can she stay by herself?
A I don’t trust her to stay by herself, especially at.the Page Street address
(attached as Ex}nblt G, Page 32, Lmes 15-22)

|| Iris- Merriouns again. corroberate&‘%he»inabihty/otf-her%unbte-live@n%epewn—unéer—the—tenn%#

the life estate in an April 28, 2016 radio interview on KGO’s Brian Copeland Show (the full

3
»
:
=]
=
1

of the audio ﬁle she suggests her aunt cannot live under the terms of the life estate because “jt
is not consistent with a person .aging At mmute 35:56 of the audio file she goes on to
confirm that the hfe estate does not work for her aunt and wants the condxtlons changed “they
(the life estate conditions) have to be (changed).” While a detailed chxouolqu of the

unoccupied status of 670 Page Street from July 2012 to March 2016 is contained within the

4
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ZACKs, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
235 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 400

SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94104
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transcript, the unavoidable conclusion of Irjs Merriouns’ own testimony is that since 26 12 her
aunt has not be able to abide by the condition that she “permanently reside as the sole and only
occupant” and therefore has heen in violation of the life estate for at least four years.
| 9. As a condition to our fel],ow TIC owners granting pettoission Lo have a life

estate interest granted to Iris Canada, we agreed to take tull reqpnnmbxhty to cnsure Tris Canada
’1b1ded by the terms of her agreement. Their permission was needed because TIC bu1ldmgs arg
jointly titled with all owners on the same deed: Thus, in conjunclion with granting the life _
estate in June 2005, the TIC group cxccuted the 4th Anlendm(,nt to our TIC A greement
(attached as Exhibit H). The amendmcnt states that if Iris Canada vuﬂatcs the tenns of her
agreement, Carolyn, Stephen and 1, the umt"s owners, are compclled to 'itake all necessary
action to revoke Iris Canada’s Life Estate and remove Iris Caﬁuda. "

10. for more than two years, we have gone to extraordinafy lengths and expense to
gwe Iris Canada every opportunity restore her life cstate and even expand it to better suit her
needs. All we have asked in return is her 31mple cooperatlon with a condominium conver;sxon
application that her own lawyers and a judge have assured her would have zero‘ impact on her
rights, ‘Howe\}ér, at the insistence of Iris Merriouns, she has conéisfently refused for reasons
unknown to us until late .Tuly 2016 when Merriouns, through her attorney, demanded the forced

sale of the property as a condition of her aunt’s cooperation. These efforts are summarized in

|| my August 24, 2016 “Final Appeal” letter to Iris Merriouns (attached as Exhibit D.

11, Whatever hardship exists is entirely of her own making. She has been in
violation of the life estate for over four years. Whether or not she is granted a stay pending
appeal will not change her situation. She is unablc to live on her own at Page Street now. She

will continue to not be able to live on her own at Page Street going forward—with or without

5.
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the sta‘yt Nothing changes ‘for her. There is no hardship. Iris Canada is completely free to
continue to not live as the sole and only‘occUpént of 670 Page. While she may complain .about'
losing a sense ofhomé and membry, there is absolutely nothing in our agreement that obligates
us to forfeit our own use and enjoyment of our property so she can to store her phot'dgmphs,
[urniture and memories aﬁd occasionally visil them from ﬁcr primary residence in Qakland.
Furthermore, any claim 6f ﬁardship'is entirely of her own making. She has alwayg had the
power to cure the violation and rcstore her right’s. Against the advice of her own attorney’s in
open court she has consislently refused (o act to restore her life estate. She has done so at her
own peril. Unlike Iris Canada, we are not freg to act to restore her iifg estate. She is in
Viélation. We are compelled to remove her.

12 The delayed recovery, continued stays, and tactics and blatantly false
allegations and strategy employed by Iris Canada, and to a greater extent her niece, have
created an enlonnous financial and emotions hardship for us that continues scemingly
indeﬁnitely‘. These hgrdships are maéerial and substantive,

13. - After six frustrating months (including over our 2014 family vacation) of having -

our requests to contact Iris Canada o discuss the unoccupied and disheveled state of the

property blocked at every tum by her niece Iris Merriouns, we weré Compelled By binding 4
agreement 1o revoke the life estate and remove Iris Canada. The strefss of have to take legal ‘ ‘
action against someone you care about without even being able to discuss it with them took an
enormous toll on me. It was especially stressﬁ11 because the remedy was so incredibly
simple— a signature that would have no impact on her whatsoever. The stress wés further
compounded by my bfofessional rolc:‘as the director of the city office with responsibility of

protecting our most vulnerable citizens. But I was 3,000 miles away and had been cut off from
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all contact for over two years, On December 14, 2014 I sent one last letter on to Iris Canada by

|| certified mail (it was signed for and received by both Iris.Canada and Iris Merrioﬁns) pleading

with her to contact me before I was forced to act (attached as Exhibit I-a), '

“I am also qﬁv.zid my efforts to reach ymj have heen stressful on little Iris. Please

apologize fo her for me. My only intent has been, and remains, to talk to you about

signing the application. But even after three months of trying to communicate thru
attorneys, we have failed to make any headway. Because I have not heard from you, my
attorney has advised me we have no option left but to file a lawsuit in court. Given our
history, this makes me very sad. I remain only a phone call away. I would even be
willing to fly out to San Francisco to sit down with you if that would make it easier for
yau to answer my questions.” ‘

Bul again, nothing but silence in return. I was left with no choice but (o initiale legal action.

14. That was only the beginning of a two-yeur nightmare. Iris Merriouns willfully
and knowingly deployed cvery delay and diversionary trick in the book to drag out proceedings
and [oree us o incur enonmous legal expenses—summarized in attached Exhibit ), By the
spring we had drained our savings and had to refinance the equity in our home to keep up with
expenses. Within few more months we started to compile legal bills that we had no way to pay

and on top of that were Facing the additional expense of our eldest child starting college in the -

fall. By the end of 2015 our legal bills were in gxceés of $100,000—all due to the bad faith of

Iris Merriouns and my failurc to secure a simple signature.,

15.  But that is just the opening act of ou; hardship‘. More bad faith legal tactics and
changes iﬁ attorneys caused further delay and pushed the trial date 'froni December to January
to February to March. The trial finally took place 6n March 21and 22, Iris Canada and Iris -
Merriouns didn’t appear and we were awarded full posseséion of the unit. Whatever relief we
felt was short-lived. Because she knew she had no chance in a court ofllaw_ ‘where testimony is
taken under oath and perjuryis a felony offense, Iris Merriouns instead choose to li‘;igate her

case in the court of public opinion. After she prevehted my attorney access to view the unit

-
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both in violation of the rules of disqovery and two separate court orders commanding her to
permit access for months before the trial, days befdre the first scheduled trial date (which she
eventually filed a Federal Removal specifically to prevent), she cléaned up the apartment,
staged her aunt to look like she had been living there all along and invited the television
cametas to film the allcged travesty of a 99_-'ycar~old—'widow being thrown out of ilcr long time
home (scc summary of activity on page 15, line 13). It was a very convinciﬁg story aﬁd quickly
spread as a national news story (attached as Exhibit K). We were vilified across the infernet,

16.  The impact of the publicity on our lives wds both fierce and swift. We were .

| completely caught off guard. Goaded on by housing activists, the local media in Vermont’

picked it up story. And while the truth was on our side, it was nearly impossible to counter the
powerful but fraudulent story Of a 99-year-old widow being cxrictcd. Within 48 hours of the
protests and news stories, 1 realized I had no choice to but resign from‘my job as Director of
Commumty and Economic Development No matter what the facts were, the association of my
name with such a horrible qtory way damaging to both the Mdyor and my dupartmcnt (attached
as Exhibit L). The loss of my _]Ob has cut our family income in half as well as losmg our health

benuﬁts My professmnal reputatxon has been severely harmed. This had both an immediate-

N
_— D
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o

24
25
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27
28

and severe impact on my ability to Vsull)port my family. Until the matter is ﬁnally settled in
court, the stlgma of my association with this unresolved case will continue to create an
enormous hardship to prospeocts of fulure employment. Any further delay in the case only adds -
to our double jeopardy hardship—l——mqunting legal debt and loss of income.

17.  Adding insult to injury has been the shameless slandering and harassment of fny‘
wife and I by Bay Area housing advocates who couldn’t resist making headlines at any cost to

promote the very real problem of vulnerable seniors being displaced in San Franéisco by

-8-
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unfairly scapegoating us while ignoring the real story—1Iris Meérriouns’ real estate grab.

Inflammatory social media posts with language and our phone and email addresses resulted in

‘many hundreds of angry and indignant emajls_ and phone calls (attached as Exhihits M & N).

As the case has dragged out over the summer and fall with stay after stay, activists have p
contine to launch personal attacks on us based on hes and mlsmformatlon Any add1t10na1
stays will only expose my family and T to fl.llﬂlel hardship am] sult.

18. My neighbors on Page Street have also suffered extreme stress;, harasamcnt,
cconomic hardship and disruption of theirhomc life by the actions of Iris Merriouns and the
activists. As they have noted in ‘thcir declarations, they have been victimized by unjust

harassrnent and regular protests—people chanling in the street, defacing their property,

screammg in their faces and dlsruphng their lives (attachcd as b‘{hlblt 0). Not surpr mngly, the

protests and media events are some of the only times that Iris Canada has come to the property
over the past five months. After the media leaves Iris Canada and her family get back in ]ns
Merriouns’ car and drive back to 0aldand Ironically, my ncighbors are all folks who cared for
and looked after Ins Canada for the many years she was lived among them. All they have-
asked is that Iris Canada uphold her agreements and'dol them no harm.

19. . Iris Merriouns herself has personally attacked and harassed me for over two
ycars. She has accused me of forgery, fraud, theft, breaking anci entering, lying, _elde;' abuse
and cmelty. She filed a criminal complaint against me in May 2015 (a full year after the
alleged ihcidént} that forced me to hire a criminal defense attorney and incur added expense,
The chafges Werc all baseless and nothing ever came of them. She- further accused me of
“slavery” and ¢ puttlng a rope around her aunt’s neck” in the San Francxsco Chronicle (attached

as Exhibit P). Déspite these affronts Thave always strlved to work in good fa1th and remain

-
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respectful and understanding in the face of her continual bad faith and scheming, 1 believe my
long record of reasoned communication W1th her reflects this. However, endunng such
émaultq has been emotmnaﬂy stressful and damaging,. T have lost 2 Tot of sleep and suffered
grout hurdﬁhip. Any uddi lional stays will only enuble her o contim:e her campaign of
inlimidation and bullying in pursuil of properly righls that are not hers to take.

26. Finally, the dragging out of court proceeding;. since the March Judgment iy
exacting'a mounting emotional and financial toll on my family and myself. Over the past six
months I have worked nearly fu11>timc trying to bring this conflict to resolution. I have made
several gobd faith trips to San Francisco to attcnllpt to negotiate a'setﬂement. I have spent
hundreds ;)f hours pleading a path of reason and resolution to community leaders, clergy,
elecled officials, activisﬁs, the media and virtually anyone else who will iistcn. My attoméys
have spent the better part of three months attempting to negotiate settlemenliand another two
months attempting to execute the writ of possession in lhe face vof stay after stay. Tn 2016, we
havc incurred additional legal debt well in excess of $1OQ,600 bringi_ng our total costs close to

$250,000. Given & simple remedy has been available to Iris Canada all along that is simply

insane. Wlthout a _}Ob I am plannmg to move to San Francisco to renovale our properly with

sweat equily as soon a8 we have possession of the unit. Given her age and circumstance, there
is no reasonable possibility that Iﬁs Canada could ever again meet the life estate couditi;)n of
“permanently residing as the sole and only occupant of the premises " even if all her appeals
were upheld.‘ In light of this, it is simply not fair to continue to deny us the economic uée of
our property that was awarded to us in Mafch in the face of our éxtrcmc t.acon‘omic hardship.

Any additional stays will only further increase the burden of our already massive hardship.

-10-
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21.  The two years of correspondence that follows demonstrates beyond any. |
reasonable doubt that Iris Canadg moved out of her unit in July 0f 2012, has been in continnous
violation of the life estate ever since. There is simply no getting around that fact, and the
allegations now regardihg a f'orc.ed sale still do not dispute this evidence. The email rccbrd and
chronology clearly ghows she was not av;/ay on vacation or temporarily 111 the ﬁospital; up until
March 2016, she was simply n;)t there. Thi; fact is ﬁlrtherl corroborated t;y the declarations of aA _
nmﬁber of people who lived in the building for the past four years submitted separately.

22, Tuly 12,2012 email conversation between mysclf and Mi.chel Bechirian
discussing our alarm and concern éver the disappearance of Iris Canada with mail piling up at
her door (attached as Exhibit Q).

'23.. Seplember 23, 2012 email o Irs Mcrr’ioﬁns recounting our rcéem conversation
where she reported that Iris Canada haa been “temporarily” moved out and was living with
family while a rodent and pest infestation was cleaned up (attached as Exhibit R).

24.  August 17, 2013 a frustrated email to Itis Merriouns asking for a status report
on Iris Canada who had now been gone from the apartment for ox}er a year and is four months
beiu'nd in loan pgiyment's. I'had not heard a word ﬁom either Iris since the previous September
(attached as Exhibit §). - |

25.  September 3, 2013 email chain from Iris Merriouns reporting back that
payments had been delayed as she had beeﬁ sick and out of the country for three months. She
doés not respond to my clear request on when or if Iris Canada would refurn to the unit
(attached as Exhibit T). | ‘

26.  December 3,..2013 email chain with Chris Beahn (who resides‘ above Unit 670)

and Iris Meriouns concerning the need to gain entry to unit to install a carbon monoxide

I11-
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detector 1n the unoccupied unit (attached as Exhibit U). She promises' to do it on the weekend. |
At this point, to the best of my knowledge, Iris Canadavhas not set foot in the apartment f-or a
year and a half and she had still offered no'response to my request for an update on ‘;he status
of Tris Canada.

27.  March 17, 2014 emai phéin wit‘h Michel Bechirian (long time neighbpr) and
Lris Metriouns concerning access to the unit (now unoceupied by Tris Canada fc')r 21 111011ths)
for a sile Hufvcy ('m April 20th. Although Iris Merriouns promised Lo' show up, she was a no
show and Michel Auscd the emergenty key Lo gain aceess to lhc Lmuuqupidd unit (attached as
Exhibit V). |

28 June 26, 2014 emuil to Iris Merriouns surﬁmurizcs my lice (o fiace meeling in

Oakland with her and Iris Canada in late May immediately following my inspection of the unit

at 670 Page Street (attachéd as Exhibit W). During that inspectidn, I directly observed an .

apartment that had been unoccupied for a very long time. All the water in the toilet bowl had
evaporated, the kitchen calendar showed July 2012, and the apartment was in complete
disarray with rodent traps everywhere and the rear door being blocked by piles of putrid urine

soaked carpeling and debris. During our meeting Merrouns asked me not (o discuss the state

of the apartment with her aunt because “it would upset her.” Merriouns also confirmed Iris
Canada was living with her in Oakland and going to an Oakland Senior Center while she was
at work. She also told me Iris Canada could not be left alone and (hat was very stressful for

her. In the follow up email, I ask for her Oakland address so I can send her a card. I advise her

| that work needs to done on the unit, that we assumme she still wishes to retain her rights, and the

prospective sub-division of the building as condominiums required Iris to sign paperwork that

would have no impact on her life estate rights. She never responded.

J12-
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19.  September 14, 2014 email to Iris Merriouns suinmarizing three months of

efforts to reach Iris Canada and describing my frustration at her complete unresponsiveness

| (attached as Exhibit X). “ds you know, I have been unsuccessful in my attemplts to contact

your great Aunt Iris Canada thru you since mid June.' A full transcript of those efforts are h

|| included below. As I explained in numerous emails, texts, and voicemails, I need to speak with

Iris abou‘t.l' 1) exeqz/ting some papemvo}k,' 2) t}ze code vt;ork being done at. 670 Page; and 3) the
status of her Life Estate. Due (o the laclé' of response, I have handed the matter over to our
attorne}; (Aha’rew Zacks).” Again, thefe was 10 written response but she did call me to
pomplain about the removal of debris that had been blocking the back egress door in late May
perb the instructions of the San Francisco Department of Building Tnspection inspector and
1eltelated in his final inspection report. It was clear she had not even'sct foot on the propcny
since late May debplle my face to face repofn on the state of disarray in the apartment, Tt had
now been 26 months since the unit was occupied by Iris Capada. |

20."  September 17, 201l4 email to Iris Merriouns following up on phonc conversation
(attached as Exhibit Y). She called in response toa communication from attorney Zacka
fequesting 1) she aontact him Concérhing the condominiura con;/efsion process, confirming 2)
Iris Canada’s assistance would have no impact on her fights and informing her 3) that if she did
not choose to rcspoﬁd, we would be forced to invoice our rights under the life estate. I confirm
in my email tﬁcrc would be no need for further involvement of attorneys if she cooperated.

21, September 21, 2014, follow up email to Ins Merriouns in whlch I notified her
that due to her lack of response, I was refemng the matter back to our attorney (attached as

Exhibit Z). T once again requested contact information for Iris Canada. Again no response.

13-
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22.  October 1, 2014 ernml from Mlchel Bechirian on behalf of the TIC group

advising me rhat if coopemnon was not secured soon, the ”lJ( group would compel me to

,z‘ake all necessary action to revoke Iris Canada’s Life Istate and remove Iris Canada” as we
are obhgated to do by the Fourth Amendment to our TIC Agreement if Iris Canada violates the
lile estale dgrwmunt (altached as Exhlbll AA). 1t was now clear she had been in violation of
the life cslatc [or-more than two ycars by her i'aﬂurc to pcrrﬁancnlly reside as the sole and only
oceupant. | »

23. October 14, 2014 email from Geoff Pierce (common wall neighbor to 670 Page)
reporting Iris Canada in the building for the first time in more than ‘two years. “Iris is in the
building. I REPEAT, Iris is in the building. ’ In a follow-up email that evening, he recounts his
strange conversation with Tris Merriouns ( “y(;ung Iris”) and wonders why she is “bringing Iris
all the way over (from Oakland) to doa dog and pony show” (attachcd as Exhibit BB)

24.  November 15, 2014 email from Geoff Plerce with photo of Tris Canada’s front
door with a'week of unclaimed UPS delivery notices. From Oclober forward, the building
occupants are paying particular atténtiou to when either Iris is seen on the property He reports,

the niece came dlone for a short tlme w1th another woman (attached as Exhlblt CC)

25. December 19, 2014 email from Michel Bechirian reporting both Irises arriving
at the building at 9:30 pm. Alex Apke (another longtime neighbor) reports them both leaviﬁg
|30 minutes later (attached as Exhibit DD). This the second time Iris Canada has been on the
property for a short time that fall. The unit has now been unoccupied‘for a full two and half
years, | |

26. May 8, 2015 email from Geoff Pierce reporting the arrival of both Irises at the

building for 2.5 hours and the arrival of the process server (attached as Exhibit EE). Since

-14-
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December, Iris Mérri_cuns had been playing a cat and mouse ga;ne with our attorney Mark
Chermev to cause delay, pile ﬁp our legal expéﬂses‘, and avoid being served legal papers.

27..  October 7, 2015 email to Mark Cherney fprwarding report of lboth Irises staying
overnight in the unit on the night of October 6™ in advunce of Tris Men’ipuns October 7"
deposition (attached as Exhibil FF). The enail chain also reports tﬁé refrieval of legal notices |
that had been piling up at the door since August 20“". To the best of my knowledge, this is the

first time Iris Canada had stayed overnight in the unit in 39 months—over three years—and.

: .only the fourth time she had been on the premises in that period. She has never been thére by

hemelf She is clearly not permaueutly resulmg as the sole and only occupént

28. November 22, 2015 email from Geoff Pierce to Mark Chernev reportmg both
Iris Canada and Iris Mcrriouns in thc bulldlng that evening with a cleamug crew (auduhcd d4s
Exhibit GG).

©29.© March 4, 2016 cma11 cxchangc with Geoff Pierce, Alex Apke, and Mark

Chernev in which Alex reports seemg both Irises carrying bags and suitcases into the bulldmg
several times in the last 2-3 we,eks. Geoff reports hearing "more actzvzty in there than I have
evér heard in the past 3 years.” 1 worry that they are staging the apartment to make it appear
as though Iris Canada islliving ﬁere Just before the £ria1 date (attached as Eﬁ(hibit HH). Mark
responds that because of the defendant’s refusal_‘ over 15 months to.allow inspection to.
evidence that Iris Canada had been liviﬁg thcrc; resulted in discovery ;anctions that. should
prevent any kind of evidentiary bait and switch in the court room. Previously referenced
Exhibit J provides a full accounting of all the delay tac‘tics_and bad faith employed by Iris

Merriouns over a year and a quarter of legal proceédings.

-15-
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30.  March 9 & 10, 2016 emails from Alex Apke and Geoff Pierce reporting an |
unknown person is now living in the unit for udmown reasons (attached és Exhibit IT & JT).
'fhey have seen him coming and going and inch)c.ié a photograph of a package addressed to him .
being to delivered to the unit, He is reported to have been staying .with Iris Canada at the unit
tor several dayo.

31.  March 14,2016 email froﬁ Geoff Pierce reporting Comeast Truck installinig
cabié service at 670 Page Street just days before the trial date (attached as Exhibit KK). AH of
this sudden flurry of activity aﬂcr four ycar of nothmg 18 oloarly part of staging the apartment
ior (he purposes of trying her case i the courl of public vpinion rather lhdn a courl of law
where perjury is a felony. |

32. The trial oceurred on March 21-22. The court issued a Judgment in our favor
terminating the Life Estate, foreclosing the Deed of fmst and awarding us full oossession of
670 Page Strest (attached as Exhibit LL), Tt "1ddmonally granted our Motion for Summary
Jndgment (attached) finding that, hased on the evidence presented, “Defendant Iris C‘anada
has failea’ to perinanently reside at tho promises as the so/e and only occupant" (attached as

Exhibit NN). The verdlct is ent1rely consistent with record evidenced by the nearly four years

(from 2012 to 2016) of emails and communications descnbed above.

33.  From April thru the end of Au gust—five months—uwe bent over backwards -
again and again to testore the life estate and bring the matter to mutually agfooablo conclusion.
Oor efforts were blocked at every turn by the bad faith actions of ris Merrriouns.

34. In mid-April, in'response to the defeudant s Motion for Relief of Forfeiture, in

advance of the ruling we offered the defendant full rehet in exchange for cooPerahon on the

-le-
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condominium conversion. In the courtroom, against the advice of both of her attorneys, Iris
Merriouns pressured Iris Canade to refuse.

35.  On April 27, 2016,'the court, de'termining that the viola’cion_l wes not “grossly
negligent, willful or ﬁ'auduléz-zt" granted to the dofendﬂnt’s Motion for Relict of Forfoiturc
(attachced) subject to the Def‘ endant compensating our legal fees and complymg, with the llfe
cstate termy (atltached ug Exlubxt MM) Again we offe1 ed to waive the ordered legal fees in
cxchange for cooperation on the condominium conversion (altached as Exhibit QO). Again,
apainst the advice of both of her attomoys, Tris Merriouns pressufed Iris Canada to refuse. .

36, After listening to a radio interview with Ins Merriouns on the Brian Copeland
QhOW T optimistically concluded that 1he whole conflict MAY have been 1ootcd in‘a-basic
misunderstanding of the hfe estate by Iris Merriouns. On May 28, 2016 I took the 1mt1at1ve to
write to Iris Merriouns and request a meeting (attached as Exhibit PP). I travelled to the west
coast to meet with Iris Canaea, Iris Merriouns and her father in early june for over two hours to
better understand their concerns. Based on that conversation and a second conversation With
Iris Merviouns two days later from the airport, it was my belief'we would be able to reach a
settlefnent.

37. Despfte the arrival of a new attorney (now the defenda‘nt’s 10“‘ attorney),
Dennis Zaragoza, I continued to encounter more non—responsweness to my emails and phone

calls Fmally, on June 30,2016 1senta letter directly to Iris Canada outhnmg settlement terms

that ] understood to address every possible issue they had raised with the goal of settling prior’

to Iris Canada’s 100‘hbirthday on July 13% (attached as Exhibit QQ). Despite promising

otherwise, Iris Merriouns refused to let me visit with her aunt after travelling across the

-17- .
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country to wish her a happy birthday. Howcever, | retained some slim hope that settlement

discﬁssions might still be successful. °

38.  Over the course of many communications between attorney’s in the month of |
July, we agreed to several othgr requests including setting gside the judgment and offering Tris
Canada the right of first refusal. Hoﬁ{ever, in late vJuly it became apparent that the defendant
had a new condition—she was going to insist on a forced sale at a deeply discounted price
despite having been btold in our face to face meeting in June that was not ac;:eptable us. Mark
Chernev replied as such in his August 4, 2016 letter (attached as Exhibit RR).

| 39.  On August 8, 2016 Iris Merﬁouns viqlated our go‘od faith agreement to refrain

from any further legal action during §ettlement discussions by filing a notice of appeal
contesting the legal fees thgt we had already offered to wai.ve for the past three months. Thig
was a huge disappointment. On August 9, 2016 I wrote back to her to express my. dismay at
her action and my understanding that she waé no 1011gér interested in settling (attached as
Bxhibitss)

40. - On August 10, 2016 the court granted our motion finding non-compliance with

condition of relief and compelling execution of writ of possession “promptly and without

O
<O

21

delay” (attached as Exhibit TT)

41. Despite this ruling in our favor, we delayed éerving the sheriff until the end of
the month in o;der to give the defendant every possible chance to drop her demand for a forced
sale of our property. On August 24,2016, se;nt outa “Final Appeal for Iris Canada’ to Tris
Merriouns and cc’d anyoné and everyone I could think of in the Bay Area that might be able to
exercise some influence over this matter inclucﬁng the Bishop of her church, her family,

housing activists, the media, the District Attorney, the Mayor and the Board of Supervisors

~18-
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(attached and previously referenced as Exhibit I on page 5). Despite multiple follow ﬁp
communioaﬁéns with Iris Merriouhs betWegn attorney Chernev and attorney Zaragoza, she
refused to withdraw her fnréed sa!e demand and we proceeded with re~p0§sessio‘n of the
unoccupied unit as promised in my letter in early September.

42.  Despite the benefit of. nearly two months of additional time in September and

| October duc wultiple court granted stays, the defeudant has still declined to bring forward a

scttlement offcr without a forced salc demand. ,

43, On September 18, 2016 I sent a cerﬁﬁed letter to Iris Canada al 670 Page Street
in San Francisco telling her thal folr more than two years I Iiz‘erally done everything within my
power to get you bélck home and how badly T felt that ti]e actions of her uiece had denied hef_
the chance to retum home ur‘u‘l created needless slress in her golden yéars (attached as Exhibit
UU) The US Postal Service letter reportcd on Oclober 21, 2016 that the letter had been
returncd after 21 ddys as undeliverable due to no reclplent at 1he address and expiration of
holdmg period (attached as Exhibit VV)—a final testament 1o Iris Canada’s continued llulun,
to pcrmanently resme at the sole and only occupant at 670 Pape Street.

44 Finally, .my decla‘ration addresses allegatioﬁs that 1) the life estate was a ruse to

avoid future disqualification from condominium conversion and 2) that Iris Canada was

1{unfairly denied the opportunity to purchasc her unit-outright,

45. The ‘allégation that we opted for the life estate to avoid a disqualification ona .
future application for (-:on,dlomini‘um conversion is a complete fabri;;ation and would have been |
impossible because thé legislation rest;icting cond;)minium conversion of building's with
certain evictions was -still more than three years in the futu;el In early 2003 all tenants. except

Iris Canada moved out due to termination of their tenancy under the Ellis Act. ‘Because our

-19-
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desire was to avoid displacing Iris Canada if at all possible, we volﬁntaﬁly grante(i her an
extension and spent a year and a half to draﬁing, revising and executing thq life estate with her
attorney, Stephen Collier of the Tenderloin Housing Clinic.

46, Ina jauuary 26, 2005 cmail attorney Collier reports “7 have reviewed the life
estate docﬁme_n@ and discussed them with my client” and identifies three'remaining concerns:
1) monthly payment amount, 2) loan repayment terms, and 3) property taxes—none are related
to condominium conversion (attached as previously referenced Exhibit C on page3). Inmy
Jﬁnuary 31, 2005 cmuail to vur attorney Denise Leadbetter, T summarize our good faith intent to
protect the wglfaro of Iris Canada, “It has always been our interest to make sure this will work
Jor Ivis. We realize that she doesn't have any financial reserves or much in the way the way of

Jamily to fall back on, We have gone fo great lengths to work oul u reso'lzzliorz that allows her
to stay in her home on very rg&sonable teﬁns Jor the rest of her life. And lbst!y, we ar"e Jond of
Iris. We care about her well-being. I visit her whenever I am in San Francisco. I check up on
her regularly with the'help'of our TIC partners who live in the building. And we will continue
fo do that" (attached as previously referenced Exhibit B on pagé 2). As previously referenced

on pége 9, Iris Merriouns, has publically characterized our efforts on her aunt’s behalf as

Jye]
) (o)

equivalent to “slavery” and “putting a rope around her neck.”
47. The life estate was iﬁitially coneeived in late 2003 executed and executed on
June 15, 2005. It was granted nearly a full year betore adoplion of the so-called “Peskin” law

“amending the Subdivision Code to add Section 1396.2 to prohibit condominium conversion

Jor a building where specified evictions occurred” that created the retroactive May 1, 2005

date for eviclion notices (no fault) for two or more tenants or one or more senior/disabled

tenants (attached as Exhibit WW). The amendment was introduced on April 4, 2006 and was

-20-
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|| adopted on May 22, 2006. Furthermore, the parties had agreed to the life estate in concept in

eurly 2004—well over two years ahead of the legislation. Finally, all four teriants had been
served evicﬁop ﬁoticeé on September 4, 2002 and three had moved out. Because two or more
tenants had been ulready cvicted, whether or not Iris Canada was also evicted would ha‘vt:.h.ad
no bearing on any prospgcti\)e disqualification of fhc building from conversion per Scetion
1396.2 of the Subdivision Code. The allegation is fully invented and Mthout merit,

48, A. second allegatidnlthat we unfairly denied the right of Iris Canada to purchase
her unit is also total fabrication, without merit or basis, and offcfed .solely to advance Iris
Meiriouns’ goal to force a sale of the unit for her personal gain and profit. First, there never
has been e; "right to purchase" associated with Ellis Act removals or sale of TIC units. None of
the existing tenants in 2002 ﬁad the righf to pu:cﬁase including Iris Canadé. Secondly, the five
TIC units were all publically advertised for sale including signs on the building. All the tenants
were free to buy any of the TIC units. But no tenant (including Iris Czniada, her family or her
attorney aver more than three years of discussion‘s) cver expressed any interes.t in buying a TIC
unit. Iri_s Canada’s unit never came on thé market because instead of evictmg her and selling it,.
we»vo'lunt_arily offered a life estate owner;hip interest, for the sole béneﬁt of Iris Canada, while
retainjng our long tenn‘owner'ship of the unit after she passed. She gratefully accepted.

49.  Thirdly, there wa‘s and remains today ho imaginable scenario by which Tris
Canada, who attorney Collier reports in his email to have no assets and a monthly income of
31, 181 / month, could ever buy the unit by herself, And Why would she) She already has what
elderly folks on a fixed income need—affordable and secure housing For well over a decade,
we have subsidized her abxhty to live in her targe 2-bedroom apartment for $700 / month—a

tiny fraction of the monthly pdyment required to buy it outr1ght—-and nore 1mportantly
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sqxﬁull‘dug she could realistically afford. Tris Canada wguld need soimevne else’s money Lo buy
the unit outright, The only possible beneficiary of s 100-year ()m women buying the unit ‘
ounjght would be éomeone other than Iri.s Canada.

50. . Finally, any purchase rights associated with condominium conversion are
restricted to renters. Iris Canada is éxplicitly not a renter. As the attached Title Report shows,
she owns a rocorded Life Estate property interest with a recorded Deed of Trust and
Promissory Note (attached ag Exhibit XX). Our May 2014 apiblication submitted without Iris
Canada’s signature because the unit was unoccﬁpied was deemed incompleic by San Fraﬁcisco
DPW because we did not have the signatures of all the titled owners, speciﬁcélly Iris Canada
(attached as Exhibit YY). As aholder of a titled interest, she is not a renter and has no right to
purchase. And even if she was a renter (she is not), the May 2014 application holds no
obligation to sell to the unit to Iris Canada. The application showed the unit unoccupied. It was
never signed by Iris Canada. The applica.tion was never accepted by DPW as complete due (o
th; missing owner signature and the subsequent refusal of Iris Can_adz; to grant it. DPW ﬁas

since changed forms and the old one is defunct.

1 declare under penalty of perjury of the laws of the State of Californja that the

foregoing is true and correct.
tober 28, 2016 (I

PHTER M. OWENS

FAXER

20
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Andrew M. Zacks (SBN 147794)

Mark B. Chernev (SBN 264946)

ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400

San Francisco, CA 94104

Tel:  415.956.8100

Fax: 415288.9755

Attorneys for Plainti{fs
Peter M. Owens
Carolyn A, Radisch
Stephen L. Owens

ELECTRONICALLY
FILED

Superior Court of California,
County of San Francisco

10/28/2016
Clerk of the Court
BY:CAROL BALISTRERI

Deputy Clerk

SUPERIOR COURT —~ STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual,

CAROLYN A. RADISCH, an individual,

STEPHEN L. OWENS, an individual,
Plaintiffs,

Vs,

Case No.: CGC-14-543437

DECLARATION OF ALEXANDER APKE
IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND
AUTHORITY IN SUPPORT OF SETTING
BOND AMOUNT FOR STAY PENDING
APPEAL AND OPPOSITION TO STAY

IRIS CANADA un individual, OLD PENDING ATPTEAL
REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California Date:  Novemher 1. 2016
cotporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive, Time:  2:00 pm 2o
‘ Dept.: 502
Defendants. Judge:  Hon. James A. Robertson, II
I, Alexander Apke, declare as follows:;
L. [ have personal knowledge of the following facts discussed below and would

testily truthfully thereto if called to do so. I have lived at 676 Page Street, San Francisco,

California on a full time basis for approximately 4 years, My residence is located 2 floois

above and one over from 670 Page Street, which was Iris Canada’s unit. 676 Page Street is my

full time and only residence.
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2. When I first moved into 676 Page Street, [ would regularly see Iris Canada at
least 3 times a weel, She opened the door to her unit 670 Page Street whenever someone
opened the building front door or when T walked down the stairs and past hef unit. We used to
have conversations about the weather, recently visiting friends and relatives, and her home,
Particularly she liked talking about when she moved from the top floor of the building down to
670 Page Street. I always helped her bringing the mail from the mailboxes on the ground floor,
up to her unit on the first fioor.

3. Iris Canada had regular Meals on Wheels deliveries that suddenly stopped, and
deliveries of what appeared to be medicine sat in front of her door for months. Both the
stopping of meals and the drug deliveries piling up occurred in the summer of 2012. At the
time, everyone in the building asked each other when we had last seen Iris Canada. I distinctly
remember someone coming to visit Itis Canada at the time, and I couldn't help them, telling
them that I hadn't seen her in a while.

4, In the past 4 years, I have only seen Iris Canada in or around the building
perhaps a total of 6-7 times. She has stayed overnight in the building maybe at most three

times, usually leaving with Iris Merriouns early the next day.

BN DD
D

5. Sin”ce I primarily work fréﬁ-iul;ome, over the past 4 years, I have been able to
observe Iris Merriouns pick up Iris Canada's mail or other deliveries relatively infrequently,
initially every few months or so, and only increasing to approximately once a month in the past
yeat or so. I have also seen Iris Merriouns intercept the mail person to get the mail without ever

stepping into the building. I have never seen Iris Canada with Iris Merriouns whenever the mail

was removed from the premises.
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6. On May 6th, 2015 and separately on January 9th, 2016 I noticed that al] the
lights to 670 Page were off and lovked at the 670 Page Street PG&E electricity meter in the
garage said there was no service, all the other meters to other units had service, The power was
subsequently restored the next day in each case, but not before someone shows up from
sbniewhere else, without a sighting of Iris Canada, In one instance, 1 saw Iris Merriouns leave
the building, in another I only heard that one of the other residents of the building saw the door
ajar and heard noises from inside the unit.

7. On March 14th, 2016, a Comeast truck was in front of the building to install
service at 670 Page Street, This was about 5 days before someone with a camera showed up,
presumably to take pictures 6f Itis Canada watching tv in her home. Not long after I read a
news article or blog post showing a photo of Tris Canada and a TV in the backgeound with u
comment stating that one of her hobbies is watching TV. The year before, around October
15th, 2015, Comcast was required to move their outdoor cable service box at our building 668-
678 Page due to it blocking the new construction project al 690 Page Street at the time. The
only unit in the building that had active cable service was 674 Page Street when the box was
relocated, -

8. On September 12th 2016 at 9:04 pm, two days before the sheriff was scheduled
to reposes 670 Page and 5 days after the undisturbed posting was on the door, I heard the
building door and then a few seconds later a mailbox open. I rushed down the stairs from my
unit and noticed that the sheriff's posting was removed, and quickly snapped a photograph of
the apartment door without the posted notice. While I‘ was going down the stairs I heard mail
being ruffled, and the building door open and close again leét about when [ took the picture.

About 30 minutes later at 9:33 pm, I was leaving the building and tan into both Iris Canada and
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Iris Merriouns, they were at the building door just when I opened it. Immediately upon Iris
Metriouns seeing me, she angrily asked "Can I help you?", I said no as I continued to exit the
building. Iris Canada did not appear in distress at the time, and was being helped into the
building by iris Merriouns. The building door closed behind them, and I took out my phone, re-
opened the building doot, and took a picture of both Iris' walking up the stairs without the
sherifT's notice on the front door of 670 Page Street unit, 10 minutes later, my wife Anna calls
me to get back home /\SAP since the paramedics were at and in the building. T rushed home,
saw the ambulance and heard the paramedics inside 670 Page Street. Both front doors were
open, to the building and 670 Page. I continued upstairs back to my unit and later came back

down to walk my dog. The paramedics were still in 670 Page and as I was walking down, I

‘ briefly heard the paramedics say that they would be taking lris to the hospital for observation.

As I'was walking the dog, I saw the ambulance leave and saw Iris Mcrriouns get into her car,
which was parked in front of a fire hydrant, and drive away.

9. The inability to condo convert has impacted my family in 4 number of ways, |
am unable to get a fixed mortgage as Tenancy In Common mortgages are only available as

adjustable rate and also have significantly higher interest rates compared to standard 30 year

B
e

fixed nthgﬁa'igésr.rNc‘)t only do I pay mo_fé, ‘B_;twfwill have o worry about the Federal Reserve
Bank-interest rate increases. I also will be required to refinance every few years to avoid large
balooning interes‘; rates on my mortgage. My two year old daughter is nearly ready to enter
school, but I am concerned about having the financial stability to be able to save for school,
other learning expenses, and later even college tuition. This also is a concern with being able to

save for retirement.

. =
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10.  With the behavior and general negativity of Iris Merriouns, I am concetned with
the welfare of my home and family. T especially wotry anytime I leave the building that
something might happen when I am not home. My first intetaction with Iris Merriouns, was
when Iris Canada disappearcd and cveryone was wondering what happened to her, it set the
tone for all future encounters, I simply asked what happened to Iris Canada, we hadn't scon her
in a while, and the acrimonious response from Iris Mertiouns was, "I don't know you", und

initially didn't want to answer at all, and then said she was [ine.

11, There have been 2 separate incidents where the media and 4 number of tenant
rights advocates, have picketed in front of our building. Both times, 1 was concerned about
what some of these people were capable of doing, nol only during tho protests, but later cven
after they left, many of them seemed angry enough to escalate their actions beyond lhe protest
alone, Many of the protestors were not peaccful as they claimed they would be. Making
statements that T wouldn'l want my or any other child to hear, yet my daughter could and did
hear it,

12, The most recent of the two protests on September 22nd. There was a very large
protest of over 100 people. At least 5 or possi‘bly more individuals trespassed on my roof to put
up a very large banner, and despite me telling them that they were trespassing and that they
needed to take down their banner. They ignored my request, and continued with their rally.
Even after going onto the roof to take down their banner, I was chased by one of the protesters
who demanded their banner back. A policeman that saw what happened and was less than 15
feet away from the incident told the protester that they needed to get down off of my roof

before they would get their banner back. A minute or two later, the same person jumped over

5.
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or crawled mﬁm a fencé into my back yard to take the bannar? and subsequently trespaésed on
my roof again to put up the same banner. When I went on the roof to once again attempt to take
the banner off of my home, this tﬁne they had reinforcements, and didn't take it down until
after the tob started moving down the sﬁaet, In fact, our garage was broken into the noxt
morning after thé protest on September 23", suspiciously. While we can't be sure that the two
ovents are linked, in the 5 years I have lived at 676 Page, this is the fitst timo we ever had a
break-in, less than a day after a large protest at the building, Tn particular, s & result of the
trespassing and actions of the protestors, I am concerned for the safety of my home and family,

I declate under penalty of perjury of the laws of the State of California that the

A 7L
Alexander Apke

FAX SIGNATURE

foregoing 18 true and correct,

DATED: September 24 |, 2016

B ON NN N B
gﬁc\m&www

6=
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Andrew M., Zacks (SBN 147794)

Mark B, Chernev (SBN 264946)

ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400

San Francisco, CA 94104

Tel:  415.956.8100

Fax: 415.288,9755

Attorneys for Plaintiffs,
Peter M, Owens
Carolyn A, Radisch
Stephen L. Owens

ELECTRONICALLY
FILED

Superior Court of Californla,
County of San Francisco

10/28/2016
Clerk of the Court
BY:CAROL BALISTRERI

Deputy Clerk

SUPERIOR COURT — STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED CIVII, JURISDICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual,

CAROLYN A, RADISCH, an individual,

STEPHEN L. OWENS, an individual,
Plaintiffs,

Vs,

IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD
REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California
corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive,

Defendants.

I, Christopher Beahn, declare as follows:

Case No.: CGC-14-543437

DECLARATION OF CHRISTOPHER
BEAHN IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS®
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND

AUTHORITY IN SUPPORT OF SETTING!

BOND AMOUNT FOR STAY PENDING
APPEAL AND OPPOSITION TQ STAY
PENDING APPEAL

Date;

Time:
Dept.:
Judge:

November 1, 2016

2:00 p.m.

502

Hon, James A. Robertson, IT

L, T have personal knowledge of the following facts discussed below and would

testify truthfully thereto if called to do so, Along with my wife, and our 2 children, I live at

674 Page Street, San Francisco, California. I have been residing at that address on a full time

basis for approximately 8 years. My residence is located directly above 670 Page Street, which

was Iris Canada’s unit. 674 Page Street is my full time and only residence.
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2. Seeing Iris Canada several times per week was a normal part of our lives. She
popped her head out whenever someone would come up the stairs, asking forhelp getting her
mail or just chatting. She loved to pet our dog, and talk about her years living in the building
with her husband James. She would show us his artwork and spole about how he was a welder.
Theit in July 2012, we were unable to get Iris to answer her door, and were understandably
concerned. We cventually discovered that her nicce Iris Merriouns had removed Iris Canada to
Oalcland due to the state of the apartment. We did nol see Iris Canada ugain until late 2015,

3. The following are some examples of why we believe 670 Page Street was
unoccupied completely between July 2012 and late 2015, These are also why we believe Iris |
Canada still does not reside in 670 Page Street,

4, We never saw Iris Canada, Thete was 1o discernable activity or sounds
emanating from the unit. Aside from some hired cleaners in July 0f 2012, we did not see
anyone remove garbage or recycling from the unit. The regular delivery of Meals on Wheels
ceased. There was no indication of regular mail service.

5. In December 2015, a loud beeping ;:onsistent with a smoke detector low battery

alert began sounding from 670 Page. It was clearly audible within the common stairwell and

b |
<

within our own umt This noise wer;t 5n 1;or rr;ore than a month before someone stopped by the |
unit and fixed the issue,

6. We have a dog who requires multiple walks per day. So every night for the last
8 years I have taken him out after 9:00 PM for his final walk. For the ﬁrst several years, we
would always hear the tv and see the flicker of its lights in Tris Canada’s living room windows,
Then in July 2012, it became clear that the tv was no longer béin g turned on, and that the lights

in the unit never changed. The same lights were on for months at a time, with no adjustment or

-

2256




SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94104

ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
235 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUTTE 400

O 0 -3 O h B W N =

[ I N B N T e e T e T e S S S =

change. If a light would go out, it would be out for months, presumably until a tightbulb was
changed, and then would comeé back on.

7. As many seniors are apt to do, Iris Canada’s heat was always on. So much 80,
that we barely used our own furnace for the first 4 years we lived in the building. This was
apparent due to the heat rising into our unit through the floors, as well as the furnace clearlyl
being on in the shared garage space where they are housed. The furnace and blower wete
constantly running and clearly andible, and the temperature in the garage was constantly quite
warm. After July 2012, it became clear that the heat within 670 was no longer on. Our own
apartment returned to a normal temperature, as did the garage. I noted the furnace was clearly
no longet running when;tver I was in the garage.

8. On several occasions, packages or letters were left 111 front of the door of 670
Page. These remained untouched for weeks or even months at a time.

9. When we did begin to see Iris Canada again starting in late 2015, it was only a
handful of occasions when she would be brought to the building by her niece Iris Merriouns.
These seemed to coincide with a reportet or camera crew coming to the apartment, and did not
last more than a few hours, In 2016 Iris Canada began returning for overnight stays, although
these also seemed to coincide with media events or protests outside of the building. She never
stayed more than a night or two, excepting one point when she seemed to have a live-in
caregiver in March. This did not iast long, and soon the apartment was again inactive, Within
the last few weeks, Iris has been in the apartment more often,

10.  We know when Iris Canada is in the building due to either seeing her or her
caregivers (usually Iris Merriouns), noting the tv/lights changing when we pass the apartment,

hearing and feeling her furnace being on, and by the smell of cigarette smoke in our apartment.

3-
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The cigarette smoke is particularly strong, and is of concern for our children. (Note: I assume
the cigarette smole is coming from a caregiver, since we never saw or smelled smoke from Iris
Canada when she did live in the building.)

‘11, Based on my having lived at 674 Page Street for 8 years, and having observed
the comings and goings, sounds, {]SG of'the furnace, lack of changes in lighting and general
neighborly observations on an almost daily basis, I am firmly convinced that Iris Canada has
not resided at her residence with any consistency since approximately July 2012.

12. Since the end 02015, the vourl case belween Peter Owens et al. und Iris
Canada has resulted in a toxic environment at the building, especiallly when Iris Merriouns has
been present. On several oceasions the police have been called, and there seem to be constant
verbal altercations hetween Tris Merriouns and various owners in the huilding, On a recent
occasion (September 22, 2016) when a protest was going on outside the building, I clearly
heard Iris Merriouns and Anna Apke (676 Page) screaming at each other. Anna Apke was
saying, “What did I ever due to you? This is harassment!” Tris Merriouns replied with a siring
of expletives. Anna was home with their 3 year-old daughter and several protestors had

somehow gained access to our building and were right above her apartment on the roof.

13, d{éeptember 12, 5016, Iﬁencountereﬂd‘ Ius Merriouns bringing her great aunt,
Iris Canada, up the stairs into the building. The apartment had been empty since at least the
previous Wednesday, September 7, which we know because there was a posting from the
sheriff that had to be removed in order to open the door to the apartment, A very short lime
later paramedics arrived and took Iris Canada to the hospital.

14, All of these have led to a caustic environment, and have resulted in a great deal

of undue anxiety on the part of my wife and myself, During protests, my wife and I have

4-
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driven away from our home rather than have our children walk through the throngs of
protestors. My wife dreads walking into the building in fear of a confrontation with Iris
Canada’s famil.y, and has been under considerable stress from the whole situation.

15, Our neighbor’s car has been broken into twice in Scptom'bcr 2016 while being
patked in front of our building. Another similar looking car was broken into in front of our
building during this same period, Although vehicle crimes are not rare in our neighborhood, 3
in the exact same location and in the short span of a few Weeks certainly seems excessive.
There were no other nearby cars stmilarly vandalized. During the protest on September 22,
2016, several protestdrs climbed onto the roof of our building. We have questioned our safety
within the unit, have installed alarms on our windows and have proposed security cameras for
the building.‘

16, Ttis worth noting that during all of this, we have been patiently waiting almost 2 |
years for the court case to run its course. We have been open to resolving this amicably, We
have reached out to our city Supervisor, London Breed, on multiple occasions to ask for
assistance in mediating some type of resolution. We have hosted a representative from her
ofﬁce, and basically been told that there is little fhey could do. We have let Petlar Owens know
that we were willing to accept modifications to the life estate, if it resolves the issue. He
attempted to negotiate a compromise, but has been led on and then rebuffed again and again by
Iris Canada on the advice of her family.

17. Atthis point, I have no hope that this issue will be settled. Instead, the
continued delays seem to invite increasingly aggressive protests and actions by Iris Canada’s

supporters and family, and deepen our own concerns regarding our safety and the likelihood of

5.
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further criminal activity. Furthet, dragging out a resolution appears to be having negative
affects on Iris Canada’s health, as is evidenced by her recent hospitalization,

I declare under penalty of petjury of the laws of the State of California that the

foregoing is true and correct,

-

DATED: October 22 , 2016 % 0\/
’ P -

Christopher Bealn

FAX SIGNATURE
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Andrew M., Zacks (SBN 147794)

Mark B. Chernev (SBN 264946)

ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400

San Irancisco, CA 94104

Tel:  415.956.8100

Fax: 415.288.9755

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
Peter M. Owens
Carolyn A. Radisch
Stephen L. Owens

ELECTRONICALLY

FILED

Superior Court of Calffomia,
County of San Francligco

10/28/2016
Clerk of the Court
BY:CAROL BALISTRERI

Deputy Clerk

SUPERIOR COURT — STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual,

CAROLYN A, RADISCH, an individual,

STEPHEN L. OWENS, an individual,
Plaintiffs,

Vs,
IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD
REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California

corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive,

Defendants.

Case No.: CGC-14-543437

DECLARATION OF GEOFFREY
RAYMOND PIERCE IN SUPPORT OF
PLAINTIFFS’ MEMORANDUM OF
POINTS AND AUTHORITY IN SUPPORT
OF SETTING BOND AMOUNT FOR
STAY PENDING APPEAL AND

OPPOSITION TO STAY PENDING
APPEAL

Date: November 1, 2016

Time: 2:00 p.m.

Dept.: 502

Judge: Hon. James A. Robertson, 11

I, GEOFFREY RAYMOND PIERCE, declare as follows:

1. T have personal knowledge of the following facts discussed below and would

testify truthfully thereto if called to do so.

2. - Thave lived at 668 Page Street, San Francisco, California on a full time basis for

approximately 8 years, My residence is located directly adjacent to 670 Page

Street, which was Iris Canada’s unit,
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Iris Canada’s and I share an approximately 80 foot long common wall that stretches the
entire length of our unit, Upon moving to 668 Page Street I would typically see Iris Canada 3-4
times per week. Our inleractions were always very cordial and 1 would regularly help her
retrieve mail from the landing just below ours. This type of common interaction continued for
apprbximatély 4 years.

Beginning in the summer 0f2012 I stopped seeing Iris Canada on a regular
basis. Between the summer of 2012 and the beginning of 2015, I only saw Iris Canada at the
building two times, once in late 2014 when her niece, Iris Metriouns, specifically brought her
to the building and éroceeded to knock on my door to proclaim that Iris, “was in the
building”, Additionally I saw Iris Canada at the beginning 0of 2015, on 1/31/15, when both she
and her niece came here to illegally change the locks on Peter Owen’s unit without giving him
proper notiﬁc;ation.

Since the summer 0f 2012 it seems that Iris Canada’s mail has been redirected because
I have not seen her collect it since then, Several times over the past four years there have been
packages delivered to her doorstep which have remained undistufbcd and uncollected,

sometimes for a period of several months, Many times during the course of this trial,

subpoenas fromthxs ‘court proceeding woﬁid sit uncollec;ced fqi‘ weeks at a time.

Based on the proximity of my residence to Iris Canada’s and our shared common wall,
T used to hear tyﬁical residential sounds coming from her unit, not limited to people walking
the length of the hallway, television, radio, alarm clocks aﬁd talking and T would normally hear
people coming to visit her approximately once a week. Between summer 2012 and the spring

0f2015 I did not hear any such sounds emanating from her residence.
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The most glaring exa;nple of Iris Canada’s absence from the building occurred on
12/13/14. On that day, my wife and I began hearing a shrill “low-battery” smoke det.ector
signél coming from her apartment, That very high-pitched and annoying souﬁd oould easily be
heard through my walls so on 12/15/14 1 left a note on the door kindly asking Iris to change out‘
the battery on her smolce dstector or to let me know if she needed help to do so. The alarm
went off each and every minute of every day and every night and was so loud from my
apartment that it would sometimes wake me up fiom a sound sleep or conversely, keep me
from sleeping at all. The alarm remained on until 1/21/15 (approximately 6 weeks after first
hearing it). By my calculations the alarm went off over 60,000 times and was not something
that someone living in the unit could have tolerated. The note that T had left on the door
remained there for Lhe entire six weeks that the alarm was going off. I have photo
documentation of the letter that I left on the front door and the fact that it was still in the exact
same position almost 6 weeks later (a couple of days prior to 1/21/15, when the alarm battery
was [inally replaced).

Additionally T was present on the evening of 1/31/15 when thé locks were legally
changed by Peter Owens and subsequently illegally cha.nvged by Iris Merriouns later that
evening. Inorder to give access to the back door for Peter’s locksmith, T entered the unit for a
total of two minutes and was able to observe mold érowing in the bathtub and a toilet in which
the water had completely evaporated from the bowl, the stench of sewer gases coming from the
dry p~trap was not pleasant, nor livable, At 9pm that evening, Iris Canada was brought to the
building by Iris Merriouns. When I met Iris Canada and Iris Merriouns outside of 670 Page,
Iris Merriouns became very agitated and confrontational, She yelled at all of the owners of the

building and proceeded to call the police.

3.
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Sinee the beginning of 2015 I have seen Iris Canada at the building on a handful of
occasions, for brief periods of time, usually not lasting more than 24 hours. Many of those
sightings coincided with court case related news appearances or housing activist protests m her
honor.

Since the spring 0f 2015, there has been a concerted effort on the part of Iris Merriouns
to clean up the apartment and make it look habitable including the arrival ofa large cleaning
crew that entered the apattment to clear uule‘mk and debris. Comcast cable was reinstalled at
the unit just a few days prior to Iris Canada’s first television 'appearanoe. I have witnessed Iris
Merriouns sneak into the building past midnight to retrieve mail which was recently redirected
hack to 670 Page Street, presumably in an atfempt to re-establish the appearance of residency.
In the past six months Iris Canada’s visits to the building have become more frequent but
usually coincide with a media interview, lawyer visiting her at her “home”, protests being
staged in her honor or an impending or just concluded court hearing., Her visits are very brief
and upon departure it is usually several weeks before she next returns.

Based on my having lived at 668 Page Street for 8 years, and observing the comings

and goings, sounds, and general neighborly obscrvations, I am firmly convinced that Iris

Canada has notremded at 670 Pager-S‘;;éet since the summer 02012,
The fact that our building has not been able to condo convert has, by my estimation,
cost me in excess of $12,000 in higher mortgage payments which could have been lowered had
Iris Canada agreéd to sign the condo conversion paperwork when it was first requested ovér
two years ago. By delaying the condo conversion further I have additional financial burdens
that could be induced by rising interest rates, diminished value of my home if 1 need to sell for

any reason until this matter is resolved and the real possibility that the current condo

4=
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conversion process may be suspended at which point my unit will NEVER be able to convert
since we are a 6-unit building which will not be eligible for conversion after the current
process is suspended. If this becomes a reality and my unit does not condo convert I will be
forced to accept having a varfahle rate mortgage for the rest of the timg T own the unit which
could very well affect my financial stability, force me to sell my unit and potentially leave Saﬁ
Francisco altogether. The longer these proceedings take to resolve, the larger and more real
these financial burdens become.

More importantly though, and the reason that I am taking the time to write this
declaration, is the fact that this litigation process has placed undue stress upon my family.
While there have been very tangible events like the time Iris Canada’s fire alarm was go ing off
for 6 weeks and we could not sleep duc to the distﬁrbancc, there has also been much more
severe emotional distress caused directly by Iris Merriouns and this litigation. On one such
occasion, Iris Merriouns and I passed each other in the main entryway to the building; she
purpoéeﬁjlly stepped into my path of travel, pointed in ;ny faco and said in a menacing tone,
“You ain’t seen NOTHING yet!” I felt very threatened by her presence and her tone of voice.

Additionally, on multiple occasions ovef the past several months Iris Merriouns has
organized large scale protests at our building; at one such protest one of her supporters shouted
at me, “T hope you die and go to helll” As well I have been hissed at by groups of people and
booed as I entered and exited the building on multiple occasions, the protestors have even
shouted at my wife and I while we were in our living room, to the point where we left the
building altogether. The protesters that attend these rally’s are not interested in the facts of the
case, they are driven by emotional sentiment amplified by Iris Merriouns® lies associated with

the circumstances of the case and in most cases are very angry individuals.

52
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Approximately onc month ago there was a protest ol approzimately 150 people at 8am
right in front of the building. My wife caﬂed me at work; she was in a panic and stated that
people had scaled the zidjacent construction site so that they could trespass on our roﬁﬁop and
hang a banner regarding their cause, She was scared fo leave the house due to the fact that she
thought strangers might be in the building and she requested that T return home from wotk (I
had left early that morning) to escort her to her car, Ihad to leave work to do just that,
something that I should never have had to do if it weren’t for Iris Merriouns staging these
angry prptests. To see my wife in a state of panic was unsettling and entirely unnecessary,

Ironically, that same night, my car was broken into right outside of our home., While 1
have no evidencé to prove that any of the mm:nings’ protestors were invo}ved in the breal-in, it
isa curious‘coincidenoe that very well may be due to the fact that 150 angry people were
outside my home that momiﬁg. Needless to say the recent escalation of tension associated with
these protests the have left me and my wife feeling very uncomfortable, unsafe and nervous
within the confines of our own home.

In the span of one month since the protest was held, three cars have been broken into

while parked in front of our building, a highly unusual rate of break-ins for our neighborhood.

While it may simply be coincidence, it xs possible that someone may have targeted our building
because of the animosity generated at the protests.

T hereby implore the court to take action on this matter. The facts of the case have not
changed, Iris Canada does not reside at 670 Page Street and she failed to maintain the unit ina
habitable condition. Despite countless reasonable attempts to restore Iris Canada’s life estate
by Peter Owens, no agreement could be reached and the court ordered legal fees have not been

remanded to Peter Owens, the rightful owner of the unit. Iris Merriouns has recently escalated
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' GE’ TREY RAYMOND l’iERCE :

 FAX SIGNATURE
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Andrew M. Zacks (SBN 147794)
Mark B. Chernev (SBN 264946)
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ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC Superior Court of Caitfornia,

235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400
San Francisco, CA 94104

Tel:  415.956.8100

Fax: 415.288.9755

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
Peter M. Owens
Carolyn A. Radisch
Stephen L. Owens

County of San Francisco

10/28/2016
Clerk of the Court
BY:CAROL BALISTRERI

Deputy Clerk

SUPERIOR COURT - STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISBICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual,

CAROLYN A. RADISCH, an individual,

STEPIEN L. OWENS, an individual,

Case No.: CGC-14-543437

DECLARATION OF ANNA MUNOZ IN
SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’

 Plaintiffs, MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND
AUTHORITY IN SUPPORT OF
VS, SETTING BOND AMOUNT FOR STAY

PENDING APPEAL AND OPPOSITION

IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD TO STAY PENDING APPEAL

REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California . A

corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive, ]l?_ate.. Novemberl, 2016

ime: 2:00 p.m.

Dept.: 502

Defendants,

Judge: Hon. A. James Robertson, II

I, Anna Munoz, declare as follows:

1. Ihave personal knowledge of the following facts discussed below and would

{1 testify truthfully thereto if called to do so. I have lived at 676 Page Street, San Francisco,

California on a full time basis for approximately 6 years. My residence is located above 670

Page Street, which was Iris Canada’s unit. 676 Page Strect is my full time-and only residence.

2. I used to see Iris Canada about once a week, She would often open her door as I was

entering the building and she would explain to me that she thought people were ringing her
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doorbell. She often seemed worried and I would reassure her that it was just me entering the
building. One time, to my surprise, I saw her walking back up the stairs towards her unit. That
time she also said she thought she heard someone ring the bell. Every time I saw her, I would
take the time to chat with her and make sure everything was okay.

3. A young lady, whom 1 was told was a relative of hers, used to come to the unit to
che‘ck up on her on a regular basis, I would see her about once a week or every other week as
she would always either park in or block my driveway. I would always have to ring the bell
and ask her to move her car so that I can get in or out of my garage. On those occasions, I
would oﬁen see Iris Canada standing at her door waiting for the young lady. The last .time 4I
ever saw the young lady, was the time that we found a dead rat placed just outside of her door.
I Sélieve that it became evident to the relative at the time that Iris Canada could no longer live
alone and take care of herself or her home. Soon after that is when Iris Canada stopped residing
in the apartment and [ haven’t seen the young lady since.

4, In the last 4 years, I have only seen Iris Canada when she would arrive at the -
building with Iris Merriouns. They would arrive, stay for a few hours and then leave and not be

seen again for several months. I always knew when they were here because Iris Merriouns

21

would park her car very near the building, This was either on the weekend or after wotking
hoﬁrs. One example was the night Iris Canada was first served court papers. [ witnessed them
arrive that evening and then leave after Iris Canada was served with court documents, not to be
seen again for months. There was also the time when Peter Owens changed the lock to the unit
and had a copy made for Iris Canada, my neighbors offered her the key when they a&ived but
Iris Merriouns flatly refused it saying “I’m not taking that, I don’t know what it is.” Iris

Merriouns then proceeded to change the locks, without providing Peter Owens a copy, and left

2
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with Iris Canadé that same evening and again not to return for a long time. There were times
when packages were left vn her door {or very long periods of time, There was also the incident
where the smoke detector was sounding off inside her unit, something that continued around
the clock for over a month.

In more recent times, namely this year (2016), I have seen less of lris ('fanada yet more
of Iris Merriouns with each time being around the same time that thore would be a major cvent
such as a cowt hearing, namely a stay of execution or a public protést. Both would stay a
couple days leading up to the hearing and {hen leave after the hearing rulcd in their favor. Not
to be seen apain for a long‘time.

On May 319, sometime afte; 6 pm, Abdoulla Yasef, her supposed “caretaker” came to
the building alone and somehow couldn’t get into the unit because he misplaced his key. Peter
Owens, who wag visiting at the time, ran into l}im and had a cordial conversation with him. At
the time, we were all in the Geoff Pierce’s apartment next door having an HOA meeting and
witnessed this. After Abdoulla and Peter chatted for a bit, Abdoulla left and returned sometime

after 10 pm with both Iris Canada and a locksmith. Up to this point, I recall not seeing Iris

Canada for a long time. In the span of 2 — 3 months that Mr. Yasef was her “caretaker”, this
was the only time I ever saw them together. I believe he was staying at the unit without Iris
Canada as I often witnessed him lf:ave early in the morning and return ﬁsually after 6 pm. I no
longer see Mr, Yasef.

On June 27" there was a three day protest at the building. While Iris Canada was
present during that time it appears that both Iris Merrioﬁns‘ and Iris Canada had left sometime .
after it was over and I believe they returned briefly for Iris Canada’s 100" birthddy sometime

in mid July only to leave again shortly thereafter.

3
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For five straight days, from September 8" — 12th, I saw the Sheriff’s posting for
repossession of.the unit taped on the door of 670 Page. At around 9:05 pm on the evening of
September 12th, my husband and I hear Iris Merriouns enter the building alone. She proceeded
to grab the mail as well as the Sheriff’s notice that was on the door. I had looked out the
window and saw Iris Merriouns walking back to her car that was parkod on the comer of Page-
and Steiner next to a fire hydrant, which is about 100 feet from the building. She was alone and
carryiﬁg a bunch of mail in her arms. At the same time nﬂy husband went downstairs and saw
the notice removed from the door, At exactly 9:33pm my husband leaves the building and
witnesses both Iris Merriouns and Iris Canada enter the building and walk up the flight of stairs
and into the unit. By 9:45pm, the SFFD had arrived and entered the building. At around
10:15pm, I am looking out of my window t.o see what was going on and witnessed the
paramedics take her out of the building in a chair and move her into.a gurney that was
stationed out on the sidewall, With some assista._nce, Iris Canada wés able to get u.p from her
seat and into the gurney. She was attentive, .moving around and able to talk o both the
paramedics andlher niece. She appeared fine and in absolutely no emotional disiress at all. This

was the first time I had seen her at the building since the June 27" protests.

o
<

21

5. Based on my havihg lived at 676 Page Street San Francisco CA 94117 for 6
years, and having observed the comings and goings, sounds, and general neighborly
observations on an almost daily basis, | am firmly convinced that 670 Page Street has not been
Iris Canada’s primary residence since approximately June 2012,

6. On June 27" and for two days following, there were protests at our building
organized by the Housing Rights Comumittee of San Francisco. On the first day people yelled at

us, flipped us off when we looked out the window and used a megaphone that was so loud we
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could hear it at the back of the house. This was an attack specifically on the residents of the
building in an attempt to get us to persuade Peter to drép the lawsuit. People were projecting
hostility and anger towards us. I even heard one of the lead protesters who organized the event,
‘l'ommi Avicolli Mecea, remind the crowd that they are not here to threaten us but to speak out
to the residents who could have some “influence” over the matter, Iris Merriouns was also a
part of the protests and spoke on the‘megaphone. According to Peter, she had lied to him and
told him she was not a parl of it

On the second day of the protest, my husbz;nd, baby and I leave as they are beginning to
assemble. As I exit the building, I asked Tomumi Avicolli Mecca to stop harassing us.
Immediately, an unknoWnAfrican—American lady starts shouting at me. I then turn to Tony
Robles, a staff member of the Senior and Disability Action, and asked him if he was Mexican.
To me he appeared Mexican and since I am also Mexican I was hoping to find a common
ground to discuss the sitnation, He irﬁmediately denounced my heritage and said “You sure as

hell don’t Jook Mexican, you look white!” and proceeded to just taunt me. Because of the

protests, I didn’t come home until late that evening. On the third and final day of the protests, [

didn’t come home at all.

On September 22, we were literally ambushed with another protest in front of our
building. This one was much larger aﬂd much worse than the previous three day protest. There
were several people whq had trespassed onto our roof and d.ropped a large red banner. My |
husband told them to get off but they did not comply. Eventually my husband got on the roof
took it down and threw it over the building into our backyard. One protester jumped the fence
into our backyard and retrieved the banner only to put it back up a third time. At one point Iris

Merriouns, who was also a part of the protest, came up to the third floor landing and said that

5-
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they would like their banner back. Some words were exchanged and then‘shev proceeded to yell
at me. A heated argument ensued between the both of us. 1 asked her to le;ave and told her she
was trespassing. It wasn’t until T went back into my apartment that she finally left. The
situation made my heart race and left me frantic, scared and in tears. I've been an emotional
wreck ever since the most recent protests and will most likely need to seek some form of
therapy to get past this, My trauma has gotten to the point where even some of my coworkers
have noticed somwething is wrong. I now feel very threatened by Iris Merriouns and the hostility
that she is creating.
8. As a result of the continued legal proceedings and the harassment that has been

directed at us [ have been experiencing a great dealuof emotional trauma. It has affected my

nental health and that of my family. I have been experiencing depression, stress and anxicty. I
am currently on edge and living in fear that something dangerous will happen. Iris Merriouns
has been hostile to all of us, In May of 2015, she was hostile towards me when | asked her to
move her car out of my driveway, she refused to move and sat there and argued with me. She

has also given me dirty, threatening looks every time she sees see e, she has been hostile

toward my neighbors and now we have to endure the hostility that is coming from protestors in

front of our building. With the most recent protest, the situation has escalated into something
dangerous. I fear that something far worse will happen. I fear for the safety of rﬁyself, my
farily and our property.

9. The inability to condo convert as a result of any ongoing litigation could potentially
put financial stress on me and my family. We may very well run out of time in the condo
conversion process should the litigations continue. Once the deadlines arrive, a moratorium

will set in and we will never again be able to convert. Additionally, banks only offer

6-
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Adjustable Rate Mortgages at higher interest rates than Fixed 30 yr loans. Those interest rates
could go up at aﬁy time, making our mortgage even more expensive. Condo conversion has
always been for the desire to save money. San Francisco is an expensive city to live in, made
gven morc cxponsive when one is trying to raisc a child.

Since the last protest that occurréd on September 22™, I have witnessed thal my neighbor’s, as
well as another unknown person’s, vehicle hag been vandalized. I believe this is a direct result
of the hostility thal has heen iincraasingfy generated by the previous protesté and the ongoing
and unresolved litigation. I beliéve that my building and all who reside there are being
maliciously targeted.

10. - On the early morning of September 23", at around 6 am and less than 24 hours
since the last protest, an inknown person(s) broke into my neighbor Geoff Pierce’s car and
stole the remote to our garage, Géoff Pierce and [ share the garage. We have evidence of this
via a Smart Home device that is installed on the garaée door that logs whep the garage door
opens as well as a video camera. The video camera filmed two individuals enter the garage at
two separate times early that morning.

11.  OnOctober 1%, a vehicle parked in front of my building and partially in my
driveway was also vandalized. The back windéw was {ully broken and I could see all the glass
on the ground. I am not aware of who the vehicle belongs to. This vehicle was a black SUV
and could have easily been mistaken for a vehicle belonging to a res‘idem in the building,
namely my neighbor, Jamie Pierce who also drives a black SUV type car,

12. About a week later (exact date unknown), my neighbor Jamie Pierce’s car
window was broken whén she was parked in a spot adjacent to my neighbor’s driveway. This

happened late at night. I believe that her car was targeted because it’s been previously

H -7-
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identified as belonging to a building residént. Jamie normally parks in front of the driveway
when not in the garage. Jamie and (feoff are na longer ahle to pa‘rk their cars overnight in the
driveway as it is no longer safe 10 do so.

13, Tuthe 6 years that I khave,llved at 676 Page Street, we have never experienced
this amount of vandalism in such a short amount of time. To my knowledge, never have our
cars been vandalized and never have | felt unsate. 1 ﬂbrmly-.belicve that this is far more than just
a coincidence.

4. My pre\}ious fears that something would happen to our praperty has come to be
realizéd. We have suffered a great deal as a result of the continuous stays and I believe that we
will continue to suffer if this issue continues unresolved. My quality of life has diminished as a
result of the increased hostility, with the protests and vandalism, tflat has been projected onto
the building residents, I believe that if the situaﬁén continues unresolved, we will continue to
suffer as a result and that the suffering will only get worse. I no longer enjoy the peac;e and
tranquility of my own hémc that 1 once did. My home is supposed to be my sanctuary and that
has be‘en violated. | live day-to-day waiting for the next hostile protest or break-in to occur.

1 declare under penalty of perjury of the laws of the State of California that the

foregoing is true and cotrect,

T declare under penalty of perjury of the laws of the State of California that the

foregoing is true and correct.

DATED: October% 2016 | K m

NAME

FAX SIGNATURE

8-
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Andrew M. Zacks (SBN 147794)

Mark B. Chernev (SBN 264946)

ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400

San Francisco, CA 94104

Tel:  415.956.8100
Fax: 4152889755
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Peter M. Owens -
Carolyn A. Radisch
Stephen L. Owens

SUPERIOR COURT - STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION |

PETER M. OWENS, an individual,
CAROLYN A. RADISCH, an individual,
STEPHEN L. OWENS, an individual,

Case No.: CGC-14-543437

DECLARATION OF Michel Bechirian IN
SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’

Plaintiffs, OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S
MOTION FOR STAY PENDING APPEAL
Vs,
Date:
IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD Time:
REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California | Dept.:
corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive,
Defendants.
I, Michel Bechirian, declare as follows:
1. I have personal knowledge of the following facts discussed below and would

testify truthfully thereto if called to do so. Ihave lived at 678 Page Street, San Francisco,

California on a full time basis for approximately 13 years. My residence is located above to

670 Page Street, which was Iris Canada’s unit. 678 Page Street is my full ime and only

residence,

2, Upon moving to 678 Page St I would typically see Iris Canada 3 to 4 times per
week. This continued for approximately 10 years. I would stop to chat with Iris

2276
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occasionally venture out with an elderly relatlve (mostly to church on Sunday) but
over time these trips would become less frequent and after she broke her arm I
rarely saw her leave her apartment. Over the years I have entered Iris’s apartment
on a number of occasions to help her with small jobs, for example replacing the
batteries in her smoke detectors and changing light bulbs. The apartment was
packed with stuff and was always oppressively hot from the forced air heating. I did
see a few cockroaches but these were mainly in the kitchen area. Beginning summer
2012 I stopped seeing Iris Canada on a regular basis. The last time I recall seeing
Iris Canada living in her apartment was June 2012

On a regular basis I would see the light of Iris Canada’s living room turn on around
dusk. Since June 2012 I have not seen the lights switch on and off at Tris Canada’s
residence.

On a regular basis I have an opportunity to see where Iris Canada’s mail is
delivered. Iris would often listen for the building front door to open. She would
then.open her apartment door and when she saw me we would chat for a few
minutes. I would often ask her if she would like me to collect her mail for her as the
stairs gave her some difficulty. Since the summer of 2012 I believe her mail has
been redirected. On 2 or 3 separate occasions a package from a medical delivery
company has sat on her doorstep for months before someone came and removed it. I

. do not believe this was Iris Canada.

Based on the proximity of my residency to Iris Canada’s, when passing I would
normally hear the radio and TV daily and sometimes the telephone ringing. I have
not heard any sounds from her residence since June 2012, In addition, Iris Canada’s
furnace is located in a shared garage. Normally this would be constantly cycling on
and off. This has not occurred over the past 4 years.

On approximately December 15 2014, I began hearing a low-battery smoke detector
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signal ringing; which I-was able-to-determine-was-coming from-her apartment. That
signal went on for approximately 5 weeks. At no point was there any interruption

of that low battery signal until January 21 2015.

GCii qulucu_y A“f 2015 1 observed an mxvmuyc Puawd to Iris Canada’s door. The
envelope remained there until January 31 2015 (this was the 48 hour notice letter
pos’ced to allow the locks to be changed). The same day the lock was changed by the
niece Iris Mertriouns.

Based on my having lived at 678 page St for 13 years and having observed the
comings and goings, sounds and general neighborly observations on an almost daily
basis, I am firmly convinced that Iris Canada has not resided at her residence since
approximately June 2012
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9.

Over the past few months I have witnessed Iris Canada Being been brought back to

~ the épaﬂment by arelative. Ms. Canada and the relative normally stay between 30

10.

11.

10.

minutes to a few hours. I believe the purpose of the visit is to make it appear Ms.
Canada resides in the apment. This is a deliberate construct to deceive.

On several occasions the Ms. Canada’s relative has brought her to the building and
immediately called emergency services in an effort to establish Ms. Canada is
resident at the address. This is an abuse that potentially affects the ability of the
emergency services to respond to genuine medical emergency

In addition to staging the apartment, the family of Ms. Canada has deliberately
spread false stories in the press and made exaggerated claims through social media.
These stories are hurtful and smear the character of the owners living in the
building. The purpose is to influence public opinion in an effort to stop due legal
process

The relatives of Ms. Canada have distributed keys to the building to an unknown

number of individuals. As a result, the building is not secure. There have been multiple

instances when I have witnessed individuals entering the building, Who they are, and

what they are doing remains unknown — and a source of great concern.

1L

The relatives of Ms. Canada have incited protests. Groups of agitators have

congregatéd outside the building blocking the sidewalk and access to the garages. The

protests have been loud (bullhorns, klaxons and whistles). The protests have been

disruptive and distressing to the parents and infants living in the building.
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12. The relatives of Ms. Canada have organized and allowed agitators to trespass —

1
2 " climbing on to the roof through an adjacent building site and hanging a banner over
3 the front of the building.
4 13. By deliberating prolonging a settlement or resolution the relatives of Ms. Canada
Z have obstructed our ability to refinancé our property. As a result we have been unable
7 to reduce our mortgage payment which is a constant source as it relies on both my wife
8 and I working (see below)
9 14. Ms. Canada’s relatives have deliberately and successfully followed a plan to
g 10 disrupt and destabilize the lives‘of the owners lilving in the building. They have
g % § 1; succeeded to the extent that my wife and I no longer feel safe in the home we have
g 5 % 13 lived in for 13 years. We have been harassed, smeared and vilified in the press. Our
% ? ?) 14 home has been invaded by unknown agitators. My wife works from home, but for the
| %‘ g g 15 past year has been so stressed and afraid she no longer wants to be at home alone. This
Eﬂ _;% g 1: has affected her to‘the extent she is no longer working (which is a financial concern
g 8§ 18 given the inflated mortgage payment). Our quality of life has deteriorated to such an
™ 19 extent that we no longer wish to live in our apartment and will be taking active steps to
20. Il move regardless of the financial ;:énsequences.
21 I declére under pénalty of perjury of the laws of the State of California that the
jj foregoing is trﬁe and correct.
24 DATEDV: September 30,2016 —
> ’ M : @\/\/\, |
26 '
27 A ML ReCH | RIAN
28
4-
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City and County of San Francisco
GAVIN NEWSOM, Mayor

Department of Aging and Adult Services
E. ANNE HINTON, Executive Director

Adult Protective Services

1/26/2009

To: Peter Owens & Carolyn Radish

I am not sure if any of the other tenants/owners have informed you of the.
situation regarding the tenant @ 670 Page. There have been seven incidents
documented by tenants regarding Mrs. Canada using her stove (smelling gas or
apartment filling with smoke). [ feel that I have done all that T can regarding this case,
As it stands now the valve to the stove is off with a note not to turn it on. My original .
goal was to either have the pas capped at the stove & for client to purchase an electric
oven with a timer/auto shut-off or to have a special valve put on the gas line which
could be locked & monitored by Iris's family. Either solution requires that someone
be there when PG&E or an independent comes out & they only give 4 hour window
of time as to when they would be out. I was working with client’s niece (also named
Iris), who was suppose to be working on this issue, but I have not heard back from
her in some time now. At this point I need to close the case. I will also send a letter
to Mrs. Canada & her family. I can be reached at: (415) 355-3655.

Thank you, _ -
Cory
Larry Henderson, Adult Protective Services wotker 4354

875 Stevenson Street » 3" Floor * San Francisco s CA 94103
Telephone (415) 355-3555 » Fax Number (415) 355-6750
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San Francisca County Superior Qo
J 257017
CLERK.OQF THE,COURT
B 9\5&;%{ N
. \J ( Deputy Clerk

SUPERIOR COURT - STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO ~ UNLIMITED JURISDICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual, " | ‘Case No.: CGC-14-543437

CAROLYN A. RADISCH, an individual, - -
STEPHEN L. OWENS, an individual, [BREROSED] ORDER SETTING

SECURITY PENDING APPEAL AND

FINDINGS ON MOTION FOR STAY

e PENDING APPEAL

Plaintiff,
» Date: November 1, 2016

V5. Time: 10:00 a.m.

’ . Dept.: 502
IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD
REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California
corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive,
Defendants.
ORDER

On March 22, 2016, this Court entered judgment against Defendant Canada and in favor
of Plaintiffs in the amount of $171,600.00 and in favor of Plaintiffs for immediate possession of
the premises of 670 Page Street, San Francisco, CA. On October 14, 2016, Defendant Canada
filed a Notice of Appeal from August 17, 2016, Order Denying Motion to Set Aside Judgment as
Void. On November 1, 2016, Defendant Canada’s Motion for an Order Determining Security
Pending Appeal and separate Motion for Stay Pending Appeal came of for hearing at 10:00 a.m.
before the Hon. A. James Robertson, II in Department 502 of the above-titled Court, Defendant
Canada appeared by her counsel, Dennis Zaragoza, and Plaintiffs appeared by their counsel

Andrew M. Zacks and Mark B. Chernev. This Court, after having reviewed all of the pleadings,
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and after having conducted .a hearing on the matter and heard argument of counsel for both sides,
and with this Court’s own inherent knowledge of the matter and proceedings extending over six
months, and for good cause shown, grants in part and denies in part Defendant Canada’s Motions
as follows:;

THE COURT FIRST FINDS that the judgment now being appealed constitutes an appeal
from a money judgment pursuant to CCP § 917.1. This Court further finds that this monetary
component is not ancillary or inciéiental to the main provisions of the judgment, declaring the
Deed of Trust foreclosed and the promissory note immediately due and payable in the amount of
$171,600.00. The Court therefore sets security pursuant to paragraph 5 of the judgment and CCP)
§ 917.1 at $171,600.00.

SECOND, THE COURT FINDS that the judgment now being appealed directs the
delivery of possession of real property pursuant to CCP § 917.4. This Court further finds that the
value for the monthly use of the subject property, 670 Page Street, San Francisco, for burposes of
Defendant Canada’s appeal is $23.01/day, the first 365 days of which shall be set in the initial
amount of $8,400, and thereafter shall be set in 90-day increments in the amount of
$2,100/increment, to be posted as securify on or before the first Court day of each 90-day period
while the mafter remains on appeal if and after the first 365 day period expires.

THIRD, THE COURT FINDS that under CCP § 917.6, the judgment directs the
performance of two or more separate acts specified in CCP §§ 917.1 through 917.5, namely the

payment of money pursuant to CCP § 9171 and the delivery of real property pursuantto CCP §
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917.4 so that Defendant Canada must comply with the security requirements of both statutes.

THEREFORE THE COURT FINDS that Defendant Canada’s Motion for Determination

e ] T IS ARTTIOTY t.\ 4_},,

ST ot Do A 1 cuetamd oot 1l
Ot secuiily renaing Appeal is GRANTED xiciit that

provided by her, as principal with sufficient sureties, shall be set, in part, at $171,600 pursuant to
paragraph 5 of the judgment; and, in part, at $8,400 for the first 365 days of the appeal pursuant

to paragraph 1 and 3 of the judgment and CCP § 917.4; for a total of $180,000 pursuant to CCP §
917.6 for the first 365 days of the appeal.
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THE COURT FURTHER DENIES Defendant Canada’s request that the bornd
requirement be waived based on claimed indigency and CCP § 995.240. Defendant Canada’s
evidence does not support a finding of indigency for purposes of entitlement to a waiver under
CCP §995.240. This Court also independently finds that good cause does not exist to exercise
discretion and waive this requirement under the standards set forth in CCP § 995.240 had
Defendant Canada had met the prerequisite showing required by CCP § 995.240.

This Court further explains its reasoning afier having considered all relevant factors
contained in CCP § 995.240 as follows:

CCP §995.240 requires that an appellant claim and show that they are indigent and make
a showing of unsuccessful attempts to obtain a bond or undertaking. (Williams v. Freedomeard,
Inc. (2004) 123 Cal.App.lL‘h 609, 614; citing Ferguson v. Keays (1971) 4 Cal.3d 649, 658-659).
Defendant Canada’s declarations do not support a finding of indigency for purposes of
CCP §995.240. Defendant Canada’s evidence supports essentially that she cannot pay the
accelerated $171,000 and that she has qualified for fee waivers. This Court rejects Defendant
Canada’s argument that qualifications for fee waivers alone would satisfy the burden of
“indigent” for purposes of CCP §995.240 relief, Defendant Canada also fails to show
unsuccessful attempts to obtain bond or undertaking.

Conover v. Hall (1974) 11 Cal.3d 842, on which Defendant Canada relies, merely

rejterates that this Court has discretion to waive a bond. Conover predates CCP § 995.240 and

“did not state or imply that courts must in all cases waive undertaking requirements for indigent

litigants.” (McColm v. Westwood Park Assn. (1998) 62 Cal.App.4th 1211, 1222) In Venice
Canals Resident Home Owners Assn. v. Superior Court (1977) 72 Cal.App.3d 675, 684, the

Court stated:

Al most, Conover v. Hall simply holds that trial courts have common law
authority to dispense with such undertakings under appropriate circumstances.
As indicated by the facts recited above such a showing was not made here.
Petitioner Pearl made no showing that he cannot obtain a stay bond. He has not
even made a showing that he made any attempt to obtain a bond. Under such
circumstances it cannot be said that as a matter of law the trial court abused its
discretion in denying petitioner Pearl's application for a waiver of the stay
bond.

3.
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As this Court explains below, the circumstances of this case heavily weigh in favor
Plaintiffs, as beneficiaries, and denial of the discretionary CCP § 995.240 relief sought.

Second, the rules on trial court fee waivers are not comparable to the standards for
appellate bond waiver, as argued by Defendant Canada. Although Defendant Canada has
qualified for a particular fee waivers in the past, that does not mean she is automatically relieved
of all obligations to post an appellate bond. A fee waiver differs in many respects from an
appellate bond waiver, such as without a trial court fee walver, a defendant would be precluded
from appearing at all to defend itself, and be defaulted. A waiver of an appellate bond differs in
that without posting bond, Defendant Canada may still fully pursue her appeal in a manner
consistent with the factual findings regarding residency previously made by this Court. This
Court finds the requirement to post bond here to be different than where an indigent defendant
could not appear at all in a proceeding based on an inability to post fees, Moreover, this Court
acknowledges that in the event of a reversal on appeal, a trial court could order possession be
restored to Defendant Canada pursuant to the life estate as a remedy.

Third, courts may re-examine in forma pauperis qualification at any time; the
qualification for fee waiver is a dynamic process. The fact that Defendant Canada may have
qualified at some earlier point determined in a pro-forma process to which this Court was not
privy, is not conelusive evidence that she cannot obtain an appeal bond now.,

This Court therefore finds that Defendant Canada’s evidence does not meet the necessary

burden to support a finding of indigency and unsuccessful attempts to obtain bond or undertaking|

pursuant to the prerequisite requirements for a discretionary waiver under CCP §995.240 and her

request is DENIED.
Finally, this Court independently finds that despite Defendant Canada not meeting the
prerequisite showing of indigency pursuant to CCP § 995.240, good cause does not exist to grant

the discretionary relief allowed. The Court makes this determination pursuant to CCP §995.240
after taking onto consideration all factors this Court deems relevant, including and not limited to

the character of the proceedings, the nature of the all beneficiaries, both direct and indirect, and

-4
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the potential harm, to the beneficiaries. The waiving of the requirement of an appellate bond
weighs heavily in favor Plaintiffs and warrants independent DENIAL of the relief sought.

First, this Court previously found that Defendant Canada has failed to permanently reside
at 670 Page Street since 2012 in violation of the obligations of her life estate, which was the
underlying basis for the final judgment. Defendant Canada’s contrary e\;idence in support of her
Motions are an improper attempt to seek reconsideration of that final judgment. Additionally,
the Court finds that Plaintiffs’ evidence in opposition substantially outweighs any admissible
evidence submitted by Defendant Canada and therefore this Court gives little weight to any
alleged hardship based on Defendant Canada’s claimed possessory interest at 670 Page Street.

Second, after having reviewed the Declarations of Plaintiffs Peter Owens and Carolyn
Radisch, as direct beneficiaries of the appealed order pursuant to CCP §995.240, as well as the
Declarations of Alexander Apke, Christopher Beahn, Anna Munoz, Geoffrey Pierce and Jamie
Pierce, as indirect beneficiaries pursuant to CCP §995.240, this Court finds the harm suffered by
all beneficiaries to substantially outweigh the evidence supporting harm suffered by Defendant
Canada. This Court finds the evidence supporting the harm suffered by all beneficiaries to be
persuasive, substantial and relevant to the decision of this Court to require a bond in the denial to
exercise discretion ptxrsuant to CCP § 995.240. The harm suffered bylall beneficiaries is
financial, emotional, personal and professional. Plaintiffs are suffering the continued deprivation
of use of their real property after findings of fact have been made regarding Defendant Canada’s
failu;'e to permanently reside. All beneficiaries are also suffering an inability to convert the
building to condominiums while the window permitting them to do so closes. Beneficiaries are
also suffering the financial hardship based on the continued inability to refinance the ARM
mortgages to lower fixed rate traditional mortgages. The Court further finds persuasive and
substantial the evidence supporting the character of the action and proceeding, and the tactics
employed by Defendant Canada throughout this litigation, not limited to procedural violations
and affirmative acts to cause unnccessary delay, such as the two improper removals to Federal
éouxT on the dates set for trial and the direct violations of numerous Court arders, Additionally,

subsequent to judgment being entered, this Court granted Defendant Canada her motion for relief
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from forfeiture with conditions that Defendant Canada has failed to comply with while

2 || continuing to dispute this Court’s authority to do so, in addition to the eleven stays so far
3 || granted. |
4 This Court finds that after having reviewed all of the evidence preserted, heard argument
5 || on the issues, and with the Court’s own independent knowledge of the proceedings for well over
6 || six months, after taking onto consideration all factors which this Court deems relevant, that good
7 || cause does not exist for tigis Court to exercise discretion to waive the provision of bond pursuant
8 || to CCP § 995.240 independently from Defendant Canada’s failure to meet her initial burden
9 || evidencing she is indigent for purposes of CCP § 995.240. Defendant Canada’s request for relief]
10 || pursuant to CCP § 995.240 is DENIED.
11 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED THAT Defendant’s Motion for Stay Pending Appeal is
12 || DENIED to the extent Defendant’s Motion seeks relief otherwise determined by CCP §§ 916-
13 11936.1 and this Court will not issue any Orderina mannex 1ncon31stent with that authorlty CCp
14 ||§8 916-936.1 shall control.” (Lv 3::/((1,@ ud &1 ’TL @%EZJ L@uw%' Eos
1S | e, vn&?&: 'ié’i‘)'?ff:@u%ﬁ;) f}“ﬁfﬁ %’riu gt G % =
16 || Dated: - Y /ﬁ/’fnﬁg&r‘,{f; g/
17 - Supertor 02@}5{“& 3 /,,;Mfg 35 ?1;
18 gww,ﬁ?, 2 5/’” zviy
19
20 )
2]
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
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Superior Court of California
County of San Francisco

PETER M OWENS,
' Case Number: CGC-14-543437
Plaintiff,
CERTIFICATE OF MAILING
Vs, (CCP 1013a (4))
IRIS CANADA et al
Defendant,

I, Robert Goulding, a Deputy Clerk of the Superior Court of the County of San Francisco,
certify that I am not a party to the within action.

On January 25, 2017, I served the attached Order Setting Security Pending Appeal
and Findings on Motion for Stay Pending Appeal by e-mail to the addressed as follows as

well as placing a copy thereof in a sealed envelope, addressed as follows:

Andrew Zacks Dennis Zaragosa,

Mtk Chernev Law Offices of Dennis Zaragoza
Zacks & Freeman PO Box 15128

235 Montgomery St., Suite 400 A ’
San Francisco, CA 94104 San Francisco, CA 94115
az(@zfolaw.com lawzarsf@gmail.com

and I then placed the sealed envelopes in the outgoing mail at 400 McAllister Street, San
Francisco, CA. 94102 on the date indicated above for collection, attachment of required prepaid
postage, and mailing on that date following standard court practices.:

Dated: January 25, 2017

= ,I}/o Sett G ing, Deputy Clerk
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Andrew M. Zacks (SBN 147794) F lm!ﬁ E»Dn
Mark B. Chernev (SBN 264946 San Franlese Uy Biparar e

ZACKS & FREEDMAN, P.C. HAR ﬂ:E zmg
§35 %Aontgome ASgg;z&Suite 400 ‘

an Francisco, T
Tel: (415) 956-8100 CLERKOF OUR
Fax: (415) 288-9755 BY: W) u{yél-er
Attorneys for Plaintiffs, '

Peter M. Owens, et al.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED JURISDICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual, Case No.: CGC-14-543437
CAROLYN A. RADISCH, an individual,
STEPHEN L. OWENS, an individual, JUDGMENT

Plaintiffs,
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IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD ,
REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California
corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive,

Defendants
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This action came on regularly for trial on March 21, 2016 in Department 502 of the
Superior Court of California, County of San Francisco, the Hon;)rable James A. Robertson, I1
Judge Presiding; Plaintiffs appeared by their counsel Mark B. Chernev of Zacks & Freedman,
P.C., Defendant Iris Canada failed to appear.

The Court, having read and considered the papers and evidence submitted, including

the Notice of Time and Place of Trial served on Defendant, Iris Canada, finds as follows:
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1 1. Defendant Iris Canada was properly served pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure |
2 || §594 with a Notice of Time and Place of Trial on February 2, 2016, noticing Defendant Iris
3 || Canada of the trial date of March 21, 2016;
4 2. Defendant Iris Canada failed to appear at the March 2.1, 2016 trial;
Z 3. The March 21, 2016 trial was continued to March 22, 2016 to permit Plaintiffs
7 the opportunity to prepare a prove up of their cause of action based on Defendant Iris Canada’s
8 || failure to appear;
9 4, Defendant Iris Canada was properly noticed of the continued trial date and for
10 prove up hearing to be heard on March 22, 2016;
J ‘2 § 1; 5. The Court conducted a prove up hearing on March 22, 2016, at which time the
Qéh? % 13 || Court took judicial notice of the documents presented by Plaintiffs and heard testimony from
%gé 14 || Plaintiff, Peter M. Owens and non-party witness Geoff Pierce;
g g g 15 6. Defendant Iris Canada failed to appear at the properly noticed March 22, 2016
§ § é i: continued trial date and for prove up hearing.
8 % 18 After having heard and reviewed evidence presented by Plaintiffs, and after having
19 |imade a determination that the evidx.anccgresented by Plaintiffs appears to be just, and the
20 || failure of Defendant Iris Canada to appear at the properly noticed time and date for trial,
21 judgment shall be entered in favor of Plaintiffs, and against Defendant Iris Canada. Therefor,
ji IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED THAT: judgment in this action
24 shall be in favor of Plaintiffs Peter M. Owens, Carolyn A. Radisch, and Stephen L. Owens, and
25 || against Defendant Iris Canada for:
26
27
28
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. Immediate possession of the premises of 670 Page Street, San Francisco, California
against any and all occupants, and a writ of posse§sion against Iris Canada and any and
all occupants, known or unknown, shall issue;
. The Deed of Trust DOC-2005-1054456-00 is foreclosed and 670 Page Street, San
Francisco, California shall revert back to Plaintiffs, and that Defendant Iris Canada is
barred and forecldsed from all rights, claims, interests, or equity of redemption in the
subject property when time for redemption has elapsed;

. Defendant Iris Canada’s Life Estate DOC-2005-1054455-00 is terminated and any and
all property interests currently held by Defendant Iris Canada in 670 Page Street, San
Francisco, California are terminated and shall revert back to Plaintiffs;
. Defendant Iris Canada, her agents, and/or anyone acting on her behalf shall cease and
desist causing or permitting waste to occur at 670 Page Street, San Francisco,
California;

The Promissory Note, dated October 6, 2005 and executed by Defendant Iris Canada
has become immediately due and payable and judgment éhall be entered against
Defendant Iris Canada for the sum of $171,600.00 in favor of Plaintiffs, the exact

amount prayed for in Plaintiffs’ Complaint,

THE HON®SRABLEAAMES A.

3.
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San Francisco

California 94104 Vig Hand Delivery and Email

Ph: (415) 362-3599
Fax: (415) 362-2006  Rich Hillis, President
www.mosconelaw.com  oan Francisco Planning Commission
1650 Mission Street, Suite 400
San Francisco, CA 94102-4689

Re: 668-678 Page Street Condo Conversion Application

Dear President Hillis and Members of the Planning Commission:

I write to follow up on the January 11 hearing you held on this
matter, and in anticipation of your further consideration of this
matter at your March 8 meeting. You heard from many opponents
on January 11 who told you a tale that, if true, would make any
reasonable person want to find a way to deny this application. As
described to you by the opponents, the applicants evicted 100-year-
old Iris Canada, lied to the City about whether Ms. Canada was
residing at 670 Page Street, took advantage of her by obtaining a
judgment when Ms. Canada had no lawyer representing her, and
then told Ms. Canada she could move back to her Page Street unit
only if she paid them over $100,000 awarded by the court. That
certainly sounds like shameful conduct - if it were true.

But the allegations you heard that day are not true, as documents and
sworn testimony prove. Ms. Canada was an owner of, not a tenant in,
her unit. As such, she could not be “evicted.” And Ms. Canada was
not residing in her unit. Ms. Canada left her unit in 2012 to move in
with her grand-niece, Iris Merriouns, in Oakland because she was no
longer able to care for herself. Ms. Merriouns testified to this under
oath. The sworn testimony of all Ms. Canada’s neighbors
corroborates this. This meant that Ms. Canada failed to comply with
her ownership obligations under her life estate and, because of the
intransigence of her grand-niece, Mr. Owens was forced, by the
agreement’s terms, to obtain a court order foreclosing her life estate.
This action - foreclosure against a defaulting owner - in no way
disqualifies a building under San Francisco’s condo conversion
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ordinance. And contrary to what you heard on January 11, Ms. Canada had
ample legal counsel. During this whole process, she was represented by at
least ten different attorneys, and at least four different attorneys appeared on
her behalf in court.

Finally, after months of litigation in which Ms. Canada’s attorneys and Ms.
Merriouns were repeatedly sanctioned by the Superior Court for misconduct,
and which resulted in judgment for Mr. Owens including a monetary award
of over $169,000, Mr. Owens offered to (a) let Ms. Canada return to her Page
Street unit, (b) permit her to reside there with a caregiver (even though the
life estate did not permit a second resident), and (c) not enforce the court’s
monetary award.! That’s right, Mr. Owens said, effectively, “come on back
and live at Page Street and I'll absorb all the attorneys’ fees you and your
grand-niece forced me to incur.” But at her grand-niece’s insistence, and
against the advice of her attorneys, Ms. Canada turned this down. Why?
Because her grand-niece insisted that Mr. Owens sell the Page Street unit to
her at a windfall price. Just who is exploiting whom in this scenario?

The point of this letter is to substantiate these verifiable facts and differentiate
them from the unsupported accusations made by the opponents at the January
hearing, so that this Commission can make an informed decision on March 8.

Iris Canada Did Not Reside at 670 Page Street

You heard several people say that they “know” that Iris Canada lived at 670
Page Street because they saw her picture in the paper or saw her photo being
taken at a press event sitting on a couch in the unit. Here are the facts, taken
from testimony under oath.

Ms. Canada’s grand-niece Iris Merriouns testified under oath that Ms. Canada
had been living with Ms. Merriouns in Oakland and attending adult daycare
in Oakland since at least May 2014. “She stays with me most nights, wherever
I am, she is.” (Exhibit A at 34:9-10; 41:23-25; 121:5-9.) Ms. Merriouns also
testified she had been her primary caregiver since December 2012 (Exhibit A
at 43:10-16; 82:7-11) and that she did not trust Ms. Canada “to stay by herself,

1 Commissioners, if you read nothing else attached to this letter, please read
Exhibits S, T and U which detail the offers Mr. Owens made to Ms. Canada that
would have allowed her to return to Page Street.
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especially at the Page Street address.” (Exhibit A at 31:15-22; 32:10-16; 42:18-
43:16.)

All of Ms. Canada’s neighbors testified under oath that starting in 2012, Ms.
Canada no longer appeared to be living at 670 Page Street. For example,
Anna Munoz lives in 676 Page Street and passed by Ms. Canada’s door
regularly. (Exhibit B at 1:21-26; 4:20-24.) Prior to 2012, Ms. Munoz saw and
talked with Ms. Canada on a regular basis. From 2012 forward, she only saw
Ms. Canada on rare occasions “when she would arrive at the building with
Iris Merriouns. They would arrive, stay for a few hours and then leave and
not be seen again for several months.” (Exhibit B at 2:16-20.)

Jamie Anne Pierce testified that in 2014 she moved into 668 Page Street,
directly adjacent to 670 Page Street. (Exhibit C at 1:25-28.) The two
apartments share a sixty-foot-long common wall. For approximately 17
months, she never saw Ms. Canada, “never heard people walking the length
of the hallway, never witnesses [sic] anyone coming or going from the
entryway, never heard a television, radio, alarm clocks or even people talking
in the adjacent apartment.” (Exhibit C at 2:1-8.) In December 2014, the smoke
detector went off in Ms. Canada’s apartment and continued beeping for six
weeks. (Exhibit C at 2:9-16.)

Geoffrey Pierce testified that he had lived at 668 Page Street since 2008. When
he moved into 668 Page Street he “would typically see Iris Canada 3-4 times
per week. Our interactions were always very cordial and I would regularly
help her retrieve mail from the landing just below ours. This type of common
interaction continued for approximately 4 years.” (Exhibit D at 2:1-6.) Things
changed in 2012. “Between the summer of 2012 and the beginning of 2015, I
only saw Iris Canada at the building two times, once in late 2014 when her
niece, Iris Merriouns, specifically brought her to the building and proceeded
to knock on my door to proclaim that Iris, ‘was in the building’.” (Exhibit D
at 2:7-14.) Mr. Pierce also testified:

Based on the proximity of my residence to Iris Canada's and our
shared common wall, I used to hear typical residential sounds
coming from her unit, not limited to people walking the length
of the hallway, television, radio, alarm clocks and talking and 1
would normally hear people coming to visit her approximately
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once a week. Between summer 2012 and the spring of 2015 I did
not hear any such sounds emanating from her residence.

(Exhibit D at 2:21-3:17.)

Christopher Beahn testified that he, his wife and their two children reside in
674 Page Street, directly above Ms. Canada’s unit. (Exhibit E at 1:23-26.) Mr.
Beahn stated:

Seeing Iris Canada several times per week was a normal part of
our lives. She popped her head out whenever someone would
come up the stairs, asking for, help getting her mail or just
chatting. She loved to pet our dog, and talk about her years
living in the building with her husband James. She would show
us his artwork and spoke about how he was a welder. Then in
July 2012, we were unable to get Iris to answer her door, and
were understandably concerned. We eventually discovered that
her niece Iris Merriouns had removed Iris Canada to Oakland
due to the state of the apartment. We did not see Iris Canada
again until late 2015.

(Exhibit E at 2:1-8.)

Mr. Beahn also listed other reasons why it was clear to him that Ms. Canada
moved outin 2012: “We never saw Iris Canada”; “There was no discernable
activity or sounds emanating from the unit”; “Aside from some hired cleaners
in July of 2012, we did not see anyone remove garbage or recycling from the
unit”; “The regular delivery of Meals on Wheels ceased”; “There was no
indication of regular mail service”; a “loud beeping noise . . . went on for
more than a month”; Ms. Canada no longer was heating her apartment; and
“packages or letters were left in front” of her door and “remained untouched
for weeks or even months at a time.” (Exhibit E at 2:13-3:14.)

Michel Bechirian testified that he lived at 678 Page since 2003. He said that
for about nine years he typically saw Ms. Canada “approximately 3-4 times
per week.” “Our interactions typically involved neighborly chitchat, asking
after her relatives and church friends, I would sometimes bring Iris fresh
produce from the farmer's market and Iris Canada would also share stories
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with me about her youth.” (Exhibit F at 2:1-8.) He stopped seeing her in
2012.2 (Exhibit F at 2:13-16.)

Alexander Apke testified that he lived at 676 Page since 2010. When he first
moved in he “would regularly see Iris Canada at least 3 times a week. She
opened the door to her unit 670 Page Street whenever someone opened the
building front door or when I walked down the stairs and past her unit. We
used to have conversations about the weather, recently visiting friends and
relatives, and her home. Particularly she liked talking about when she moved
from the top floor of the building down to 670 Page Street. I always helped
her bringing the mail from the mailboxes on the ground floor, up to her unit
on the first floor.” (Exhibit G at 2:1-8.) That stopped in late 2012 as did Ms.
Canada’s regular Meals on Wheels deliveries. (Exhibit G at 2:9-15.) (The
certified records of Meals on Wheels of San Francisco confirm this ~ showing
the Ms. Canada’s service was temporarily suspended on July 6, 2012 and then
permanently cancelled on October 2, 2012. [Exhibit H].) Mr. Apke also
testified that about five days before a staged press event showing Ms. Canada
supposedly watching television in her unit, a Comcast truck installed service
at 670 Page Street. (Exhibit G at 3:9-19.)

Peter Owens testified that when he traveled to San Francisco in late May 2014
to meet a building inspector at the apartment it was obvious no one had
resided in the unit for a very long time

First, the toilet bowl was bone dry, as all of the water from the
bowl had evaporated. The bathtub in the bathroom had mold in
it and also had obviously not been used for a very long time.
Rodent traps and roach traps lined most all of the walls of the
apartment and virtually all of the furniture was stacked up in the
center of the back rooms. It was patently obvious nobody had
used the furniture in a very long time. Additionally, the beds

2 Speakers accused Mr. Bechirian of duplicity for submitting a discretionary
review application in 2014 in which he asserted a proposed project would
interfere with light to Ms. Canada’s unit. At that time, Mr. Becharian knew Ms.
Canada had been absent from her unit for quite some time, but he did not learn
until later in 2014 that Ms. Canada has permanently relocated to her grand-
niece’s home in Oakland.
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were covered with bags of old clothes, evidencing that nobody
had used either the clothing or the beds in a very long time. The
refrigerator was completely empty except for about two-dozen
Dr. Pepper cans that I could not determine how long they had
been there. There was vermin excrement on top of all of tables
and all of the shelves in the kitchen, also evidencing that nobody
had been in the apartment for a very long time. Large piles of
trash blocked the back porch door, and there were rolls and rolls
of urine-soaked and feces- infested carpeting. The smell alone
was horrendous, further evidencing that nobody had lived in the
apartment for a very long time. The calendar in the kitchen
displayed the month “July 2012.”

(Exhibit I at 8:1-17 with attached photographs).

While it is abundantly clear that Ms Canada had not been residing in the unit
since 2012, some Commissioners questioned the applicants’ use of the word
“vacant” on the six-year occupancy history section of the application. While
it is true that Ms Canada’s furniture remained in the unit even after she
moved out in 2012, the application’s questions about occupancy do not relate
to whether there is furniture in the unit; they are concerned with whether a
person lives there. In this case, the application was prepared by an attorney
with decades of experience in condo conversion applications who followed
the standard DPW convention in preparation of the application: if the unit is
occupied, the occupant is named; if the unit is unoccupied the unit is
considered vacant. (Exhibit ].) As the court confirmed in its ruling, Ms.
Canada had not resided in the unit since 2012. (Exhibit K.)

In short, the people who actually live in these units, and who actually knew
Iris Canada, testified under oath that she stopped living there in 2012, and
only occasionally reappeared after this litigation in 2015 and 2016 for staged
press events. And this timeline aligns with the sworn testimony of Ms.
Canada’s grand-niece who testified that Ms. Canada had, in fact, been living
with her in Oakland, and was not capable of caring for herself at the Page
Street address.
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Iris Canada Was Not “Evicted”

Many opponents advanced the narrative that Iris Canada was a tenant
evicted by the applicants in 20173 But the verifiable facts show that in 2005,
Iris Canada (with the advice of her own attorney) converted her tenancy into
a deeded life estate in 670 Page Street. (Exhibits L and M.) As such, Ms.
Canada was an owner of, not a tenant residing in, 670 Page Street. The City
itself found this to be true in 2014 when it told the residents that they could
not convert the units from TICs to condominiums without Ms. Canada’s
signature because she was the owner of 670 Page Street. (Exhibit N and
Exhibit ].)

The San Francisco Superior Court did not order that Ms. Canada be evicted
from her unit. Rather, it found that her actions since 2012 resulted in the
termination of her life estate, and that the Deed of Trust was foreclosed upon.
(Exhibit K at 3:4-12.) Thus, Ms. Canada was the equivalent of a homeowner
who moved out of her home and failed to make mortgage payments,
resulting in a foreclosure by a lender. She was not a tenant, Mr. Owens was
not her landlord, she had not resided there for five years, and she was not
“evicted” in any legal or practical sense.

Iris Canada Had No Legal Representation

Speaker after speaker bemoaned the fact that the Superior Court entered a
judgment against Ms. Canada even though she was not represented by an
attorney. This is simply false. Iris Canada had no fewer than ten attorneys
representing her during this dispute: Steve Collier (who, among other things,
helped her negotiate the terms of the life estate), Tom Drohan, Robert
DeVries, Mary Catherine Wiederhold, David Larson, John Cooke, Mitchell
Abdallah, Michael Spalding, Steven MacDonald, and Dennis Zaragoza.
(Exhibit O at 113, 7 through 10, 18, 20, 22 and 32.) Four of these attorneys are
noted on the Superior Court’s records; i.e., the officially appeared in court on
Ms. Canada’s behalf. (Exhibit P.) Not only was she represented, but some of
her attorneys employed aggressive — even abusive - litigation tactics. They

3 The speakers and this Commission seem to treat all the applicants as one entity.
Please keep in mind there are 11 separate applicants, and none of them other
than Mr. Owens and his family members was a party to the litigation resulting in
termination of Ms. Canada'’s life estate.
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defied court orders, sought to derail the litigation by filing papers not only in
San Francisco Superior Court but also federal district court and federal
bankruptcy court, and failed to comply with discovery obligations.

(Exhibit O.) On at least five separate occasions, the San Francisco Superior
Court imposed monetary sanctions on Ms. Canada’s attorneys (and Ms.
Merriouns) for their abusive conduct. (Exhibit K at I 13, 14, 16 and 20.)

Even After Winning the Court Case, Mr. Owens Offered to Allow Ms.
Canada to Resume Living at Page Street and to Waive His Award of
Attorneys’ Fees

Several speakers claimed that Mr. Owens demanded that Ms. Canada pay
over $100,000 in attorneys’ fees if she wanted to move back in to her Page
Street unit. This is directly contrary to the actual, verifiable facts.

At the conclusion of the litigation, the Superior Court ordered that Ms.
Canada was responsible to pay Mr. Owens $169,466.23 in attorneys’ fees he
incurred. (Exhibit Q.) When Ms. Canada sought to have the judgment set
aside, the Superior Court — not Mr. Owens - said it would set aside the
judgment if Ms. Canada paid Mr. Owens the $169,466.23.

But Mr. Owens never sought that money from Ms. Canada. To the contrary,
he repeatedly offered to let Ms. Canada move back to Page Street and forgive
the money she owed under the court’s order. This is extraordinary. After
months of litigation, being demonized in the press, and having to resign his
job as a result of this situation, Mr. Owens offered to let it all go. (Exhibit R
1914 through 20.)

For example, in court in April 2016, Mr. Owens offered to restore Ms.
Canada’s life estate and waive the court’s award of attorneys’ fees in
exchange for Ms. Canada cooperating in the condominium conversion
process. Ms. Canada’s attorneys advised her to agree to this generous offer,
but her grand-niece convinced her to turn it down. (Exhibit R, T 34.)

On June 30, 2016, Mr. Owens wrote to Ms. Canada. I strongly encourage you
to read the letter, attached as Exhibit S, but here is the offer he made:
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10.

Peter, Carolyn and Stephen will forgive the $169,466.23
legal fees due to us per condition #1 of Court Order dated
April 27, 2016 and the related Order dated June 8, 2016.
Peter, Carolyn and Stephen will accept arrears payments
made to date as “payment in full” through May 2016 per
condition #2 of Court Order dated April 27, 2016.

Peter, Carolyn and Stephen will offer to strike condition #5
of Court Order dated April 27, 2016 and replace it with a
simple promise from Iris Canada and her family to keep us
apprised by email if Iris needs to or expects to be away from
her home for an extended period of time.

All of the rights and responsibilities contained in the entire
Deed of Trust, the Grant of Life Estate, the Promissory
Note, and the Order dated April 27, 2016 will remain in
effect, except as set forth by terms 1, 2 and 3 above.

Iris Canada will make herself available and execute all
required condo conversion documents for 668-678 Page
Street.

Iris Canada will cooperate as required for any and all
additional work related to the condo conversion process for
668-678 Page Street, which includes the code compliance
work and executing the follow-up declarations which must
completed approximately one year from now.

Peter, Carolyn and Stephen will guarantee Iris Canada that
she will have no financial obligations related the conversion
process.

Peter, Carolyn and Stephen and the other building owners
will guarantee that Iris Canada is not waiving any rights by
signing the documents.

Peter, Carolyn and Stephen will work with Iris Canada and
her family to make any reasonable accommodation to help
Iris Canada age in place so long is it does not jeopardize
their ownership rights following the Iris Canada’s passing,
however Iris Canada remains precluded from permitting
any tenancies to be established at 670 Page Street.

Peter, Carolyn and Stephen, Iris Canada and the other
building owners, will work in good faith to ensure a safe
and peaceful environment at 668-678 Page Street for all
residents, and especially for our elder Iris Canada.
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On August 9, 2016, Mr. Owens wrote to Ms, Canada’s grand-niece, Iris
Merriouns, making a similar offer:

Waiving all attorney’s fees

Accepting arrears payments

Waiving all conditions of judgment

Waiving all court ordered sanctions and penalties

Setting aside the judgment

Rights for a live-in caregiver

Improvements to the unit

Right of first refusal if unit is ever sold

Guarantee of no liability or waiving of rights from cooperation
Guarantee of no financial obligation from cooperation

(Exhibit T.)

But these offers were turned down, because Ms. Merriouns really wanted to
use this situation to strongarm Mr. Owens into a forced sale at a windfall
price. ¢ (Exhibit R, 1137-39, Exhibit U and Exhibit V.)

In sum, Mr. Owens did everything reasonably within his power to let Ms.
Canada to live out her days at Page Street. All his efforts were rejected. Ms.
Merriouns likewise rejected all efforts the City put forward to assist Ms.
Canada: “[Supervisor] Breed addressed the eviction on Twitter, saying that
she had tried to help Canada for years, including offering housing options but
Canada and Merriouns were not interested in the services Breed had offered.”
(Exhibit V.)

The Applicants Ask to be Treated Like All Other Applicants
As your January 11, 2018, staff report acknowledges, this application “meets

the requirement for condominium conversion under the California State Map
Act and the San Francisco Subdivision Code.” No one has submitted any

¢ Even though Mr. Owens had no interest in or obligation to sell the unit, as part
of a settlement offer he did offer Ms. Canada and Ms. Merriouns the right to
purchase after conversion - the same right a tenant would have had.
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evidence calling these conclusions into question. As such, the City has no
lawful basis for denying this application.

Two Commissioners suggested that this application should be denied because
the Commission should only grant uncontested applications, or because
condominium conversions do not preserve or enhance the City’s supply of
affordable housing. Regarding the first point, all the owners of all the units
support this application. The opponents are not residents of the building or
neighbors. Will the Commission turn down any application if an anti-
condominium conversion activist appears before the Commission in
opposition to an application? Even when the opponent’s assertions are false?
If so, the City should make applicants aware of that City policy.

Regarding the second point, if the Commission turns down this application
because it is inconsistent with the Commission’s views on affordable housing,
will it turn down every conversion application? The legislation creating this
conversion process expressly balances the need for maintaining affordable
housing and strikes a balance under which conversions are permitted and
substantial fees assessed, in part to address affordability concerns.

(Exhibit W). This Commission does not have the authority to reject the
wisdom of the Board of Supervisors in striking this legislative balance.

The applicants simply ask that the Commission apply the same rules to this
application as it does to all the other conversion applications that come before
it. The emotional appeal of the opponents’ remarks is undeniably powerful.
But, when the Commission separates fact from fiction, it should conclude that
these applicants are entitled to convert their homes to condominiums.

Sincergl

G. ge
cc:  Members of the Planning Commission
David Weissglass
- Jonas Ionin
Kate Stacy
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SUPERIOR COURT ~— STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO
UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION

—000~-

PETER M. OWENS, an Individual,

CAROLYN A. RADISCH, an individual,

STEPHEN L. OWENS, an individual,

Plaintiffs,

vs. NO. CGC-14-543437

IRIS CANADA, an individual, OLD

REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California

coxrporation, and DOES 1-~10, inclusive,

Defendants.

DEPOSITION OF
IRIS MERRIOUNS

Octobexr 7, 2015

REPORTER: KYLE MCLEAN, CSR # 13787 JOB 17661

%’1 BXCEEDING YOUR FXPECTATIONS

(COMBS REPORTING, INC.

DEPOSITION REPORVERS + LEGAL VIDR(
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1 0. I asked you why you stayed at 670 Page Street

2 last night, and you said "We decided to."

3 And I'm asking you who is the "we" that made

4 the decision that you were going to stay at 670 Page

5 Street last night?

6 A, My aunt and I.

7 Q. And what was the discussion that you had that

8 led yéu to the conclusion that you were going to stay at
9 670 Page Street last night?

10 A. Well, she had some things that she has to do to
11 her residence, and so we had an appointment there. And
12 so that's why we stayed there. _

13 Q. 8o she typically does not stay there?

14 A. We're back énd forth.

15 | Q. So wﬁén-you staj iﬁ 9969 Empireroad, your aunt

16 1is with you?

17 A, Typically she's with me, and if she has an

18 appointment, she's over here and in San Franciseo,
ﬁlQ depending on who has the free time.

20 Q. Can she stay by herself?

21 A. I don't trust her to stay by herself,

22 especially at the Page Street address. 4

23 Q; So you don;t feel comfortable leaving her ét

24 the Page Street address alone?

25 A. My aunt suffered a stroke recently.

%\_‘ ] nxmc Youu mnc-m@s
(C OMBS REPORTING, INC.

DEPOSTION REPORTARS » LRGAL VIDEO
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Qa
A.
Qc

We're talking about Iris Canada?
Yes, we're talking about Iris Canada.

So she doesn't stay there by herself because

you don't feel comfortable that she can be there by

herself?
A,

0.

She suffered a stroke.

I'm not questioning about the reasons for it.

I'm just trying to get an understanding of whether or

not she is able to take care of herself.

herself?

A.

Do you think she's able to take care of

I think that Iris Canada should not stay on her

;13 own. She's 99 years old.
14 0. When was the last time that she was having an
15 evening by herself that you're aware of?
I 16 A. I don't leave her by herself ever.
17 0. When did you start taking care of her?
18 A. Probably in 2014.
19 Q. 1In 20142
20 A. Mm-hmm.
21 0. So at this"point -~ 80 you're telling me that
22 you don't feel comfortable that your aunt can stay by
23 herself and it's been at least that way since 2014.
24 And is it fair to say that every night,
25 wherever you are, she's with you?

d%q EXCERDING YOUR EXPECTATIONS
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A. I have no idea.

i

2 Q; Was it more than half?

3 A. I have no idea. September of when? Last year?

4 0. Last month.

5 A. Oh, I'm sorry. We are in October.

6 0. ﬁow many months'—- how manyvdays of September

7 would you say that your aunt stayed with you on Empire

8 Road?

9 A. She stayed with me most nights. Wherever I am,
10 she is. We were in L.A. in September. We were in -- we
11 traveled most of the weekend. 8o she's with me.

12 Q. And why is shéValwhys with you?
13 A, Because she likes being with me.
14 Q. BAnd she can't take care of herself? Or you
115 don't, at least, feel comfortable with her taking care
16 of herself?
17 A. Since she suffered the stroke at the hands of
18 hér neighbors, no, I don't feel comfortable with her in
19 670 Page StreetNalone, if that's your gquestion.
20 Q. When did she have her stroke?
21 A. She had her stroke on May 8th that was induced
22 by pounding on the walle from her neighbors at 670 Page
23 Street, that reside and own units at 670 Page Street.
24 0. So it's your opinion that her neighbors caused
25 her to have a stroke?

%\ EXCEXDING YOUR RXPECTATIONS
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1 0. 2nd she needs somebody with her in the
2 evenings, and she needs somebody with hexr during the
3 day?
4 A. I think it's -- since her stroke, yeah.
7”5 0. And whére does she spend the majority of her
6 days? .
7 A, She attends an adult daycare program.
8 0. And where is that at?
9 A. That's in Oakland.
10 0. How does she get there?
11 A.. Different ways. -Sometimes she's transported
12 through a service and sometimes I take her. Sometimes
13 another relative takes her. ‘
14 0. You take her in the morning or you take her
15 like on your way to work?
16 A. She goes in the morning.
17 0. They have a shuttle that comes --
18 A. Sometimes she goes in the afternoon. Sometimes
19 they pick her up.
20 Q. BAnd how many days a week would you say she does
21 +that? Three or four or five?
22 A. Four,
23 0. Four days a week?
24 A. Yeah.
25 0. How many times a month? Most every week?

. %\ EXCREDING YOUR REXPECTATIONS
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Most of the time?

1 0.

2 A. She's usually with me.

3 0. And when she stays at the residence at éity

4 College, does she stay with you there?

5 A, No, I don't stay.

6 ¢. You don't stay there with her?

7 A. No. But she's with a relative.

8 0. Where does she stay when you're at Marion's

9 house?
10 A. She's with me, That's why I'm there.
11 9. No, no. I'm sorry.
12 Where does Iris Canada stay when you're at
13 Marion's house?
14 A, She's there.
15 0. So she will stay with you when you stay at
16 Marion's house?
17 A, Yes.
18 0. 8o when was théuiésﬁ time that Iris Canada ever
19 stayed at 670 Page Street by herself?
20 A. She's not stayed at 670 Page Street by herself
21 £for a while.
22 0. A year?
23 A. When she's there, there are people there with
24 her.
25 0. So the only time that you're comfortable with

EXCIEDING YOUR EXPECTATIONS
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her staying at Page Street is when somebody is with her?

1
2 A, VYes.
3 Q. And the majority of the time she's with you,
4 and she's either staying on Empire Road or she's staying
5 with Marion by City College?
6 A. Or other relatives. Sometimes she's in L.A.
7 If she's in L.A. -~ she was with my Aunt Julia or with
8 my other aunt. When she was in Texas, she was with my
9 uncle.

10 Q. Who would you consider to be the person that

11 takes care of Iris Canada the most?

{12 A. When she's in California, I would say it would

13 be me,

14 0. You're the primary caregiver for her?

15 A. Yes. I would say since 2012, more since my mom

16 died because, prior to that, it's my mom.

17 | Q.‘ Does anybody help you?

18 A. Right now?

19 0. Yeah.

20 "A. It's very difficult.

21 Q. Do you get any help from Marion?

22 A. Yeah, Marion helps me.

23 Q. How often does she help you?

24 A. When she can.

25 Q. What does she do? Does she watch her for a

@\ EXCEEDING YOUR EXPRCTATIONS
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your aunt spent the night at Page Street?

taking care of her on a reqular hasis?

1

2 A, Last night.

3 Q. And excluding last night and Sunday?

4 A. Exact dates, I can't give you exact dates,

5 0. But it's before her stroke?

6 A, VYes.

7 Q. Prior to her having her stroke, were you still
8

9

A. Pretty much.
10 Q. And that started around the summer of 2012?
11 A, No. In December of 2012 -- |
12 0. Let's go back. |
13 A, ~= 1 wag --
14 ‘ Q.u I'll withdraw the question. 1I'll ask the
15 question a different way.
16 You remember on -~ around July of 2012 there
17 was an incident when your aunt had gone missing.

18
19
20
21
22
1 23
24
25

Somebody was concerned that she was missing.

A.
Q.
A.
Q.

Excuse me?
That she was migsing.
My aunt has never gone missing.

Somebody in the building was concerned that she

hadn't returned or she wasn't there.

AC
Q.

Excuse me?

Okay. What made you go over there that time in

%’\ EXCEEDING Y(OUR EXPRCTATIONS
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0. I'm going to show you a document.

Now, you're telling me you can't see this
because you don't have your glasses on? ‘

A, I'm felling you that I can't read it because I
don't have my glasses on.

Q. From what you can make out, do you recognize
that? MHave you ever seen anything that looks similar to
that before?

A. I cannot make this out., and I'm not going to
say that I've seen this because I can't make this out.

Q. 8o it's youf testimony that the first time that
you ever learned that you had to appear at a deposition

was when we were in court and Judge Quidachay told you

14 that you needed to appear?
15 A. Yes. When I kunew that I was subpoenaed --
16 Q. Very well. When -- so you had indicated that
17 besides the health reasons that you go to L.A., which is
18 recently, within the past few months or so, I guess
19 since May, you spend half of your time on Empire Road
20 and half of your time at the house -~ or at the
21 residence by City College; correct?
22 A. Yes.
23 0. And when you stay at 9969 Empire Road, Iris
24 Canada stays with you?
25 A. Yes.

%‘L“ ] ;XG;RSDMGYMWM‘IOK;S

(CoMBs REPORTING, INC.

DIPOSITION REPORTRRS » LEGAL VIDEO

2310




ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
235 MONTGORMERY STREET, SUITE 400
SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94104

| T S T e S e T i G

Andrew M. Zacks (SBN 147794)

Mark B. Chernev (SBN 264946)

ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400

San Francisco, CA 94104

Tel: 415.956.8100

Fax: 415288.9755

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
Peter M. Owens
Carolyn A. Radisch
Stephen L. Owens

ELECTRONICALLY

FILED

Superter Court of Caltfornia,
County of San Franclsco

10/28/2016
Clerk of the Court
BY:CAROL BALISTRERI

Deputy Cledk

SUPERIOR COURT — STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual,
CAROLYN A. RADISCH, ‘an individual,
STEPIIEN L. OWENS, an individual,

. DPlaintiffs,

Vs,
IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD
REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California
corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive,

Defendants,

I, Anna Munoz, declare as follaws:

Case No.: CGC-14-543437

DECLARATION OF ANNA MUNOZ IN
SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND
AUTHORITY IN SUPPORT OF
SETTING BOND AMOUNT FOR STAY
PENDING APPEAL AND OPPOSITION
TO STAY PENDING APPEAL

Date: Novemberl, 2016
Time: 2:00 p.m.

Dept.: 502

Judge: Hon. A. James Robertson, II

1. lhave personal knowledge of the following facts discussed beldw and would

|| testify truthfully thereto if called to do so, T have lived at 676 Page Street, San Francisco,

California on a full time basis for approximately 6 years, My residence is located above 670

| Page Street, which was Iris Canada’s unit. 676 Page Street is my full time-and only residence,

2. I'used to see Iris Canada about once a week, She would often open her door as I was

entering the building and she would explain to me that she thought people were ringing her

2311
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doorbell. She often seemed worried and I would reassure her that it wasjust me entering the
buildinig, One time, to my surprise, I saw her walking back up the stgirs towards her unit. That
time she also said she thought she heard someone ring the bell. Every time 1 saw her,.l would
take the time to cl'lat with her and make sure everything was okay.

3. A young lédy, whom I was told was a relative of hers, used to come to the unit to
chéck up on her on a regular basis, [ would see her about once a week or every other week as

she would always either park in or block my driveway. I would always have to ring the bell

and ask her to maove her car so that I can get in or out of my garage. On those occasions, 1

would often see Iris Canada standing at her door waiting for the young tady. The last .ﬁme I

ever saw the young lady, was the time that we found a dead rat placed jﬁst outside of her door.

1|1 believe that it became evident to the relative at the time that Iris Canada could no longer live

alone and take care 'qf herself or hér home. Soon after that is when Iris Canada stopped residing
in the apartment and [ haven’t seen the young lady since.

4, In the last 4 years, I have only seen Iris Canada when she would arrive at the -
building with Iris Merriouns. They would arrive, s_tny for a few hours and then leave and not be

seen again for several months, I always knew when they were here because Iris Merriouns

NCTIEC B S S
ER38 B RES =S

would park her car very near the building, This was either on the weekend or after wbrking
hoﬁ. One e;cample was the night Iris Canada was first served court papers. I witnessed them
arrive thét evening and then leave after Iris Canada was served with court documents, not to be.
seen again for months. There was allsbo the time wh_en Peter Oweris changed the lock to the unit
and had a copy made for Iris Canada, my neighbors offered her the key when they arﬁved but
Iris Merriouns flatly refused it saying “I’m not taking that, I don’t know what it is.” Iris

Merriouns then proceeded to change the locks, without providing Peter Owens a copy, and left

2
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with Iris Canadé that same evening and again not to retun for a long time. There were times
when packages were lefl on her door for very lony periods of time, There was also the incident
where the smoke detector was sounding off inside her unit, something that contined around -
the clock for over a month.

In more recent times, namely this year (2016), I have scen less of Iris Canada yet more
of Iris Merriouns with each time being around the éame time that ﬂxcrd would be a major cvent

such as a court hearing, namely a stay of execution or a public protest. Both would stay a

|| couple days leading up to the hearing and then leave alter the hearing ruted in their favor, Not

to be seen apain for a loné time.

OnMay 3 1¥, sometime after: 6 pm, Abdoulla Yasef, her supposed “caretaker” came to
the building alone and soﬁehnw couldn’t get into the unit hecause he misplaced his key. Peter
Owens, who was visiting at the time, ran into bim and had a cordial conversation with him. At
the time, we were all in the Geoff Plerees apartment next door having arl HOA meeting and v
witneqséd this. After Abdoulla and Peter chatted fot a bit' Abdoulla left and returned sometime

after 10 pm w1th both Ins Canada and a ldcksmith. Up to this pomL [ recall not seemg In

Canada for a long time, In the span of 2 — 3 months that Mr, Yasef was her “caretakcr” this

was the only time I ever saw them together. I believe he was staying at the unit without Iris
Canada as [ often wimessed him lgavé early in the mofningvand return lisually after 6 pm. I no
longer see. Mr, Yasef, |

On June 27", there was a three day prétest at the building. While Iris Canada was
present during that time it appears that both Iris’Merriozuns' and Iris Canada had left sometime .
after it was over and I believe they retumed briefly for Iris Canada’s 100" birthddy sometime

in mid July only to leave again shortly thereafter.

3-
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Far five straight days, from‘September 8" _ 12th, I saw the Sheriff's posting for
repossession oflthe unit taped on the door o' 670 Page. At around 9:(35 pm on the evening of
September 12th, my husband and I hear Iris Merriouns enter the building alone. She proceeded
to grab the mail as well as the Sheriff’s notice that was on the door. T had looked out the
winciow and saw Iris Merriouns wallking back to her car that was parkcd on the comer of Page:
and Steiner next to a fire hydrant, which is about 100 feet from the building. She was alone and
'Darryirllg a bunch of mail in her arms, Al the same time n;y husband went downstairs and saw
the notice removed from the door. At exactly 9:33pm my husband leaves the buildiné and
witnesses both Iris Mer;iouns and Iris Canada enter the building and walk up the flight of stairs -
and into the unit. By 9:45pm, the SFFD had arrived an& entered the buildihg. At around
10:15pm, I am looking out of my window éo see what was going 'on and witnessed the
paramedics take her out of the building in a chair and move her‘info.a gurney that was
stationed out on the sidewalk, With some assista;xce, Iris Canada wais able to get u.p from her
seal and ihto the gurney. She was attentive, lmoving around and able to talk to both the
paramedics andlher niece, She appeared fine and in absolutely no emotional distress at all, This

was the first time I had seen her at the building since the June 27" protests.

o]
<

5, Based on my hgviﬁg lived at 676 Page Strcét San Francisco CA 94117 for 6
years, and having observed the comings and goings, sounds, and general neighborly
observations on an almost daily basis, I am firmly convinced that 670 Page Street has not been
Tris Canada’s primary residence since approximately June 2012.

6. On June 27% and for two days following, there were protests at our building
organized by the Housing Rights Committee of San Francisco. On the first day people yelied at

us, flipped us off when we looked out the window and used a megaphone that was so lond we
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could hear it at the back of the houée. This was an attack specifically on the residents of the
building in an attempt to get us to persuade Peter to drép the lawsuit. People were projecting
hostility and anger towafds us, I even heard one of the lead protesters who organized the event,
Tommi Avicolli Mecca, remind the crowd that they are not hete to threaten us but to speak out
to the residents who could have some “influence” over the matter, Iris Merriouns was also a
part of the pn;otests and spoke on the megaphone, According to Peter, she had lied to him and
lold him she was not a parl of it.

On thé second day of the protest, my husbz;nd, baby and I leave as they are beginning to
assemble. As T exit the building, I ssked Tomumi Avicolli Mecea to siop hatassing us. '
Immediately, an unlcnoWn_African—American lady starts shduting at me. 1 then turn to Tony
Robles, a staff‘member of the Senior and Disability Action, and asked him if he was Mexican,
To me he appeared Mexican and since I am also Mexican I was hoping to find a common
ground to c{iscuss the situation, He irﬁmediétely denounced my heritage and said “You sure as

hell don’t Jook Mexican, you look white!” and proceeded to just taunt me. Because of the

 protests, 1 didn’t come home until late that evening, On the third and final day of the protests,I

didii’t come home at all.

On September 22, we were literally ambushed with another protest in front of our

building. This one was much larger and much worse than the previous three day protest, There

were several people whq had trespassed onto out roof and dropped a large red banner. My
husband told them to get off but they did not coniply. Eventually my husband got on th}: roof
took it down and threw it over the building into our backyard. One protester jumped the fence
into our backyard and retrieved the bérmef only to put it back up a third time, At one point Iris

Merriouns, who was also a pan.of the protest, came up to the third floor landing and said that

5-
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they would like their banner back. Some words were exchanged and then'she' proceeded to yell

at me, A heated argument ensued between the both of us. ] asked her to leave and told her she

was trespassing, Tt wasn’t until T went hack into my apartment that she finally left. The

situation made my heart race and left me frantic, scared and in tears. I’ve been ﬂl}- emotional
wreck ever since the most tecent protests and will most likely need to seek some form of
therapy to get past this, My trauma has gotten to the point where even some of my coworkers
have noticed smﬁethlng s wrong. I now feel very thieatened by Iris Merrlouns and the hostility
that she is creating. ‘

8. As a result of the continued legal proceedings and the harassment that has been
directed at us I have been experiencing a great dea'l‘of emotional trauma, It has affected my
mental healih and that of my family, I have been experiencing depression, stress and anxicty. [
am currently on edge and living in fear that something dangerous will happen. Iris Merriouns
has been hostile to all of us. In Maonf 2015, she was hpstile towards me whén I asked her to
move her car out of my driveway, she refused to move and sat there and argued with me. She
has also given me dirty, threatcning looks evéry tire she sees see me, she has been hostile

toward my neighbors and now we have to enduire the hostility that is coming from protestors in

NN N NN N
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front of our building. With the most recent protest, the situation has escalated into something
dangerous. I fear that something far worse will happen. I fear for the safety of l.nyse]f, my
family and our property. |

9. The inability to condo convert as a result of any ongoing litigation could potentially
put financial stress on me and my family. We may very well run out of time in the condo
conversion process should the litigations continue, Once the deadlines aﬁiVe, a moratorium

will set in and we will never again be able to convert. Additionally, banks only offer

6-
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AdJustable Rate Mortgages at higher interest rates than Fixed 30 yr loans. Those interest rates
could go up at any time, making our mortgage even more expensive, Condo conversmn has

always. been for the desire to save money. San Francisco is an expensive city to Live i in, made

‘cven morc oxpensive when one i3 trying to raise a child,

Since the last protcst‘ that occu,wéd on September 22", I have wituessed (hal my neighbor’s, as
well as another unknown person’s, vehu,lr: hag been vandalized. I believe thlS is a direct result
of the hur.uhty Lhat has heen mcreasmgly generated by the previous protests and the ongoing
and unresolved litigation, I baheve that my building and all who reside there are being
maliciously targated. |

10. -+ On the early moraing of September 23", at around 6 am and less than 24 hours
since the last protest, an unknown person(s) broke into my neighbor Geoff Pierce’s car and
stole the remate to our garage, Geoff Pierce and I share the garage, We have ev1dence of this
via a Smart Home devwe that is installed on the garage door that logs when the garage door
opens as well asa vzdeo camera. The video cameta tilimed two individuals enter the garoge at
two separate times early that morning.

11.  OnOctober 1, avehiéle parked in front of my building and partiélly in my
driveway was also vandalized. The back windéw was [lly broken and I could see all the glass
on the ground. I am not aware of who the vehicle belongs to. This vehicle was a black SUV
and could have easily been mistaken for a vehicle belonging to a res.ident in the builci,ing,
namely my neighbor, Jamie Pierce who also drives a black SUV type car,

12, About a week later (exact date unknown), my neighb(;r Jarrﬁe Pierce’s car
window was broken whén she was parked in a spot adjacent to my neighbor’s driveway. This

happened late at night. I believe that her car was targeted because it's been previously
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identified as belonging to a building resideint. Jamie normally parks in front of the driveway
when not in the garage. Jamie and (feoff are no léngar able to pa‘rk their cars overnight in the
driveway ag it is no longer safe 1o do so.

(3. TInthe 6 years that] .have.lived atv 676 Page Street, we have never experienced
this amount of vandalism in such a short amount of time. To my knowledge, never have our
cars been vandalized and névar have I felt unsafe. | tinnly'bcliGVe that this is far more than just
a coincidence. |

14, My pre\./ious fears that something would happen to our property has coxﬁe to be
realize;d. We havg suffercd a great deal as a result of the continuous stays and I believe that'we

will continue to suffer if this issue continues unresolved. My quality of life has diminished as a

{result of the increased hostility, with the protests and vandalism, that has been projected onto

the building residents, I believe that if the situation continues unresdlved, we will continue to
su%fer as a result and that the suffering will only get worse, I no longer enjoy the peac;: and
tranquility of my own héme that ! once did. My home i‘s supposed ta be my sanctuary andﬂlhat
has be‘en violated. I live day-to-day waiting for the next hostile protest or break-in to occur,

1 declare under penalty of perjury of the laws of the State of California that the

foregoiny is true and conrect,

T declare under penalfy of perjury of the laws of the State of California that the

foregoing is true and correct.

7

DATED: October 7 £7)2016

~

NAME

FAX SIGNATURE
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Andrew M. Zacks (SBN 147794)

Mark B. Chernev (SBN 264946)

ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400

San Francisco, CA 94104

Tel:  415.956.8100

Fax: 415,288.9755

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
Peter M. Owens
Carolyn A. Radisch
Stephen L, Owens

SUPERIOR COURT - STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual,

CAROLYN A, RADISCH, an individual,

STEPHEN T.. OWENS, an individual,
Plaintiffs,

Vs,
IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD
REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California
corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive,

Defendants

I, JAMIE ANNE PIERCE, declare as follows:
| 1. I have personal knowledge of the following facts discussed i)elow and would
testii’y truthfully thereto if called to do so.
2. L have lived at 668 Page Street, San Francisco, California _With my husband,
(Geoffrey Raymond Pierce) on a full time basis since July, 2014, Our residence

is located directly adjacent to 670 Page Street, which was Iris Canada’s unit,

ELECTRONICALLY
FILED

- Superfor Court of Caiffornta,
County of San Francisco

10 / 28 t/ 2016
Clerk of the Court
BY:CAROL BALISTRERI

Deputy Clark

Case No.: CGC-1 4-543437

DECLARATTON OF JAMIE ANNE
PIERCE IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND
AUTHORITY IN SUPPORT OF SETTING
BOND AMOUNT FOR STAY PENDING
APPEAL AND OPPOSITION TO STAY
PENDING APPEAL

Date:
Time:
Dept.:
Judge:

November 1, 2016

2:00 p.m,

502

Hon. James A. Robertson II
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Based on the proximity of my residence to I;is Canada’s I would have expected to
meet, be introduced to or even to hear our next door neighbor at some point. IIoWever it was
approximately 17 months before I even saw Iris Canada or her neice, Iris Merriouns at the
property, sometime in December 2014. In fact during that first year and half of living hete at
668>Page Street never heard people walking the length of the haltway, never witnesses-
anyone coming or goiné from the entryway, never heard a felevision, radio, alarm clocks or
even peﬁple tallkcing in the adjacent apartment, ‘ 4 | ‘

Th(:: most glaring cxamplo of Iris Canada’s not being present at the building occurred
on 12/13/14, my husband and T began hearing a shrill smoke detector signal coming from her
apartment. Thaf piercing sound could be heard through my walls so on 12/15/14 my hulqhand
kindly left a note on her door asking Iris to change out the battery on hcr‘smokc dotcetor. The
alarm went off every minute of every day and was so loud that it would wake me up or
conversély, keep me from sleeping at all. The alarm remained on for appx:oximately 6 weeks,
'I‘he’ sound Was not something that someone living in the unit could have tolerated.

Additionally T was present on the evening of 1/31/15 when the locks were legally
changed by Pefqr Owens aﬁd stlbseqlxe;ntly illegally changéd by Iris Mefriouns later that
evening. At the end of that evening'Iris Merriouns became very agitated and confrontational.
She yelled at all of the owners éf the building and proceeded to call the police, At one point
she even yelled directly at my husband, she was very intimidating and aggressive in hér attacles
ou everyone present,

Since the beginning of 2015 I have only seen Iris Canada at the building on a handful of

occasions, for brief periods of time, usually not lasting more than 24 hours. Many of those

Y
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sightings coincided with court case related news appearances or heusing'activist protests in her‘
honor. ‘ |

Based on my having lived at 668 Page Street for 2 and half years, and observing the
comings and goings, sounds, and general neighboply observations, I am firmly convinced that
Iris Canada has not resided at 670 Page Street since I have lived here,

While the inability of the buiiding to condo convert is certainly affecting my husba'nd"s
abllity to provide financial securlty for our family, the mental angulish and stress that Iris
Mcmouns has placed upon me personally are signifi cant and should not go unreported,

On more than one occasion I have‘been velled at, derided or intimidated by Tris
Merriouns directly. Addiﬁonally, on multiple occasions over the past several months Iris
Merriouns has organlzed lai'ge scale pretests ét out bullding; at one such protest one of her
supporters shouted at me and boo’d at me as 1 entered the building. As well I have been hissed
at by groups of people as I entered and exited the bmldmg on multiple oceasions; Irig
Metriouns has left the front door ppen to the rest ofthe building open durmg these events, It is
apparent that the protesters that attend these rally’s are not interested in the facts of the case it

|

is therefore easy to understand why this type of “protest” makes be feel VERY unsafe in my -
home., |

Approximately one month ago there was a protest of approxunately 150 people at 8Bam
rlght in front of the building. People were yelling at the apartment building and T couldn’t even
walk in front of our wmdows without being shouted at, The “protestors” then pro ceeded to
scale the ad_yacent construction site so that they could trespass on our rooftop and hang a banner
regarding their cause, I started to have a pemc attack and call my husband to have him return

from work so that he could escort me out of the building, I was genuinely afraid there might be
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Andrew M. Zacks (SBN 147794)

Mark B, Chernev (SBN 264946)

ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
233 Montgomery Street, Suite 400 »
San Francisco, CA 94104

Tel:  415.956,8100

Fax: 415.288.9755

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
Peter M, Owens '
Carolyn A, Radisch
Stephen L. Owens

ELECTRONICALLY

FILED

Superior Court of Callfomia,
County of San Francisco

10/28/2016
Clerk of the Court
BY:CAROL BALISTREQL

DBeputy Clark

SUPERIOR COURT ~ STATE OF CALIFORNIA.

COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual,

CAROLYN A, RADISCH, an individual,

STEPHEN L. OWENS, an individual,
Plaintiffy,

vs.

IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD

REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California
corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive,

Defendants,

Case No.: CGC-14-543437

DECLARATION OF GEOFFREY :
RAYMOND PIERCE IN SUPPORT OF
PLAINTIFFS’ MEMORANDUM OF
POINTS AND AUTHORITY IN SUPPORT
OF SETTING BOND AMOUNT FOR
STAY PENDING APPEAL, AND
OPPOSITION TO STAY PENDING
APPEAL

Date:

Time:
Dept.:
Judge:

November 1, 2016
2:00 p.m,
502

Hon. James A. Robertson, 1T

I, GEOFFREY RAYMOND PIERCE, declare as follows:

1. Thave personal knowledge of the following facts discussed below arid would

testify truthfully thereto if called to do so.

2. Ihave lived at 668 Page Street, San Francisco, California on & fill time basis for

approximately 8 years. My residence is located directly adjacent to 670 Page

Stveet, which was Irls Canada’s unit,
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Iris Canada’s and I share an approximately 80 foot long common wall that stretches the
entire fength of our unit, Upon moving to 668 Page Street I would typically see Irls Canada 3-4
thmes per week. Our interactions were ulways very cordial and 1 would regularly help het
retrieve mail from the landing just below ours, This type of common interaction continued for
appr'oximatély 4 years. |

Beginning in the éummer 0f2012 I stopped seeing Irls Canada on a regular
basis. Between the summer of 2012 and the beginning of 2015, T only saw Iris Canadg at the
building two times, once in late 2014 when her nisce, Iris Merriouns, specifically brought her
to the building and éroceeded to knock on my door to proclaim that Iris, “was In the
building”. Additionally I saw Iris Canada at the béginning 0f 2015, on 1/31/15, when both she
and her nlece came here to illegally change the locks on Peter Owen’s unit without giving him

proper notiﬁc;ation.
Since the ster 0f2012 it seems that Iris Canada’s mail has béen redirected because

I have not seen her collect it since then, Several times over the past four years there have been

packages delivered to her doorstep which have rfcmaine& undistu'rﬁed and uncollected,

sometimes for a period of several months. Many times during the course of this trial,

subpoenas from this court proceeding WOﬁId sit uncollected fqi- weeks at a ti.me.-

Based on the proximity of my residence to Iris Canada’s and our shared common wall,
I used to hear fyfnical residential sounds coming from her ‘upit, not limited to people walking
the length of the hallway, television, radio, alarm clocks ax'ld tall;ing and I would normatly hear
people coming to visit her approximately once a week. Between summer 2012 and the spring

0f2015 I did not hear any such sounds emanating from her residence.

-
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The most glaring exa:'nple of Irls Canada’s absence from the bullding occurred on
12/13/14, On that day, my wife and I began hearing a shrill “low-battery” smoke defector
signn;l coming from her apartment, That very high-pitched and annoying souﬁd could easily be
heard through my walls so on 12/15/14 1 left a note on the door kindly asking Iris to change outl
the battery on her smoke detector or to let me know if she needed help to o so. The alarm
wont off euch and every minute of every'day and every night and was so loud from my
apartment that it would sometimes walke me up from a sound sleep or conversely, kesp me
from sleeping at all. The alarm remained 6q until 1/21/15 (approximately 6 weeks after first
hearing it), By my caléulations the alarm went off over 60,000 times and was not somefhing
that someone living In the unit could have tolerated. The note that I had left on the door "
remained there for the enlire six weeks that Lhe alarm was going off, I have photo
documetttation of the letter that I left on the fronit doot and the fact that It was still In the exact

same position almost 6 weelcs later (a couple of days prior to 1/21/15, when the alarm battery

was finally replaced).

Additionally T was present on the evening of 1/31/15 when thé locks were legally
changed by Peter Owens and subsequently illegally cha‘n'ged b'y Tris Merriouns later that
evening. In order to give access to the back ;ioor for Peter’s locksmith, 1 exjtcred the unit for a
total of two minutes and was able to observe mold érowing In the bathtub and a toilet in which
the water had completely evaporé’ced from the bowl, the stench of sewer gases coming from the
dry p~trap was not pleasant, nor livable, At 9pm that evening, Iris Canada was brought to the
building ‘by Iris Merriouns, When I met Iris Canada and Iris Merriouns outside of 670 Page,

Iris Merriouns became very agitated and confrontational, She yelled at all ofthe owners ofthe

building and proceeded to call the police,

3
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Since the beginning of 2015 I have seen Iris Canada at the building on a handful of
occasions, for brief periods of time, usually no‘t lasting more than 24 hours, Many of those
sightings coincided with court case related news appearances or housing activist protests m her
hono;. |

Since the spring 0£2015, there has been a concerted sffort on the péxrt of Iris Merriouns
to clean up the apartment and make it look habltable Includlng the arrival ofa large cleaning
crew that entered the apariment o cloar outhAmk and debris. Comeast cable wag reinstalled at
the unit just a few days prior to Iris Canada’s ﬁrsf television appearance, I have witnessed Iris
Mefriouns sneals into the building past midnight to retrieve mail which was recently redirected
hack to 670 Page Street, presumably in an attémpt to re-establish the appéarance of residency.
In the past six months Iris Canada’s visits to the building have become more frequent but
usually coincide with a media interview, lawyer visiting her at her “home”, protests be‘i’ng
staged in her honor or an impending or just conclnded court hearing, Her visits are very brief
and upon depértu're it is wsually several weeks before she next returns.

Based on my having lived at 668 Page Street for 8> years, and observing the comings

and goings, sounds, and general neighborly observations, § am firmly convinced that Iris

| SR o
RN RERRBBERS

Canadzi has ngt resided at 670 Page Street since the summer 02012,

The fact that our building has not been éble to condo convert has, by my estimation,
cost me in excess of $12,000 in higher mortgage payments which could have been lowered had
Iris Canada agreéd {o sign the condo conversion paperWork when it was first requested ovér
two years ago. By delaying the condo convers iqn further I have additional financial burdens
that could be induced by rising interest rates, diminished value of my home if 1 need to sell for

any reason until this matter is resolved and the real possibility that the current condo
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conversion process may be suspended at which point my uﬁit will NEVER be able to convert
since we are a 6-unit building which will not be eligible for conversion after the current

process 18 suspended. Ifthis becomes a reality and my unit does not condo convert I will be
H

forced to accept having a variable rate mortgage for the rést‘nf the tims T own the unit which
could very \&all affect my financial stability, force me to sell my unit and potentially leave Sﬁn
Francisco altogether. The longer tﬁese proceedings take to resolve, the larger and moreﬁreal
these financial burdens become, . |

More importanﬂy though, and the reason thaﬁ am taking the time to write this
declaration, is the fact that tﬁis litigation process has placed undue stress upon my family.
While there have been very tangible events lile the time Irls Canada's {ire slarm was going off
for 6 weels and we could not sleop duc to the distiu‘bancc, there has algo been much more
severe emotional distress caused directly by Iris Merriouns and this litigation, On one such
occasion, Iris Merriouns and I passed each other in the main entryway to the building; she
purpo;seﬁﬂly stepped into my path of travel, pointed in ;ny faco and said in a monacing tone,
“You ain’t seen NOTHING yet!” I falt very threatened by her ptesence and her tone of voice.

Additionally, on multiple oceasions ovex; the past several months Iris Merriouns has
organized large scale pfotests at our building; at one such protest one of her supporters shouted
at me, “I hop’e youdie and go to helll” As well I have been hiéseci at by groups' of people and
booed as T entered and exited the building on multiple occasions, the protestors have even
shouted at my wife and I while we were in bur living room, to the point where we left the
building altogether, The protesters that attend these fally’s are not interested in the facts ofthe
cage, they are driven by emotional sentiment amplified by Iris Merriot_ms’ lies associated with

the circumstances of the case and in most cases are very angry individuals,

5-
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Approximately onc mouth ago there was a protest ol upproxirmately 150 psople at 8am
right in front of the building. My wife caﬁed me at worlk; she was in a panic and stated that
people had scaled the édjaoent construction site so that they coﬁld treépass on our ro'oﬁop and
hang a banner regarding their cause, She was scared to leave the house due to the fact that she
thought strangers might be in the building and she requested that Treturn home from work (I
had lett early that morning) to escort her to her car, I had‘to Leéve worlk to do just that,
something that I should never have had to do if it weren’t for Irls Merriouns staging these
angry lirptests. To see my wife in a state of panic was unsettling and e‘nfirely unnecessary.

Ironically, that same niéht, my car was broken into right outside of our home, While I
have no evidencé to prove that any of the mor'nings’ protestors were Invo}ved in the break-in, it
isa curious'co'mcidence that very well may be due to the fact that 150 angry people were
outside my home that mornh;g. Needless to say‘the recent escalation oftension associated with
these protests the have left me and my wife feeling very uncomfortable, unsafe and nervous
within the confines of our own home.

In the span qf one month since the protest was helvd,’ three cars have been broken Into

while parked in front of our building, a highly unusual rate of break-ins for our neighl;orhood.

[yl
<

21

While it may simply be coincidence, it is pgssiblé that someone may have targeted our building
because of the animosity génera’ted at the protests. |

I heréby implore the court to take action on this matter. The facts ofthe case have not ‘
changed, Iris Canada does not reside at 670 Page Street and she failed to maintain the unit ina
habitable condition. Despite countless reasonable attempts to restore Iris Canada’s life estate
by Peter Owens, no agreement could be reached and‘ the court ordered legal fees have not béen

remanded to Peter Owens, the rightfil owner of the unit, Iris Merriouns has recently escalated
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Andrew M, Zacks (SBN 147794)
Mark B, Chernev (SBN 264946)

ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC |

235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400
San Francisco, CA 94104

Tel:  415.956,8100

Fax: 415288.9755

Attorneys for Plaintiffs,
Peoter M. Owens
Carolyn A, Radisch
Stephen L. Owens

SUPERIOR COURT — STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED CIVIL j’URISDICTION

PETER M, OWENS, an individual,

CAROLYN A, RADISCH, an individual,

STEPHEN L. OWENS, un individual,
Plaintiffs, ,

Vs, ‘

IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD
REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California
corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive,

Defendants.

L, Christophet Beahn, declare as follows:

L. Thave personal knowledge of the following facts discussed below and would
testify truthfully thereto if called to do so, Along with my wife, and our 2 children, I live at
674 Page Street, San Francisco, Célifom_ia. I have been residing at that address on a full time
basis for approximately 8 years, My residence is located directly above 670 Page Street, which

was Iris Canada’s unit. 674 Page Street is my full time and only residence,

ELECTRONICALLY

FILED

Superttor Court of Californls,
County of San Franiclsco

10/28/2016
Clark of the Court
BY:CAROL BALISTRERI

Daputy Clerk

Case No.: CGC-14-543437

DECLARATION OF CHRISTOPHER
BEAHN IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND
AUTHORITY IN SUPPORT OF SETTING
BOND AMOUNT FOR STAY PENDING
APPEAL AND OPPOSITION TO STAY
PENDING APPEAL

Date:  November 1, 2016

Time: 2:00 p.m.

Dept.: 502

Judge: Hon, James A. Robertson, IT
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2. Seeing Iris Canada several times per week was a normal part of our lives. She
popped her head out whenever someone would come up the stairs, asking for.help getting her
mail o just chatting. She loved to pet our dog, and talk about her years living in the building
with her husband James. She would show ug his a¢w0r1c and spofe about how he was a welder.
"The 1n July 2012, we were unable to get Iris to answer hef door, and were understandably
concerned. We cventually discoyered that her nicce Irig Mem‘iéuns had removed Iels Canada to

S
Oakland due ta the state of the apurtxneht. We did not see Iris Canada again until late 2015.

3. The féliowing are some examples of why we believe 670 Page Street was
unoccupied completely between July 2012 and late 20 15, These are also why we believe Iris .
Canada still does not reside 1n 670 Page Street,

4, We never suw Itis Canada, There was 1o discerpable actiy{ty 01; sounds
emanating from the unit. Aéidc from some hired cleaners in July of 2012, we did not see
anyone remova'garbage or recycling from the unit, The regular delivery of Meals on Wheels
ceased, Thete wés no indication of regular mail service, |

5. In December 2015, a loud béepi‘ng ;:onsistent with & smoke detectkor low battery -

alert began sounding from 670 Page, It was clearly audible within the common stairwell and

o
<

within our oﬁm unit, This noise went oﬂ for more than a month before éom__eone stopped by the
unit and fixed the issue. |

6. : We have a dog who requires multiple walks per day, So every night for the Jast
8 years I have taken him out after 9:00 PM for his final walk. For the f;:st several years, wé
would always hear the tv and see thé flicker of its lights in Iris Canada’s living room '{}vindows.
Then in July 2012, it became clear that the tv was no longervb‘eing turned on, and that the lights '

in the unit never changed. The same lights were on for months at a time, with no adjustment or

'

-
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change. If a light would go out, it would be out for months, presumably until a lightbulb was
changed, and then would come back on. o

7. As many seniors are apt to do, Irls Canada’s heat was always on, So much so,
that we barely used our (;wn f\irnace for the first 4 years we lived ;1n the buildin g This was
apparent due to the heat rising into our unit throug‘h the floots, as well as the furnace clearly
being on in the shared garage space where they are housed. The furnace and blowet were
constantly running and clearly audible, and the temperature in the garage was constantly quite
warm. After July 2012, it became clear that the heat within 670 was 1o longer on, Our own |
apartment returned to a nonna} telﬁperature, as did the garage, I noted the furnace was clearly
no longet running when;:ver I was in the garage. = e

8, ' On several oceasious, packages or letters were lef} in front of the door 0L 670
Page, These remained untouched for weeks or even months at a time,

9, When we did begin to see Iris Canada again starting in late 2015, it was onlya
handful of aceasions when she would be brought to the building by her niece Iris Merriouns.
These seemed to coincide with a reporter or camera crew coming to the apartment, and did not
last more than a few hours. In 2016 Iris Canada began returning for overnight stays, although
these also seemed to coincide with media events or protests outside of the building. She never
stayed more than a night or two, excepting one point when she seemed to have allive-in
caregivex; in March. This did not .last long, and soon the apartment was again inactive. Within
the last few weeks, Iris has been in the apariment more often.

10.  We know when Iris Canada is in the building due to either seeing her or her
caregivers (usually Iris Merriouns), noting the tv/lights changing when we pass the apartment,

hearing and feeling her firnace being on, and by the smell of cigarette smoke in our apartment.

-
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The cigarette smoke is particularly strong, and is of concern for out children. (Note: I assume
the clgarette smoke is coming from a caregiver, since we never saw or smelled smoke from Iris
Canada when she did live in the building.)

‘11, Based on my having lived at 674 Page Street for 8 years, and having observed
the comings and goings, sounds, IIJSB of the furnace, lack of changes in lighting and general
néighborly obsefvations on an almost daily baéis, Tam firmly convinced that Irls Canada has
not resided at her residence with any consistency since approximately July 2012,

12, Sinﬁe {ht end 0L 20185, the vourl case belween Péter Owens el b, und Iriy
Canada has resulted in a toxic environment at the building, espeéialiy when Iris Merriouns has
bean f\resent. On several occasions the police have been called, and there seem to be constant
verbal altercations hetween Iris Merriouns and various owners in the buﬂﬂing. On érecem‘.
occasion (Séptember 22,2016) When a protest was going on'outside the building, 1 clearly
heard Irls Metriouns and Anna Apke (676 Page) screaming at each other. Anna Apke was
saying, “What glidl ever due to you? This is harassment!” Iris Merriouns replied with a string
of expletives, Anna was home with their 3 year-old daughter and several protestors had

somehow gained access to our building and were right above her apartment on the roof.

NN NN
BERXEREEREBR =S

13.  OnSeptember 12, 2016, I encountered Iris Mertiouns bringing her great aunt,
Iris Canada, up the stairs into the building, The apartment had been empty since af least the
previous Wednesday, September 7, which we know because there was a posting from the
sheriff that had to be ‘1‘em§ved in order to open the door to the aparlment, A very short time
later paramedics arrived and took Iris Canada to the hospital.:

14, All of these have led to & caustic environment, and have resulted in a great deal

of undue anxiety on the part of my wife and myself, During protests, my wife and I have
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driven away from our home rather than have our children walk through the throngs of
protestors. My wife dreads walking into the bﬁ'dd'mg in fear of a confrontation with Iris
Canada’s familly, and has been under considerable stress from the whole situation.

15.  Our noighbor's car hag been broken into twics in Scptcm.bcr 2016 while being
parked in front of our building. Another similar Iooidng cat was brol.cen int§ in front of our
building during this same period, Although vehicle crimes are not rare in our neighborhood, 3
in the exact same location and in tha‘short span of a few \J;/eeks, certainly seems excessive.
There were no other nearby cars similarly vandalized. During the protest on September 22,
2016, several protestérs cli;nbed onto the roof of o:ur building, We have questionedour saféty
within the unit, have installed alarms oh our windows and have proposed security cameras for
the building.'

16, Ttisworth npting that during all of this, we have been patiently waiting almost 2 '
years for the court case to run its course. We have bc’en open to resolving this .amicably. We
have reached out to otr city Supervisor, Léndon Breed, on multiple occasions to ask for
assistance in mediating some type of resolution, We have hosted a representative from het
ofﬁce, and basically been told that there is little fhey could do. We have let Pet;:r Owens know
that We were willing to accept modiﬁcations to the life estate, if' it resolves the issue, He
attempted to negotiate a compromiss, but has been led on and then rebuffed ‘again and again by
Iris Canada on the advice of her family.

"17.  Atthis point, I have no hope that this issue will be settled. Instead, the
continued delays seem to invite increasingly aggressive protests and actions by Itis Canada’s

suppofteré- and family, and deepen our own concerns regarding our safety and the likelthood of
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' 1 further criminal activity, Further, dragging out & resolution appears to be having negative
2 || affects on Iris Canada’s health, as is evidenced by her recent hospitalization,
3 1 declate under benalty 6f petjury of the laws of the State of California that the
4 foregoing is true and correct,
5
_ .
6 || DATED: October 224 , 2016 ' % Q\/
8 Christopher Beahn
9
10 '
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|| ANDREW M. ZACKS, SBN 147794

MARK B. CHERNEYV, SBN 264946 ELECTRONICALLY
ZACKS & FREEDMAN, P.C. . FILED
235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400 erfor Court of Calltorn
San Francisco, CA 94104 , S oty of S Frartleen
Fax: 4152889755 . : Clerk of the Court
.. BY:ROMY RISK
Attorneys for Plaintiffs Deputy Clerk
Peter M. Owens
Carolyn A. Radisch
Stephen L. Owens
SUPERIOR COURT - STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION
PETER M. OWENS, an individual, o Case No.: CGC-14-543437
CAROLYN A, RADISCH, an individual, '
STEPHEN L. OWENS, an individual, AMENDED DECLARATION OF

MICHEL BECHIRIAN IN SUPPORT OF
e AMENDED MOTION FOR SUMMARY
Plaintitfs, JUDGMENT ORINTHE
ALTERNATIVE SUMMARY

Vs, . ADJUDICATION .
IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD | Qpte: - ocember 22, 2015
REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California D'en;f? 501 am.
corporation, gnd DOES 1-10, inclusive, Judge: Hon. Ronald E. Quidachay

Defendants, Action Filed: December 30, 201,4
. Trial Date:  January 25, 2016

I, Michel Bechirian, declare as follows::

1. I'am an individual over. the age of 18. I have personal knowledge of thé
following facts discussed below and would testify truthfully thereto if called to do so.

2. I have lived at 678 Page Street, San Francisco, California on é. full time basis for
approximately 12 years. My residence is located two floors directly above to 670 Page Street;

which is Iris Canada’s unit. 678 Page Street is my full time and only residence,

-
DECLARATION OF MICHEL BECHIRIAN
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3. When I first moved to 678 vPva‘ge Street I would typidally see Iris Canada
approximately 3-4 times per week on a regular basis. This continued for approximately 9
years. Our interactions typically involved neighbotly chitchat, asking after her relatives and
church friends, I would sometimes bring Iris fresh produce from the farmerfs rnarket and Iris
Canada would also share stories with me about her youth. During rhe first few years of our
interaction, I would see Iris Canada venturing out With elderly 'relatives, typicalry toichurch on
Sundays. |

4, Over the 9 years that I have known Iris Canada, I have been invited and entered
her apartment on numerous occasions, typically to help her with small jobs, such as changing

light bulbs and smoke detector batteries.

5. Beginning in the summer of 2012 [ stopped seeing Iris Canada on a regular

basis. The last time I recall seeing Iris Canada living at her apartment was approximately June

2012. Since that time I have only seen Iris Canada at the building on two occasions, once in
late 2014 and another time on January 31, 2015. On both occasions Iris was-accompanied by'
someone I now know to be a relative. On the first occasion the relarire, her niece, opened the
door to Iris’s apartment and both went inside for a short time before leaving together. The
niece closed and locked the apartment door. I tried to talk with Iris — to ask after her heélth and
well-being, but was disqouraged by the niece. Between the ﬁrst time I saw Iris Canada and the

niece together and the second time, the locks on unit 670 were changed This became apparent

when a San Francisco city electrical i mspector could not be given access to the apartment using

the original emergency access key. As a result the owner Peter Owens notified Iris the locks
would be changed back to allow for emergency access. The second time I saw Iris Canada, the

niece opened the street door and attempted to open the door to Iris apartment; When the niece

2-
DECLARATION OF MICHEL BECHIRIAN
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realfzeci the locks had been changed baclc she called the police. The police instrueted the niece |
not to interfere with the new locks. After the police left the premises the niece called a
locksmith and had the locks changed again. For sevetal hours Iris Canada was sitting in the A
niece’s car on‘a cold night. At some point later that night, Iris Canada was observed being
served court papers. Besides these two recent episodes, I have not seen Iris Canada at the
building or 670 Page Street since the summer of 2012.

6. During the time since I first moved into 678 Page Street I'would see where Iris
Canada’s mail was delivered on a regular basis, Iris Canada would oﬁen listen for the building
front door to open, or at least that is what I suspected. Iris Canada would then open her
apartment door and when she saw me we would make small chat for a few mmutes I would
often ask her if she would hke me to collect her mail for her because the stairs gave her
difficulty. Since the summer of 2012 I believe that her mail has been redirected. On at least
two or three separate occasions I have seen packages from a medlcal delivery company remain
on her doorstep for months before they were removed.

7. For several years before 2012 San Francisco Social Services would dellver
prepared meals for Iris Canada (her gas stove had been discontinued earlier due to safety
concerns). Meal packages would be delivered to her door. Sometimes these would remain on
Iris’s doorstep until the late evemng when she would retrieve them. Iris would routmely leave
the remaining food packages on her doorstep for pick-up by Social Services. Shortly aﬁer June
2012 the food service stopped. I can only imagine someone contacted the city to suspend or
stop the service,

8. On a regular basis I would see the light of Iris Canada’s living room turn on

around dusk. Since approximately June 2012 I have not seen the lights switch on or off at Iris

3.
DECLARATION OF MICHEL BECHIRIAN
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éanmada’s vresid‘ence. After I saw Iris in féﬁuary 2015 ihe hall light, énd a lvighti in a bedroom has
remained on. The lights are not switched off at daylight or switched on at dusk,

9, During my time 1iving at 678 Page Street | would hear typical residential sounds
coming from Iris Canada’s residence, not limited to television, radio, alarm clocks, and talking,
on a regular basis. I would normally hear the radio and television daily and would also hear
the telephone ring. Ihave not heard any sounds; coming frotn the residence since June 2012
that would evidence that Iris Canada, olr anyone else, was present or living at her residence.

10.  The furnace for 670 Page Street, Iris Canada’s residence is located in a shared
garage in our building, Ifis Canada’ furnace would typically and constantly cycle on and off,
as furnaces are designed to do. I have not observed or seen any evidence that Iris Canada’s
furnace has cycled on in over 2 years.

11, Tfirst realized I'had not seen Iris Canada for some time in June 2012. Because I
would typically see hetona daily basis, after a few déys of not seeing her, 1 became concémed
for 1'181‘ weli being and asked my neighbors if they had seen her, to which none had. 1 discussed
my concerns in greater detail with one neighbor, Chris Beahn, and we agreed that based on our
shared concerns for her health and well being, we should check on her, and if necessary, enter
her apartment to perform a check on welfare by using the emergency keys, which we have for
such situations. Repeatedly over the course of several hours, Chris Béahn and I knocked on
the front door, used the door buzzer and called out to Iris. When it was apparent Iris was not in

the apartment or unable to respond we opened the door using the emergency key and before

{| entering first announced ourselves as Michel and Chris her neighbors. When there was no

response and we could not hear any movement, Chris and I entered the unit. On entering the

-
DECLARATION OF MICHEL BECHIRIAN
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apa'rtment we saw rotting food, trash, roaches, and both dead and dying vermin caught in traps,
There was no sign of Iris Canada, |

12, In mid-July of 2012 relatives of Iris Canada arranged for exterminators to come
to the apartment and address the infestation, Cleaners were hi-red to deal with the trash, and
multiple refuse sacks were filled and removed from the apartment. I-have no knowledge of Iris
Canada returning to the residence since that time.

13, The gas to the stove in Iris Canada’s apartment was disconnected severél years
ago because of the fire hazard presented by the conﬁnued vacancy at tﬁe apartment.

14, Approximately December 15, 2014 1 began hearing a low battery smoke
detector signal ringing, which I'was able to determine was coming from Iris Canada’s
apartment. That' signal went on for approximately five weeks. At no pbint was there any
interruption of the low battery signal until January 21, 2015.

15, OnJanuary 24, 20151 observed an envelope posted on Iris Canada’s door at
670 Page Street. The envelope remained there, undisturbed, until January 31, 2015, -

| 16.  Irecall Iris Canada coming to the residence on January 31, 2015 with someone I
understood to be her niece. Tmet Iris Canada and her niece outside the building, along with '
several other neighbors and Iris Canada appeared disoriented and unsure of what was
happening around her.

17. Based on my having lived at 678 Page Strect for almost 12 years, and having
observed the comings and goings, sounds, and general neighborly observations on an almost
daily basis, I am firmly convinced that Iris Canada has not resided at her residence since

approximately June 2012,

5-
DECLARATION OF MICHEL BECHIRIAN
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Andréew M. Zacks (SBN 147794)

Mark B. Chernev (SBN 264946)

ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, PC
235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400

San Francisco, CA 94104

Tel:  415.956.8100

Fax: 4152889755

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
Peter M. Owens
Carolyn A, Radisch
Stephen L. Owens

ELECTRONICALLY
FILED

Superfor Court of Califomia,
County of San Francisca

10/28/2016
Clerk of the Court
BY:CAROL BALISTRERI

Deputy Clerk

SUPERIOR COURT ~ STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual,

CAROLYN A. RADISCH, an individual,

STEPHEN L. OWENS, an individual,
Plaintiffs,

Vs, -
IRIS CANADA un individual, OLD

REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California
corporation, and DOKS 1-10, inclusive,

- Case No.: CGC-14-543437

DECLARATION OF ALEXANDER APKE
IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND
AUTHORITY IN SUPPORT OF SETTING
BOND AMOUNT FOR STAY PENDING
APPEAL AND OPPOSITION TO STAY
PENDING APPEAL

Date:  November 1, 2016

Time:  2:00 p.m,
) Dept.: 502
Defendants. Judge: Hon.J ames A, Robertson, II
I, Alexander Apke, declare as follows:
1. T have personal knowledge of the following facts discussed below and would

testify truthfully thereto if called to do so. I have lived at 676 Page Street, San Francisco,

California on a full time basis for approximately 4 years, My residence is located 2 floots

above and one over from 670 Page Street, which was Iris Canada’s unit, 676 Page Street is my

full time and only residence.
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2. When I first moved into 676 Page Street, I would regularly see Irig Canada at
least 3 times a weelk, She opened the door to.her unit 670 Page Street whenever soﬁeone
opened the building front door or when T walked down the stairs and past h¢1; unit. We used to
have conversations about the weather, recently visiting friends and relatives, and her home.
Particularly she liked talking about when she moved from the top vﬂoor of the building down to
670 Page Street. [ always helped her bringing the mail from the mailboxeé on the ground floor,
up to her unit on the first floor, |

3. Iris Canada had regular Meals on Wheels deliveries that suddenly stopped, and
deliveries of what appeared to 4be medicine sat in ftont of her doar for months. Both the
stopping of meals and the drug deliveries piling up occurred in the sumfner of 2012, At the
time, everyone in the building asked each other when we had last seen iris Canada. [ distinctly
remember someone bomirjg to visit Iris Canada at the time, and I couldn't help them, telling
them that I hadn't seen her in a while.

4, In the past4 years, | have only seen Iris Canada in or éround the building
perhaps a total of 6-7 times. She has stayed overnight in the building maybe at most three

times, usually leaving with Iris Merriouns early the next day.

5. Since I primarily work from homie, over the past 4 years, I have been able to
observe Iris Metriouns pick up Iris Canada's mail or other deliveries relatively infrequently,
in'itially every few months or so, and only increasing to approximately once a month in the past
yeat or so. I have also seen Iris Merriouns intercept the mail person to get the mail without ever
stepping into the building. I have never seen Iris Canada with Iris Merriouns whenever the mail

was remaoved from the premises.
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6. On May 6th, 2015 and' separately on January 9th, 2016 I noticed that all the
lights to 670 Page were off und looked at the 670 Page Street PG&E electricity meter in the
garage said there was no service, all the other meters{ to other units had service, The power was
subsequently restored the next day in each case, but not before someone shows up from
s'oniewhere else, withoul u sighling of Tris Canada. In one instance, 1 saw Iris Merriouns leave
the building, in anotﬁer T only heard that one of the other residents of the building saw the door
gjar and heard noises from inside the unit.

| 7. On Match §4th, 2016, a Comoast truck wes in front of the building to install
service at 670 Page Street. Thls was about 5 days before someone with a camera showed up,.
presumably to take plctures ot Iris Canada watching tv in her home Not long after I read a
news article or blog post shnwmg i phnto of Tris Canada and a TV in the background with 1
comment stating that one of her hobblgs is watching TV, The year before, around October |
15th, 2015, Comcast was required to move their outdoor cable service box at our building 668-
678 Page due to it blocking the hew construction project al 690 Page Street at the time. The
only unit in the building that had active cable service was 674 Page Street when the boﬁ was
relocated, _ ' '

8§ .On Sebtember 12th 2016 at 9:04 pm, two days before the éheriff was scheduled
to reposes 670 Page and 5 days after the undisturbed posting was on the door, I heard the
building door and then a few seconds later a mailbox open. I'rushed down the stairs from my
unif and noticed that the sheriff's posting was removed, and quicl'dy snapped a photograph of
the apartment door without the posted notice. While I was going down the stairs I heard mail

being ruffled, and the building door open and close again juét about when I took the picture.

About 30 minutes later at 9:33 pm, I was leaving the building and ran into both Iris Canada and
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lris Merriouns, they were at the building door just when I opened it. Immediately upon Iris
Metrriouns seeing me, she angrily asked "Can L help you?", I said no as I continued to exit the

building, Iris Canada did not appear in distress at the time, and was being helped into the

Vbuilding by Iris Merriouns, The building door closed behind them, and [ took out my phone, re-

upened the building door, and took a picture of both Iris' walking up the stairs without the
sherifTs notice on the front dom; of 670 Page Stteet unirt. 10 minutes later, my wite Anna calls
me to get back home /\_SAP gince the paramedics were at and in the building. 1 rushed home,
saw the ambulance and heard the paramedips inside 670 Page Street. Both front doors were
open, to the building and 670 Page. I continued upstairs back to my unit and later came back

down to walk my dog. The paramedics were still In 670 Page and as I was walking down, I

| briefly heard the paramedics say that they would be taking lris to the hospital for observation.

As I’was walking the dog, I saw the ambulance leave and saw Iris Merriouns get into her car, ‘
which was parked in [ront of d five hydrant, and drive away.

9. The inability to condo convert has impacted my family in & number of ways, 1
am unable to get a fixed mortgage as Tenancy In Common mortgages are only available as

adjus;cable rate and also have significantly higher interest rates compared to standard 30 year

[\
<D

fixed mortgages. Not only do 1 pay mo_.r‘_eu,' but I will have to worry about the Federal Reserve
Bank interest rate increases. [ also will be required to refinance every few years to avoid large
balooning inte;es? rates on my mortg\age. My two year old daughter is nearly ready to enter
school, but I am concerned about ha\;ing the financial stability to be able to save for school,

other learning expenses, and later even college tuition. This also is a concern with'being able to

save for retirement,

.“4~
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10.  With the behavior and general negativity of Iris Merrii;uns, I am concerned with
the welfare of my home a.ncli family. I especially wotry anytime I leave the building that
something might happen when I am not home. My flrst interaction with Iris Merriouns, was
when Iris Canadé disappearcd and cveryone was wondering what happened to her, it set the
tone for all future encounters, I simp'}y asked what happened to lrfs Canada, we hadn't scen her
in a while, and the acrimoniou.s response from Iris Merriouns was, "I don't know you", and

initially didn't want to answer at all, and then said she was [ine,

11, 'There have been 2 separate incidents where the medin und u number of tenant
rights advocates, have picketed in front of our building, Both times, 1 was concerned about
what some of these peaple were capable of doing, not only during tho protests, but latet cven
after they léft, many of them seemed angry enough to esc.alnte their actiony beyond the protest
alone, Maily of the prolestors were not peacefufas they claimed they would be. Making
statements that I wouldn't want my or any other child to hea, yet my daughter conld and did
lear it |

12, The most recent of the two prétesls on September 22nd. There was a very large
protest of over 100 people. At least 5 or possib!y more individuals trespassed on my roof to pui
up a very large banner, and despite me telling them that they were trespassing and that they
needed to take. down their banner, They ignored my request, and continued with their rally.
Even after going onto the roof to t_aka down their banner, 1 was chased by one of the protesters
who demanded their banner back. A policeman that saw what happened and was less than 15
feet away from the incident told the protester that they needed to get down off of my roof

before they would get their banner back. A minute or two later, the same person jumped ovet
i

2346




ZACES, FREEDMAN & BPATTERSON, PC

235 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 400

SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFOERIA 94104

v oo a3 o B W

[ ar A T i e O a =
= 3 R W M~ o

o
= O

g

7

or crawled under a fence into my back yard to take the banner, and subsequently traspaésed on

my roof again to put up the same banner, When I went on the roofta once again attempt to take
the banner 6&' of my home, this ﬁ;xle they had relnforcements, and didn't take it down until
éﬁer the mob stgrted moving down tha sﬁeet In faot, our garage was broken into the noxt
thorning after the protest on September 237, suspiclously. While we can't bo sure that the two
events are linked, fu the 5 yesira I have lived at 676 Page, this is the first time we ever hed a
broulk-in, less than a day after a large protest at the building, In particular, as a rogult of the
{respassing an;l aotions of the protestors, T am concerned for the safety of my home and family.

T declate under penalty of petjury of the laws of the State of California that the
foregolng 1s true and correct, '

DATED: Septomber 24 , 2016

R

Alexander Apke

FAX SIGNATURE

PO I C RN T
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'PLAINTIEES

Telephang:

{415) B56-8100
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1l dritrict and brineh court, oy

SUPERIOR COURT QF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
FOR THE CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO

Pl

PETER M GWENS

Defendant:

IRIS CANADA
e Oate: TS
JDECLARATION 1071272015 | 10:00 am.

Oiptrtin oo Hiarrioer: L
ex! CGC 14 543437

MEALS ON WHEELS OF SAN FRANCISCO
¥ 1375 Fdirfax Avehue
,CA 94124 .
RECORDS PERTAINING TO: IRIS CANADA
6570 Page Street
P San Fraricisco, CA

iON OF RECORDS COPIED (Custodian's lnlt!als.ﬁ@‘;)
otlian of Recofds, orothar pualified withass, for the
aboveummed bumeSS A duch | have the authonty to certlfy these racor ds-
b. The: phototopled records submitted herewith are true cobies of 4l records
described In the Degosifion Subpena/Atthorization,
e Tor \‘he best of my knowledge, all such records were prepared orcompiled by the

1 ftj CERTfFlCAT

anly part of tha reccrds descﬁbed in the Depomtion Subpena/Authonzanon such records as avallable.are provided:

2.1 CERTIFICATION OF NO RECORDS .(.Cu‘Sto‘dién’-s'-l,n'iti’a'ls‘: )
" & fam adoly auskiorized Custodian of Recotds, or vthel qualified withass, fotthe
 Bhigvétamed bisings: Assleh | have'the authority o certify these fecords,
b A thorough search has been made for the dycurients tescribied In th Deposition Subpena/Authorization
and, b ythie Iiforniation provided to i oF Tdentification, o Such Faeords wers found.
c. No Goples of records are transmitted because wé-do-not have sald records,
{f na records, please explain

| dedlsieé underpenally of raer}ury urider the laws of the Stateof Callfornia(tbat the-faragoing | is true-and correct,
afid thilt 11 dediaration was executsd oh (ﬁate) Ct ! 3’9 O“‘ [N Q’ﬁ 1 (plamS =3 *9"\ :FV AT [{<} X Cahfom:a

PriAt: natte, Q{)‘{}Ir\ N\e«ese— (‘T N Signature G? SN NKQ@ @WWNMN

Vﬁtri‘.éé’sed W/ ot

DECLARATION OF CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS

W2552043
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DELIVE MEALS CLIENT CHANGE
DATE: 7\‘(,;\‘ 2 {HlC Davs: r'TUE TH F § §
FROZ: MON/THUR ~  TUE/FRI -

CLIENT’S NAME: lV\ & CK«‘: ne o g ROUTE# _ LW O _:fﬁ&ﬁj;_dish_%f
ADDRESS: __ (10 =55 page S4.
CANCELM (WEN ) RESUME: DIET CHANGE:

SPECIALDEL: ____ NEWSTART, _______ SCHEDULECHANGE:
MESSAGE: (‘\\n«k C‘Aﬂ*‘n\nu hO\AQ{ QA (WA \0\ Q‘Lﬂfk niec-e U\';\\\
cotl Yo ve &a w\~e ek wae\(_.

CALLER: Mm_kmmc_&x_k_ RELAFIONSHIPTO CLIENT: ,_RAMLLL___, PHONE:
TAKEN BY: Cq:&_\*_ MSC CHANGES: NUTRITIONIST: ___________ COMPUTER: @L__

PROG MGR: NEW CLIENTPKG: DRIVER RESPONSE REQUESTED:
05/07 .

DATE: o=l R e DAYS(/-TUE W TH F s)

FROZ: MON/THUR TUE/FRI

CLIENI'SNAME; L &4 AN E DA ROUTE# _of= £/ 4 DIET 2
ADDRESS: __ &5 #AEE o7

CANCEL: ____ 72 =X _ xusumg 2 & QA  DIET CHANGE:

SPECIALDEL: . NEWSTART: _______ SCHEDULE CHANGE:

MESSAGE: _ &7 £/ ~ & & A Tl i

CALLER; RELATIONSHIPTOCLIENT: __________ PHONE __
TAKENBY: __ (/5. MSCCHANGES: _______ NUTRITIONIST, ________ COMPUTER: g:/__l_p_éz
PROGMGR: _______ NEWCLENTPKG: ______ DRIVER RESPONSE REQUESTED:
05/07

CONFIDENTIAL MOWSF-0001
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928/2015 ' Support Services Ald / Home Dellvarad Meal Services6230
g . leals Home Delivered Meal Service Name:CANADA, IRIS
Y, e F unwheQIS Meals On Wheels of San Francisco

of San francisco, e

Start Date: Key Client: £
Stop Date ¢ No Donation Letter: I
Status : v oRL r
Oven : Fridge : |Select v}

Log History Note:

{

Route grotip:
Route 1D;
Del Seq:

Alt Route ID:
Cross Street:

Frequency:

Resldence directions:

Client Detalls: |~

Spacial Notes:| v

i house fumlgated
Bill to :Title/First/last |MF.
Address: [ ]
State: |

Save

ClientNote (You Have 0 Notes)

SSC Form Client Details Restricted diet Direction Delivery Qrder  Kitchen and Driver list Meals Scheduler

' Altemale Services

Printed: 912612015 12:40:20 PM SSAId Copyright 2015 | Al Rights Reserved | Site development by PCC Interiiet Group
hitps:/iww gsald com/ssaldiServices/HomedellveredmealServicessf.asp?Clientld=4048 . 112

CONFIDENTIAL MOWSF-0002
2350




O 0 ~u O L R W N e

Yk ek mmd jed el e
v B W R - O

ZACKS & FREEDMAN, P.C.
o

235 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 400

SAN FrRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94104
[0S T O R T e i )
I EEREIRBEE =53

N
(o -]

ANDREW M. ZACKS, SBN 147794
MARK B. CHERNEV, SBN 264946

Z;\CI\I}S & FREEDMAN,SP.C. ELECTRONICALLY
235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400
San Francisco, CA 94104 s EME‘,I;,‘,ECBMB
Tel:  415.956.8100 , Gounty of San Franclsco
Fax: 415.288.9755 10/01/2015

. Clerk of the Court
Attorneys for Plaintiffs BY:ROMY RISK
Peter M. Owens Deputy Clerk

Carolyn A. Radisch
Stephen L. Owens

SUPERIOR COURT - STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION

PETER M. OWENS, an individual, Case No.: CGC-14-543437
CAROLYN A. RADISCH, an individual, '
STEPHEN L. OWENS. an individual DECLARATION OF PETER M. OWENS
‘ ’ ’ IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR
. SUMMARY JUDGMENT OR IN THE
Plaintiffs, ALTERNATIVE SUMMARY
ADJUDICATION
vS.

Dglte: December 22, 2015

IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD 'lglen;fi ?50310 a.m.

REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California .
corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive, Judge:  Hon. Ronald E. Quidachay

Action Filed: December 30, 2014
Defendants. Trial Date:  January 25, 2016

1, Peter Owens, declare as follows:

L, In August 2002, my wife, brother and I bought the six-unit building commonly
known as 668-78 Page Street in San Francisco. I lived in Unit 672 and later in Unit 668 with
my brother Christopher from the fall of 2002 until the fall of 2003 while we renovated 5 of the
6 units in building. All five units were sold as TIC units over summer and fall of 2003,

2. The only unit we did not renovate was Unit §70. It was occupied by Iris

Canada, a then 86-year-old woman who had lived there many years. Over the time I was there,

1-
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I became well acquainted with Iris Canada and visited her often. I particular, I remember we
threw a party for her 87™ birthday in our apartment, She came with her old friend “Mr.
Charlie”. Though in her late 80’s she danced and sang told stories from the 50’s when she was
a young woman in San Francisco. We became quite fond of her over this time. Although not
required to do so, and to the best of our knowledge unprecedented, during 2004 and 2005 we
negotiated a life estate for Iris Canada with her attorney at the time, Stephen Collier of the
Tenderloin Housing Clinic. The life estate agreement enabled her to remain living in the unit
for less than she had been paying for rent. One important term of the life estate was that Iris
Canada permanently reside at 670 Page Street as the sole and only occupant. The benefit of
the Life Estate was always intended to benefit Iris Canada and Iris Canada alone. It was
designed to allow her to continue to live in the unit, as she had for many years, as long as she
could take care of herself. The sole residency requirement was also intended to prevent other
people unknown to us from moving in the unit and taking advantage of Iris and potentially
undermining our intent.

3. In 2003 I moved back to Hanover, New Hampshire, where cﬁrrently reside.
Although I have not lived at 668-78 Page Street for quite some time, I am aware that other
residents living at the property would see Iris Canada on a regular basis, and lock after her,
Additionally, I have continued to keep in touch with Iris Canada through cards and telephone
calls, typically around her birthday as well as other times during the year. I would estimate
that I generally corresponded with Iris Canada approximately six times per year.

4, In November 20051 had,a telephone conversation with Iris Canada where she
had indicated to me that her stove was broken, and that she had broken her arm in two places.

After hearing of her injury, I became concerned about her welfare, and hired a social worker,

“2a
DECLARATION OF PETER OWENS IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

2352




ZACKsS & FREEDMAN, P.C..
235 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 400
SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94104

o0 N1 Y W B WM

B2 D bt e bk ek et pemd ek b s et

Sara Madigan, with the Community Health Resource Center, to check on Iris Canada. After
her first home visit with Iris Canada, Sara Madigan indicated in her report that Iris Canada
“reports that her nieces and fi-iends help her with food, housekeeping, errands and doctors
appointments, She is connected with Western Addition Senior Center, gets ‘meals on wheels’
delivered meals and uses their transportation as well as the city paratransit program. There is
some clutter in her home (photo albums, boxes and papers). She reports her nieces don’t have
time to help her or physically cannot. Says she cannot afford to hire someone to help her
clean, She does not qualify for low income or free assistance as her income is too high. I
believe she could afford a housekeeping service or a homecare agency, they charge between
812-20/hour. She is experiencing some social withdrawal, isolation and possibly depression
but she did not feel she wanted any assistance in addressing these. Says she will contact
Western Addition Senior Center if she needs anything.”

5. In October 2006, I received a call from Melissa Dubasik in Unit 672 informing
me that Iris had been showing signs of forgetfulness and possible dementia. Iris Canada had
locked herself out of her apartment several times and required a locksmith to get her back
inside. Melissa Dubasik had contacted Iris Canada’s niece, Bertha Johnson, who arranged to
have keys made and left with Alexandra (next door neighbor at the time) and Melissa Dubasik
(who lived upstairs) in case it happened again.

6. Up to approximately 2007, Iris would always send me greeting cards or notes
along with her monthly life estate payments. The last note I received from Iris was on June 30,
2007. That note stated “Ifello Peter and Family. About to make another birthday. I am doing

OK. Trying to get ready for Church and get this mail off to you. God bless. Love fo all, Iris.”

3.
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Monthly checks continued for the next five years however I never received another hote after
that one. |

7. In August 2007 I received an email from Melissa Dubasik reporting an incident
where Iris had unwittingly left the gas to the stove on. For obvious reasons associated with the
safety of Iris Canada, the other residents, and the building as a whole, this incident greatly
concerned me. The source was only discovered after considerable panic and the help of a
fireman. Melissa Dubasik was very concerned also because “The smell of gas was very sirong.
What if she had left her unit with the stove on or just forgot all together and none of us were
home to check on her? As much as I like Iris I cannot but help feel she is unable to look after
herself based on other similar situations that have occurred over the years. Right or wrong the
perception is you bear a level of responsibility for her and the unit. This stems from he fact
that you have been so kind to her over the years. Ido not want to sound harsh or insensitive
hbwéver I think we all agree that our safety and the safety of the building are of the utmost
importance. ”

8. By Jmu@ 0f 2009 the incidents of léaving the gas on had continued, and
gotten so bad that the other tenants in the building contacted Adult Protective Services about
Iris Canada. Ireceived a letter dated January 26, 2009 from Larry Henderson (Worker #4354)
informing me of seven documented incidents of gas being left on or Iris Canada’s apartment
being filled with smoke. While he had hoped to have the stove gas line capped (requiring work
to be performed by PG&E and a site visit), he was only able to temporarily shut off the gas
valve to protect her. “I was working with client’s niece (also named Iris [Iris Merriouns],
discussed infra) who was supposed to be working on the issue, but I have not heard back from

her in some time now. At this point, I need to close the case.” To the best of my knowledge,
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from this point forward Iris Canada no longer used her stove, nor was the stove able to be used
in its current state, and Iris Canada and depended on family members and social service
providers to bring her meals.

A 9. ‘While I have received no direct contact from Iris Canada after 2007, I did
continue to get updates on her welfare from time to time from Michel Bechirian, my long time
neighbor and building partner who was also very friendly with Iris Canada,

10.  On July 12" 2012 just after midnight (EST), I received an email from Michel
Bechirian reporting that Chris Beahn (Iris Canada’s upstairs neighbor) had discovered Iris
Canada had gone missing earlier that evening. Chris Beahn was worried about Iris Canada
and was forced to use the spare key to gain access to her apartment that evening to perform a
check on welfare. Chris Beahn discovered that Iris Canada was not there. I tried calling her
niece Bertha Johnson but was told I had the wrong number.

11, Four days later, Michel Bechirian informed me that he was able to reach another
niece of Iris Canada, Iris Merriouns. Michel Bechirian indicated that Iris Merriouns came over
to break some family news, Iris Merriouns saw the state of the apartment, and quickly took Iris
Canada away. At that time, Iris Merriouns arranged for an exterminator to come to the
apartment and to return periodicélly for the next month to adciress an obvious infestation
problem that had developed. Iris Merriouns also explored the idea of disposing of a lot of the
accumulated junk from the apartment, possibly by renting a mini dumpster. Iris Merriouns
also mentioned there was a problem with a hole in the sheet-rock in the apartment and she also
inquired about the Food Bank Center located next door. 1t was at this point it became clear to
Michel Bechirian that Iris Canada was at a stage where she was no longer reasonably able to

look after herself.
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12. My first contact with Iris Canada’s niece, Iris Merriouns, was by phone on
September 15" 2012, She confirmed with me that the apartment had become overrun with
roaches and vermin and that she was forced to move Iris Canada out of the apartment, and to
live with her at her residence in Oakland until she was able to have the apartment
professionally exterminated and cleaned up for habitable use. Iris Canada never moved back
into the Premises.

13 Iris Merriouns asked many questions about her aunt’s tenancy. She seemed
particularly interested in her Aunt’s “purchase of the condo.” I explained her that it was nota
condo but a TIC unit, T also explained that the granting of the Life Estate was limited to the
specific benefit of her Aunt so long as she lived there on her own and that it was materially
different from a standard real estate purchase. She did not seem to understand this distinction
and kept talking about “Bertha” (another niece) telling her Aunt Iris Canada had bought the
unit. [ suggested consulting an attorney to have it explained and told her I would send her all
the documents for her review. I followed up that call by sending Iris Merriouns an email on
Sunday September 16" in which I reiterated the nature of the Life Estate and the associated
financial terms. I also attached all the life estate documents, From that point forward (Fall
2012), each and every one of the life estate payments, arrived by mail with an Oakland
postmark.

14.  Iheard nothing from either Iris Canada or Iris Mertiouns for approximately a
year after that. In April 2013, the life estate payments stopped coming. I made approximately
three or four phone calls, leaving messages, and also sent an email or two to Iris Metriouns,
each and every one of which went unreturned. Additionally, the phone number I had for Iris

Canada at 670 Page Street had been disconnected. Four months later, when we returned from
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our summer vacation in early August, we found a voicemail message left by Iris Merriouns on
July 21%, Tt detailed a long stoty about how she had not been well and was unable to respond.

[ sent her an email and left a phone message on August 4%, Again they were not returned. On
August 17" 2013, 1 once again emailed Iris Merriouns again asking for clarification on the
status of Iris Canada, her living arrangements, and the status of the months of overdue life
estate payments, and advised her that her Aunt (Iris Canada) was in violation of the Life Estate.
I once again, attached the related Life Estate documents. I did finally receive a phone call in
return that same day (August 17") in which she explained she had health issues and promised
to send all the back payments by FEDEX the next day. She also said she would give me an
update on the long-term status of her Aunt as soon as she was back on her feet. Eight days
later (August 26™), after no FEDEX package had arrived, I once again emailed Iris Merriouns
for an explanation. Again, I received no response. Finally a FEDEX package with the overdue
payments was delivered on September 3. However, no explanation of the plan for her Aunt
was ever receivgd. And more to the point, it had been over a year since the person we had a
contractual agreement, namely Iris Canada herself, had left the unit and disconnected her
phone. Since her move out in early July 2012, Iris Canada had made no effort to contact me,
explain her behavior, or provide me a means to contact her,

15.  Itravelled to San Francisco in late May of 2014 to be at the property for a San
Francisco City building inspection in conjunction with the TIC association’s application for
sub-division of building. On that date, I entered 670 Page Street, Iris Canada’s apartment.
Upon entering the unit, I made a number of observations that strongly evidenced that no one
had been living there for a very long time. First, the toilet bow! was bone dry, as all of the

water from the bowl had evaporated. The bathtub in the bathroom had mold in it and also had
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obviously not been used for a very long time. Rodent traps and roach traps lined most all of
the walls of the apartment and virtually all of the furniture was stacked up in the center of the
back rooms. It was patently obvious nobody had used the furniture in z;. very long time.
Additionally, the beds were covered with bags of old clothes, evidencing that nobody had used
either the clothing or the beds in a very long time. The refrigerator was completely empty
except for about two-dozen Dr, Pepper cans that I could not determine how long they had been
there. There was vermin excrement on top of all of tables and all of the shelves in the kitchen,
also evidencing that nobody had been in the apartment for a very long time. Large piles of
trash blocked the back porch door, and there were rolls and rolls of urine-soaked and feces-
infested carpeting. The smell alone was horrendous, further evidencing that nobody had lived
in the apartment for a very long time, The calendar in the kitchen displayed the month “July
2012.” The only mail I was able to observe was a 2013 holiday card from Chris Beahn,
located on the front hall bookcase and unopened. Virtually all of the lights had been left on. T
cannot emphasize enough the very strong and unpleasant stench that permeated .the entire unit.
Six true and correct copies of photographs accuratelylrepresenting the condition of 670 Page
Street from this visit are attached to the Exhibits in Support of Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary
Judgment (“Exhibits”) collectively as Exhibit E.

16.  After seeing the decrepit state of 670 Page Street and it being obviously both
unlived in and unlivable, I sincerely wondered if Iris Canada was even alive. I called her niece
Iris Metriouns and left a message asking if I could see her, Iris Merriouns called me back and
we set up a time to meet at a Starbucks in Oakland on Saturday morning May 31, 2014. At the
meeting, Iris Canada was there, along with Iris Merriouns, and Iris Canada looked well and

seemed to remember me. In the course of conversation, Iris Merriouns informed me that Iris
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had been living with her in Oakland since 2012 and was attending a day program at a senior
center during the week, while Iris Merriouns was at work. Iris Merriouns told me it was
difficult for her to do activities and personal errands on weekends, because she had to care for
her aunt, Iris Canada. For example, she told me that later that Saturday Iris Merriouns was to
attend some kind of event or meeting and she had no choice but to bring Iris Canada with her.
Iris Merriouns also asked me not to discuss the state of the apartment with Iris Canada because
it would upset her. I agreed, but told Iris Merriouns that I would be in touch with her to
discuss mandatory and necessary repairs to the unit to make it habitable and safe for human
occupancy, to discuss the pending sub-division and associated paperwork, and the status of Iris
Canada’s residency,

17.  Over the course of that summer, namely 2014, I tried no less than 24 times to
contact Iris Canada thru Iris Merriouns by phone, email, and text message, all to discuss her
tenancy, the state of the unit, and the subdivision paperwork of the building.! While I received
several text messages from Iris Merriouns promising a response soon, there was never any
follow-up. Finally, on September 14, 2014, I emailed Iris Merriouns advising her that due to
the lack of any response whatsoever from Iris Canada, who remains the holder of the life estate
and responsible person, I had no choice but to turn the matter of the life estate, the lack of
residency, the state of the apartment, and the general lack of all communication and
cooperation regarding the occupancy, over to my attorney. Iris Merriouns called me back

immediately. [ asked to speak with Iris Canada and she put her on the phone. I spoke briefly

1 The subdivision process of converting the building from TIC to condominiums requires that all occupants sign
certain paperwork. As a result of Iris Canada’s life estate, she is a necessary party to sign the paperwork, The
conversion process, and the eventual conversion itself, would have no impact on Iris Canada’s residency, life
estate, or her right to occupy the Premises for the remainder of her life. Additionally, Iris Canada’s life estate

would have continued to be personally honored by me, and the conversion itself would have had no effect on her
ability to reside at the Premises.
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with Iris Canada, and as soon as I started to ask her about her the status of the apartment and
her occupancy, Iris Merriouns immediately took the phone away from her, That was the last
time I have spoken to Iris Canada.

18,  Most recently, this past fall and winter of 2014, I remained in close
communication with my neighbors at the property. It became abundantly clear from multiple
observations that Iris Canada was not residing at 670 Page Street, and that she had not lived at
there since at least as early as June or July of 2012.

19, Over the course of this past fall and winter, 2014, I sent three certified letters,
on September 10, 2014, September 30, 2014, and December 15, 2014, all to Iris Canada at 670
Page Street requesting that she please contact me. I have received no response to any of those
letters.

20.  Due to the lack of response to my requests to contact me to address the
conditions and‘ state of the apartment, I made arrangements with a contractor to fix the most
egregious of the damages and work identified as code violations by the SF Dept of Building
Inspection baclk at the end of May 2014, I sent and an email to Iris Merriouns on September
14" and a certiﬁed letter on September 30" notifying Iris Canada of the planned work, stating
that since she had not resided there since July 2012, I assumed that scheduling the work would’
not be a problem and asking her to contact me if she had any questions. Upon notification by
the contractor regarding a date certain for the work to begin, I sent an email to Iris Merriouns
asking her to advise her Aunt that work would be starting on Tuesday or Wednesday of the
following week. When the contractor arrived on Wednesday October 8" to start the work, he
was unable to access the unit because the key wasn’t working. I sent Iris Merriouns an email

that day, asking her to inform her Aunt that the lock was not working and advise her that we

-10-
DECLARATION OF PETER OWENS IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

2360




ZACKS & FREEDMAN, P.C.
235 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 400
SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNLA 94104

WO ~I N L b W N e

[ Y T N S & S e e e u i ey

would have it repaired and would reschedule the work for the following week. I received a
voicemail the next day (October 9"™) and an email on October 13™ admitting she had
unilaterally changed the locks without notice to us, to prevent any access to the unit to “protect
her (Aunt’s) privacy.” Despite repeated requests via email, no key was provided to us, the
owner of the unit. As a result of the refusal of Iris Canada to cooperate with our efforts to
repair the unit’s deficiencies, we have been unable to make needed repairs.

21. On October 22, 2014, my wife and I were in San Francisco for a conference and
visited 670 Page Street, also to check on the building and meet with our co-owners. We
confirmed that other than Iris Canada showing up at Geoff Piece’s door for a “photo-op” the
week before, not a single resident of the building had seen Iris Canada in well over two years.
Every resident of the building unanimously agreed and confirmed that 670 Page Street, Iris
Canada’s unit, had been unoccupied since Iris Canada had moved out in 2012,

22.  During the final week of October 2014, the neighbors at the property emailed
me to inform me that & bundle of packages delivered to Iris Canada at 670 Page had been
sitting outside fhc front door, and that the packages had remained unclaimed at the door for at
least 5 days.

23, During the second week in November 2014, the neighbors again sent me notice
of multiple failed UPS delivery notices, which also had been posted on Iris Canada’s door.
These notices remained on Iris Canada’s door unclaimed for days. |

24,  Around December 13, 2014, a next-door neighbor and resident of the building,
Geoff Pierce, began to hear the beeping of a smoke alarm in Unit 670, Iris Canada’s unit,
Geoff Pierce informed me that had repeatedly knocked on the door and left numerous notes

taped to the door, however all of his efforts went unanswered for weeks and the later
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determined low battery smoke alarm beeping went off constantly. The notes left by Geoff
Pierce were finally retrieved and the noise stopped on January 21, 2015, after remaining and
pinging for well over a month,

25.  Because the locks had been changed at 670 Page Street, and I was not provided
a set, as the owner, on January 24, 2015, I sent Iris Canada a “Notice of Emergency Entry”
informing her that due to her non-response to multiple written notices requesting emergency
access to unit 670, we would be re-keying the lock at 10:00 a.m. on January 28, 2015, and
replacement keys would be immediately available, The Notice of Emergency Entry was also
posted to Iris Canada’s front door, where it remained posted for a week.

26.  OnJanuary 28, 2015, at 10:00 a.m. the locksmith came to change the locks. Iris
Canada was not there, nor did she make an appearance. In order to give the locksmith access
to the rear door, Geoff Pierce passed thru the unit and observed conditions essentially identical
to my observations in May 2014, eight months eatlier. The toilet bowl remained bone dry.
There was still mold in the bathtub. The furniture was still stacked in the middle of the back
rooms and the refrigerator was still empty except for the cans of Dr. Pepper, which wete in the
identical same place. The only difference at all in the entire apartment was the addition of
new package of smoke alarm batteries on the main shelf, which has obviously been used in an
effort to cease the low battery beeping. Three true and correct copies of photographs
accurately representing the condition of 670 Page Street on this January 28, 2015 visit are
attached to the Exhibits collectively as Exhibit F,

27. To the best of my knowledge, since she moved out in June of 2012, Iris Canada
has come to the property only threé times; October 14, 2014, December 9, 2014 and January

31, 2015. Each time, a neighbor emailed me to alert me to the fact that she was on the
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premises. Each time she was in the company of her niece, Iris Merriouns, and each time she
stayed on the prexﬁises for only a short time, an hour or less. Since her last appearance on the
evening of January 31, 2015 to the best of my knowledge, Iris Canada has not been on the
premises.

28,  Since the initial drafting of this declaration in April 2015, to the best of my
knowledge, Iris Canada has appeared only once more at the apartment. On May 8™, 20151
was notified by one of the building’s residents that she was in the apartment for about 2.5
houts in the late afternoon. One of the other residents phofographed Iris Canada and Iris
Merriouns leaving in a late model black Mercedes SUV at approximately 7pm. That evening I
received a short email from Iris Merriouns complaining about one of the security cameras in
the front hall (three security cameras were installed by the building owners several weeks
earlier in response to security concerns in the neighborhood). I have had no other contact with
either Iris Canada or Iris Merriouns. All contact has been handled by my attorney as a result of
the pending litigation.

29.  The condition of the apartment described in paragraph 14 are recorded in a
series of photographs from late May 2014 (Exhibits, Exhibit F). Correction of the described
deficiencies and damages to the apartn‘lent have not been remedied due to non-cooperation of
Iris Canada to have the work done (see paragraphs 19, 20, and 25). The primary costs to
remedy these deficiencies are attempts to get into the units to do the work, and not the work
itself. The costs incurred were related to fully noticed attempts to access the unit on October 8,
2014 and January 28, 2015 was approximately $600. This includes $512 for a locksmith and
about 2 hours of wasted contractor time trying to access the unit. As access was never

successful, the work remains uncompleted.
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30. On or about June 14, 2005, my business partners and co-plaintiffs in this action,
Stephen Owens, Carolyn Radisch, and I, all entered into a sales agreement (“Bill of Sale)
whereby Iris Canada was granted a life estate equivalent to a 16 2/3 interest in the property
commonly known as 668-670-672-674-676-678 Page Street, San Francisco, California, and
specifically occupancy in the unit known as 670 Page Street, San Francisco, California, in
exchange for monetary consideration in the amount of $250,000. Additionally, Defendant
made, executed, and delivered to my partners and I a promissory note, dated October 6, 20035,
(“Promissory Note™) evidencing the finance agreement for the purchase of the life estate. My
partners and I are the holders of that Promissory Note, A true and correct copy of that
complete Bill of Sale and associated complete Promissory Note are attached to the Exhibits in
support of Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgment or in the Alternative Summary
Adjudication (“Exhibits™) as Exhibits A and C respectively.

K} P{lrsuant to the terms of the Bill of Sale and the Promissory Note, my partners
and I executed and delivered to Iris Canada a grant of life estate (“Life Estate”) granting Iris
Canada, for the term of her natural life, for as long as she permanently resides, as the sole and
only occupant, the property known as 670 Page Street, San Francisco, California. The Life
Estate was recorded at the San Francisco Assessor-Recorder’s office on October 19, 2005 as
DOC-2005-10544455-00. A true and correct copy of that complete and entire Life Estate is
attached to the Exhibits as Exhibit B.

32,  To secure the payment on the Promissory Note, and as part of the transaction,
Iris Canada made, executed, and delivered to my partners and myself, as beneficiaries, a deed
of trust (“Deed of Trust”). The Deed of Trust was cxecuted on October 6, 2015 by Iris Canada,

and was duly recorded at the San Francisco Assessor-Recorder’s Office, as DOC-2005-
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1054456-00 on October 19, 2005. My partners and myself are the holders of that Deed of
Trust, A true and correct copy of that complete Deed of Trust is attached to the Exhibits as
Exhibit D.

33.  The Grant of Life Estate sets forth certain terms, conditions, and covenants of
significance to this action. First, as a term and condition of the life estate itself, Iris Canada is
required to permanently reside at the premises (Grant of Life Estate, Exhibit C, Page 1, second
to last paragraph). Second, the life estate may e revoked if Iris Canada fails to make the
payments as required by the Promissory Note or if Iris Canada violates the terms of the Deed
of Trust. (Grant of Life Estate, Exhibit C, Page 2, Paragraph 1).

34, The Deed of Trust sets forth certain terms, conditions, and covenants of
significance to this action, First, the purpose of the Deed of Trust is to secure payment of the
Promissory Note between myself and my partners, and Iris Canada. (Deed of Trust, Exhibit C,
Page 1). Second, the Life Estate may be revoked of Iris Canada violates the terms of the Deed
of Trust. (Deed of Trust, Page 2, Paragraph 1) Third, the Deed of Trust sets forth that in the
event the Grant of Life Estate is revoked due to a violation by Iris Canada of a one of the
terms, all obligations secured by the Deed of Trust, at the option of myself and my partners,
shall become immediately due and payable. (Deed of Trust, Exhibit C Page 1, last paragraph).
Fourth, Iris Canada agrees to keep the Premises in good condition and repair and to not commit
or permit waste to occur at the premises. (Deed of Trust, Exhibit C, Page 2, Paragraph A,1.).

35.  The Promissory Note sets forth certain terms, conditions, and covenants of
significance to this action. First, if Iris Canada breaches any term, condition, or covenant of
the Deed of Trust, the balance of the Promissory Note debt which remains unpaid at that time,

shall become due and immediately payable at the option of myself and my partners.

15-
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(Promissory Note, Exhibit B, Page 1, last paragraph). Second, in the event an attorney is hired
to enforce payment pursuant to the Promissory Note, Iris Canada agrees to pay all such
expenses and attorney’s fees associated with énforcement. (Promissory Note, Exhibit B, Page
2). As of the issuance of Notice of Default (discussed infi-a) the outstanding balance owed by
Iris Canada pursuant to the Promissory Note is $171,600.00.

36. On November 3, 2014, by way of my counsel, Iris Canada was served with a
Notice of Default, via Certified Mail, (“Notice of Default”) informing her of the default of her
obligations under the Grant of Life Estate and the Deed of Trust, as a result of her failing to
permanently reside at the Premises as well as her permitting the Premises to fall into disrepair
and failure to maintain the property in good condition and repair. Additionally, Iris Canada
was informed of my partners’ and my election to revoke the life estate and the demand the
accelerated payments due pursuant to the terms of the Deed of Trust and the Promissory Note.
A true and correct copy of that Notice of Default with Certified mailing is attached as Exhibit
D.

37.  Iamfirmly convinced that Iris Canada has not resided at 670 Page Street since
late June/early July of 2012—a period of over 3 years. Prior to mid-2012, observers report a
steady pattern of visitors coming and going from the apartment, social encounters, concerns
being raised about Iris Canada’s well-being, meals being brought in, lights going on and off,
coming and going to doctor’s appoints, errands run—in short the typical residential activities
related to an elderly person living on her own. After the well documented “move out” of Iris
Canada in late June/early July 2012 due to the homific conditions found in the apartment, these

activities ceased. Since that time, the apartment has remained frozen time, lights left on, toilet

-16-
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bowl water evaporated, refrigerator empty/unchanged, furniture piled up, and calendar showing
July 2012,

38. There is a substantial body of evidence that prior to 2012, Iris Canada was no
longer able live on her own in the apartment. The sequence of documented events over the
preceding seven years (between 2005 and 2012), suggests an individual who is increasingly
unable to live independently as the ‘sole and only occupant’ of 670 Page Street. By June 2012,
when her niece moved her out at age 96, her residency in the unit had become a clear a danger
to herself and to the other residents of the building. More than three years later, with now
Tris’s 99" now having turned 99 in July, there is simply no scenario where she could move
back into the unit and reside independently without once again endangering both herself and

her neighbors,

Dated: September 30, 2015

PeterlOwens

2D
%[%
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SIRK]NLAW APC

388 Market Street « Suite 1300 » San Francisco ¢ California = 94111 = 415.738.8545(v) « 707.922.8641{f)
dasirkin@earthlink.net » www.andysirkin.com

February 26, 2018
Rich Hillis, President
San Francisco Planning Commission
1650 Mission Street, Suite 400
San Francisco, CA 94102-4689

Re: 668-678 Page Street Condo Conversion Application

Dear President Hillis and Members of the Planning Commission:
I am writing to clarify two important matters relating to the above-referenced conversion application.

First, I would like to explain our use of the term “vacant” to describe the status of Unit 670 in the “Six
Year Occupancy History” section of the SFDPW Conversion Application Form. At the time we prepared
the application, our office was informed by all of the other owners of the property that neither Ms. Iris
Canada, nor anyone else, had resided in Unit 670 since November 2012. This information was
corroborated by Iris Merriouns, Ms. Canada’s grandniece, who swore under oath that Ms. Canada
moved into Ms. Merriouns’ East Bay home in 2012.

Our office has been preparing San Francisco condominium conversion applications since 1993, and
has prepared an average of 60 such applications per year for the past 20 years. Throughout this
period, it has been our practice, and based on long experience, the accepted and preferred practice of
SFDPW, to describe apartments in which no one was residing as “vacant” in the “Six Year Occupancy
History” chart on the application. This approach is consistent with our understanding of the purpose
of the chart, which is to determine who is living in the building on the application date and who has
been living there during the six preceding years.

Neither SFDPW nor any other San Francisco governmental agency has ever asked us to provide
information on the personal items or furnishings present in an apartment, and there is no part of the
SFDPW Conversion Application Form that requests such information. Consequently, we do not ask
our clients to provide information on whether personal property is present in the apartments, and we
do not indicate the presence of such items in the “Six Year Occupancy History”.

Next, I would like to explain why we, and SFDPW, believed Ms. Canada to be an owner rather than a
tenant. Under a deed recorded in 2005, Ms. Canada was granted an ownership interest in the
property. The existence of this deed was shown on the Preliminary Title Report. Based on the Report,
SFDPW requested that we provide a copy of Ms. Canada’s deed, which we did, after which SFDPW
confirmed in writing that it considered her to be an owner. Specifically, Cheryl Chan of SFDPW wrote
in an email dated June 11, 2014: “From the deed provided, Iris Canada is an owner of record. Please
have Iris sign and notarize the required documents for all owners in the ECP application.”

Respectfully,
D. Andrew Sirkin
SirkinLaw APC

DAS/as
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Andrew M. Zacks (SBN 147794 _ F L!ﬁ 5 Q
Mark B. Chernev (SBN 264946)) San Frang niy Gugerief Gourt

ZACKS & FREEDMAN, P.C. MAR 22 zum ,
%35 II}/IontgomerCy ftgrg?gfuite.%o : ‘
an Francisco,
Tel: (415) 956-8100 CLERK.OF OURT
Fax: (415) 288-9755 BV T
Attorneys for Plaintiffs, '
Peter M. Owens, et al.
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIF ORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO - UNLIMITED JURISDICTION
PETER M. OWENS, an inciividual, Case No.: CGC-14-543437
CAROLYN A, RADISCH, an individual,
STEPHEN L, OWENS, an in&dividual, ’ JUDGMENT
Plaintiffs,

\AB

IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD
REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California
corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive,

Defendants

This action came on regularly for tfialvon March 21, 2016 in Department 502 of the
Superior Court of California, County of San Francisco, the Hon;arable James A. Robertson, [T
Judge P;esiding; Plaintiffs appeared by their counsel Mark B. Chernev of Zacks & Freedman,
P.C,, Defendant Iris Canada failed to appear.

The Court, having éead and considered the papers and evidence subfnitted, including

the Notice of Time and Place of Trial served on Defendant, Iris Canada, finds as follows:
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1. quehdant Irié Canada Was properly served pursuant to Code ofC;vxl Pfocedure
§594 with a Notice of Time and Place of Trial on February 2, 2016, noticing Defendant Iris
Canada of the trial date of March 21, 2016;

2. De;‘endant Tris Canada failed to appear at the March 21 , 2016 trial;

3. The March 21, 2016 trial was continued to March 22, 2016 to permit Plaintiffs
the opportunity to prepare a prove up of the.ir cause of action based on Defendémt Iris Canada’s
failure to appear;

4, Defendant Iris Canada was properly noticed of the continued trial date and for
prove up hearing to be heard on March 22, 2016;

5. Thé Court conducted a prove up hearing fm March 22, 2016, at which time the
Court took judicial notice of the documents presented by Plaintiffs and heard testimony from
Plaintiff, Peter M. Owens andhon—party witness Geoff Pierce;

6. Defendant Iris Canada failed to appear at the propérly noticed March 22, 2016
continued trial date and for prove up hearing.

- After having heard and reviewed evidence presented by Plaintiffs, and ai’cer havihg

made a determination that the evidence presented by Plaintiffs appears to be just, and the

N o NN DN NN

failure of Defendant Iris Canada to appear at the properly noticed time and date for trial,
judgment shall be entered in favor of Plaintiffs, and against Defendant Iris Canada, Therefor,
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED THAT: judgment in this action

shall be in favor of Plaintiffs Peter M. Owens, Carolyn A. Radisch, and Stephen L. Owens, and

against Defendant Iris Canada for:
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. Immediate possession of the premises of 670 Page Street, San Francisco, California
against any and all occuparits, and a wnt of possegsion against Iris Canéda and any and
all oceupants, known or unknown, shall issue;
. The Deed of Trust DOC-2005-1054456-00 is foreclosed and 670 Page Street, San
Francisco, California shall revert back to Plaintiffs, and that Defendant Iris Canada is
barred and forecl(;sed from all rights, élafms, intereéts, or equity of redemption in the
subject property when time for redemption has elapsed;
. Defendant Iris Canada’s Life Estﬁte DOC—ZOOS-IQS445_5-00 is terminated and any and
all property:interesté currently held by Defendant Iris Canada in 676 Page Street, San
Francisgo, California are terminated and shall revert back to Plaintiffs;
. Defendant Iris Canada, her agents, and/or anyone acting on her behalf shall cease and
desist cauéing or permitting waste to occur at 670 Page Street, San Francisco,
California; |

The Promi_ssory Note, dated October 6, 2005 and executed by Defendant Iris Canada
has become immediately due and payable and judgment :;.hall be entereci against
Defendant Iris Caﬁada for the sum of $171,600.00 in favor.of Plaintiffs, the exaﬁt ,

amount prayed for in Plaintiffs’ Complaint,
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The underslgined Grant{z) doalares(s) that the

S5 250 QBUNTY 5 ciry

compmcd an the cansideration oF valie of praperty conveyed; or
_. compuited on the consideration value lés2 Hens or encnmbranoes remaining
at Hine of sale: ar
—other;__

GRANT OF LIFE ESTATE

. APN: Lot 015, Block 0843

Property Address: 668-678 Page Street
San Franeisco, CA

* FOR A VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, receipt of which i hersby acknowledged,

PETER M, OWENS and CAROLYN A. RADISCH, husband and wife, as community property
with right of sumvorshxp, as to an undivided 2/18th interest and STEPHEN L. OWENS,a

married man, as his sole and separate property, 'as to an undivided 1/] 18th interegt, as
Tenants in Common . A

hereby GRANT A LIFE ESTATE to IRIS CANADA

as to the Grantors’ spcuﬁc interest in the reat property n the City of San Franclsco, County of
San Francisco, State of California described as

-~
!

See Legal Description attached and made a part hereto marked Exhibit “A”,

pursuant to the féllowing'terms:

For the term of Iris Canada's natural life, for as long as she permanently re'sides, as the sole and
only occupant, in the property commonly kmown as 670 Page Street, San Francisco, California,

Excepting, therefrom however, Iris Canada’s tight to rent, lease or sublet the 670 Page Street
property and/ox Iris Canada’s right to have any other occupants living with Iis Canada at the 670
Page Street property, and the right of Iris Canada to assign, transfer, pledge or encumber her
interest in the property so as fo secure any financial arrangement other than to Grantors herein,

Pagelof 3
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Fucther reserving to said Grantors the right to revoke this Grant of Life Estate should Iris Canada.
fail to remit payments pursuant to the Promissoty Note of even date hereof, the right of Grantors
to revake this Graut of Life Bstate should fris Canada violate the tevms of the Deed of Trust of
even date heteof, and the right of Grantors alone fo refinance the property of which this Grant of
Life Estate {s & part. Further reserving to said grantors any and all obligations to pay property
taxes for the duration of the life estate.

Tn case of such revacation being made, it shall be made and can only be made in writing, duly
aclnowledged and recorded.

Dated:
. N

STATE OF GAEESRNIA New HampShire ?{/‘@1 A

COUNTY OF st FRaNGiSe0 G o E 0N A .
on \litloBberareme Carrie Ao Hamed Peter \§, Owens  +
. _personally appearsd

TS and cgg%‘i&m:sm : M\/\//
pessonally known 10 me or proved 10 me on this basis of

satisfuctory evidence to be the pérson(x) whasename(s) Camlyn A. Radlsch

{s/are subsoribed Lo the within instrument and acknawledged

to e e hefshefthay exectiled the same {n Hisfher ftheir

aulliorized capacity(ics) nnd that by hisMer/their signatuce(s)

on the ingtrument the persan(s), or the.entity upon behalf of Step hen L. \QWEJJS

shich the person(s) neted, sxecuted the instniment,
WITNESSW(D % FEICIAL SEAL.
Signauire u) W ’

CARRIE A, HAMEL, Notary Publia
By Commission Explres Fahruary 5 2008

STATE OF CONNECTICUT:

: pe: Weat Hartford June 15, 2005
* COUNTY OF HARTFORD : :

Peraonally appeared Stephen L. Owene,‘ signer of
the foregoing, who acknowledged the same to bs his

free act and deed before me
/chzuzwu_ & Jacima

Kathleen C. Lauria

Notary Public

My Commisgion explres: & 2.9 '(-77/“’
Page 2 of 3
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EXHIBIT A
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

Property Information,

668-670-672-674-676-678 Page Street
San Francisco, CA 94117

Legal Description - Assessor’s Block 0843, Lot 015

"Commencing at a point on the northexly line of Page Street; distant thereon 100 feet easterly from
the easterly line of Steiner Street; running thence easterly along said northerly line of Page Street
37 feet 10 Y% inches; thence at a right angle northerly 15 feet 9 inches; thence northwesterly along
a line which if extended would intersect the easterly line of Steiner Street at 2 pont thereon 76
feet 5 inches northerly from the northerly line of Page street 4 V2 inches, more or less, to a point
distanit 137 feet 6 inches easterly from the easterly lien of Steiner Strest; measured along a line

drawn at right angles thereto; thence northerly and parallel with Steiner Street 91 feet 9 inches;
thence at a right angle westerly 37 feet 6 inches; thence at a right angle southetly 107 feet 6 -
inches to the nottherly line of Page Street and the point of commencement.

Being a-portion of Westerly Addition Block No 370,
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Maon, Jan 31, 2005 17:48 AM

Subject: FW: Iris Canada

Date: Thursday, January 27, 2005 12:12 PM
From: Denise Leadbetter <denise@zackslaw.com>
To: <owensradisch@earthlink.net>

Hi Peter, Cavolyn, Stephent
Hope you all are well.

Please lat me Jmow your thoughts regarding the $650. I know that you have
always sald that Iris is expecting to pay to you the equivalent of the rent
sha always paid, but Steve is being a diligent attornay. I will clarify
with Steve that the Ytem B of the Pramissory Note should satisfy his concern
re: balloon payments - i.e. there is none. Further, I will let him koow
that the §250,000 i3 Just an arbitrary amount apd that you shall continue to
pay the property taxes on this portion of the property.

Pleape adviee if my responses here are acceptabla.
Fhanks

Denise

—~—e——-Original Mosgage~-———

From: Btave Collier [mailto:Stevefthclinic.org)
sent: Wednesday, January 26, 2005 2:44 ¥’

To: az@zackslaw,com; denlse@zackslaw.com
Bubject: Iris canada

Dear Andrew and Denige:

I have reviewed the lifel egtate doouments and discuased them with my
client, The 515,000 down payment s not a problem. She has saved the
rent and can pay it.

Regarding the note, I was wondering if your cliest would agree to a -
smaller monthly payment. My clieot had been paying $625 in yent, and ber
incoma is $11081 per month (social security). Would your clients accept
5$650 per month?

Also, my c¢lient has no assets, other than burial insurance. o her
estate would not be able to pay any balloon payment. I assume your
clients understood this. So as far as the size of the note, I suppose it
doas not make much difference, but I em wondering how you ceame up with
the amoont of $250,000. .

Lastly, the owners would have to continus to pay property taxes on the
unit. ¥ do not know if the life estate is assesged and taxed, but my
client conld not afford to pay prooperty taxes on it.

Steva Collier
§ Y
51.A . Unlk
s Wby eatugd paecn dus olows', wndp )
f . . Hea, £ pm‘,,,_{n\rw) :
. WM&l cowl
‘U‘ W Kf' b} ¢ MéNNt. v Cuve v,
. © ) . w
\"q 7; I A )mlw‘t‘/ud Mga;‘e}i i
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cam@ticlawyers.com

From: cam tic <camticbackup@gmail.com>

Sent: Tuesday, January 23, 2018 9:26 AM

To: Cam Perridge

Subject: Fwd: 8255; AB 0843, Lot 015 at 668-678 Page Street

---------- Forwarded message ----------

From: Chan, Cheryl <Cheryl.Chan@sfdpw.org>

Date: Wed, Jun 11, 2014 at 9:42 AM

Subject: RE: 8255; AB 0843, Lot 015 at 668-678 Page Street
To: Cam Perridge <cam@ticlawvers.com>

Hi Cam,

From the deed provided, Iris Canada is an owner of record. Please have Iris sign and notarize the required

documents for all owners in the ECP application.

Thank you,

CHEeRYL CHAN

CITY & COUNTY OF $.F. ~ DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS
Bureau of Street-Use and Mapping
1155 Markat Street, 3rd Floor, San Francisco, CA 24103

Main: 415-554-5827 | Direct: 415-554-4885 | Fax: 415-554-5324

E-Mail:” cheryl.chan@sfdpw.org

From: Cam Perridge [mailto:cam@ticlawyers.com]
Sent: Tuesday, June 10, 2014 3:56 PM
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To: Chan, Cheryl
Subject: RE: 8255; AB 0843, Lot 015 at 668-678 Page Street

Hi Cheryl,

Please find attached the deed for Iris.

Cam

Cam Perridge
SirkinLaw APC
388 Market Street, Suite 1300

San Francisco, CA 94111

v. 415.839-6407
f. 707. 922-8641

cam@ticlawyers.com

www.andysirkin.com

_This email and any attachments may contain confidential and privileged material solely for the use of the intended
recipient, If you are not the intended recipient you may not open, copy, download or read the contents of this message.
If you have received this emall in error please return it immediately to the sender.

From: Chan, Cheryl [mailto:Cheryl.Chan@sfdpw.ord]

Sent: Friday, May 30, 2014 4:20 PM

To: Sirkin & Associates

Subject: PID: 8255; AB 0843, Lot 015 at 668-678 Page Street
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Good afternoon Cam,

We are currently reviewing the above application and found Mr. Iris Canada listed as an owner on the
Preliminary Title Report (attached), but we do not see his name listed in any of the deeds.

Please provide a deed showing Mr. Iris Canada’s ownership.

Thank you,

CHERYL CHAN

CHY & COUNTY OF §.F, ~ DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS
Bureau of Streat-Use and Mapping
1155 Market $treet, 3rd Floor, San Frahcisco, CA 94103

Maiin: 415-554-5827 | Direct: 415-554-4885 | Fox: 415-554-5324

E-Mail: chervl.chan@sfdpw.org
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ANDREW M. ZACKS (SBN 147794)
MARK B. CHERNEV (SBN 264946) ,
ZACKS, FREEDMAN & PATTERSON, P.C.
235 Montgomery Street, Suite 400

San Francisco, CA 94104

Tel: (415) 956-8100

Fax: (415) 288-9755

Attorneys for Plaintiffs,
Peter M. Owens

 Carolyn A. Radisch

Stephen L. Owens
' 'SUPERIOR COURT - STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO ~ UNLIMITED CIVIL JURISDICTION

|| PETER M. OWENS, an individual, ‘Case No.: CGC-14-543437
CAROLYN A. RADISCH, an individual, -
STEPHEN L. OWENS, an individual DECLARATION OF MARK B.
' ; lual, CHERENY IN SUPPORT OF

REASONABLE ATTORNEY’S FEES TO
BE PAID PURSUANT TO COURT
ORDER

Plaintiffs,

Vvs.
D_ate: June 8, 2016

IRIS CANADA an individual, OLD I”gggte{ ' 15%200 am.

REPUBLIC TITLE COMPANY, a California , '
corporation, and DOES 1-10, inclusive, Jufige. Hon, James A. Robertson, II

Defendants.

1. I, Mark B. Chernev, am an attorney licensed to practice before the courts of thé
state of California, am admitted to practice in this Court, and am an associate at Zaoks,
Freedman & Patterson, P.C., attorneys of record for Plaintiffs. I have personal knowledge of
the following facts discussed below and would téstify truthfully thereto if called to do so.

2. On December 30, 2014 I caused the Complaint in this action to be filed. The
First attempt of personal service on Defendant Iris Canada (“Defendant”) Was January 3, 2015,
Because Plaintiffs were virtually certain that Defendant was living with her niece, Iris

Metriouns (“Merriouns”), in Oakland, and had been doing so for approximately two years, [
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caused service to be attempted at both the subject premises, 670 Page Street, San Francisco
(“Premises™) as well as Merriouns address in Oakland. Collectively, I am aware of attérnpted
service of at least fourteen separate times, namely January 3, 2015, January 5, 2015, January 8,
2015, January 12, 2015, January 13, 2015, January 14, 2015, January 15, 2015, January 16,
2015, January 17, 2015, January 18, 2015, January 22, 2015, January 23, 2015, and January
24, 2015. -It was not until Saturday, January 31, 2015 at 8:18 p.m. when it was learned from a
neighbor familiar with Defendant and Merriouns, that Defendant and Merriouns had suddenly
appeared at the Premises that evening to change the locks. My office immediately made
arrangements for a process server to appear and finally effectuate personal servige on
Defendant at 9:40 p.m. on January 31, 2015. True and correct copies of that Proof of Service

and Declaration of Due Diligence is attached as Exhibit A.

3. Up to around this time,|Steven Collier|of the Tenderloin Housing Clinic was

representing Defendant. On or about the beginning of February 2015, an

attorney with Legal Assistance To The Elderly became involved, and was believed to serve as
either a direct or indirect replacement of Steven Collier. After apptoximately one weeks worth
of phone calls and email exchanges, on or about February 7, 2615; Tom Drohan represented
that he would not be reprééenting Defendant, and that Steven Collier would be representing her
in this lawsuit. Steve Collier, however, never entered his appearance once the fdrmal litigation
began.

4. On March 2, 2015, I was served with “DEFENDANT IRIS CANADA
ANSWER TO PLAINTIFFS COMPLAINT”. That Answer was submitted by “Iris Merriouns,
Power of Attorney for Iris Canada” and listed an address as “Iris Merriouns, Pro Se, Power of

Attorney for Iris Canada, 1 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Oakland, Ca. 94612, 510-435-7044”. 1
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soon confirmed that thisv address is that of the Oakland City Hall where Merriouns is employed.
Additionaily, I confirmed that the phone number listed is that of Merriouns, and it had been
used numerous times by Plaintiffs to contact Merriouns in the past. A true and correct cbpy of
that first Answer is attached as Exhibit B.

5. On March 13, 2015 » I was served with Defendant’s second Answer. This
second Answer was identical in substanée to the first Answer, except that Merriouns’ power of
attorney and address for contact was substituted with Defendant herself, with an address of
“670 Page Street #1, San F fancisco; Ca”. In other words, Merriouns Was removed. The
contact tieleph'one number, namely that of Merrioiuns, remained the same. A true and correct
copy of that second Answer is attached as Exhibit C. Up to this point,fbased on-the two
Answers I had been served with, I had been informed by Defendant of her contact ;')hone’
numbef, whv‘ich was Merriouns cell, of Merriouns allegedly being Defendant’s power of
attorney with» a provided work address at Oakland 'Citj} Hall, and the address at the Premises
itself. Additionally, I had already been aware of Merriouns home address in Oakland,
Pursuant to the second An’swer, however, the address of the Premises was the designatéd
address for Defendant by Defendant. | |

6. On March 11, 2015 I first caused Defendant to be served with a Notice of
Deposition for the purpose of investigating the allegations in the Coﬁplaint, namely the terms
and obligations of the.Life Estate, the Deed of Trust, the Promissory Note, and the
circumstances surrounding how the Premises had fallen into disrepair, and whére Defendant
had been permanently residing for the past two-plus years while the Premises was éllegedly
vacant, among other things. That Deposition Notice provided for a deposition date of April 1,

2015 at 1:00 p.m., and also requested the production of documents. The Notice was served by
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first class mail to Defendant at the Premises, as provided for in her second Answer; as well as
my additionally providing two courtesy copies to the Oakland City Hall employment address
previously provided. Iheard nothing back from Defendant or Merriouns until approximately
5:00 p.m. on March 31, 2015, the evening before the deposition was to take place.

Specifically, I received a telephone call from Merriouns informing me that she was “at the

hospital” and that Defendant had been admitted, but refused to provide any additional

information besides the represcntatidn that Defendant would not be appearing at the deposition
to take place the following day. I requested from Merriouns that she please call me the next
morning to discuss conﬁrmingi the admission, rescheduling the deposition, and for general
discussions regarding goo.'d faith arrangements to depose Defendant in the future. Merriouns
agreed to contact me the following day. Although I did not dispute at that time what
Merriouns was saying, I felt it ﬁecessary to do my due diligence. The following déy, April 1-,
2015, I emailed Merriounls, at the email address I had for her, confirming our conversation and
again requested she provide me with proof of Defendant’s admission and unavailability.
Merriouns failed to call me as she had promised. Additionally, after Défendant failed to
appear at the noticed deposition on April 1, 2015, and my email having not been fesponded to,
Ib followed up with anothér‘email to Merriouns later that afternoon. Because Defendant did not
appear at her noticed deposition, it was re-noticed on April 1, 2015 for April 16,2015. At
approximately 5:00 p.m. on April 1, 2015, Merriouﬁs called me. She indicated that Defendant
had been “discharged” the previous evening from UCSF. 1again requested that she provide
some written documentation of Defendant’s discharge, representing that I would not need any
doctors note or ofﬁc_ial medical records, and that a mere discharge paper with Defendant’s

name and a date would suffice. Merriouns indicated that rather than provide that proof, she
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would instead get an actual note from Defendant’s primary care physician. I emphasized to her
that was not necessafy, and fhat I would accept her representations as long as she mere_ly:
provide something as simple as a discharge note. Merriouhs indicated she would promptly do
both. Two days later, On April 3, 2615 Merriouns informed me Defendant would not be
appeafing at a deposition and no medical records would be provided. Merriouns and I
continued to meet and confer regarding the issue of quéndant’s Aeposition via émail for
fifteen days before Merriouns p;‘ovided any documentation of Defendén;c’s hospital admission
and discharge. Coincidently, it was not until 8:28 p.m, on April 15; 2015, the evéning before
the re-noticed, and now second, depoéition was to take placg (April 16, 2015 at 1:00 p.m.) that
Mefréouns provided any documentationv evidencing hospital papers, and that only re]atéd to the |
first deposition date of April 1,2015. No documentation regarding cancellation of the_re;- ‘
noticed deposition, or Defendant’s inability to attend, was provided, short of the Merriouns
email. True and correct copies of the Notice of Deposition, the Re-Notice of Deposition, and
referenced email thread is attached collectively as Exhibit D.

7. On April 16,2015 at 1:00, Defendant failed to appear at her re-noticed
deposition and no documents were provided. When Defendant failed to appear, I caused
Defendant to be served with a Third Notice of Deposition scheduled for May 5,2015 at 1:00
p.m. Additionally,. with that Third Notice, I included an anticipatory meet and confer letter to
Defendant addressing any potential issues or inconveniences that may exist regarding her
appearance. Specifically, I offered to relocate the venue for the deposition to the Premises,
Merriouns’s residence, any residence s}'w may prefer, or any place in the Bay Area. Mdrem}er,
I offered to provide transportation for Defendant in the event it was needed. Defendantk never

responded. On May 4, 2015 at 5:43 p.m., the evening before the third deposition was to take
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place, I received a fax from Merriouns from the Oakland City Counsel indicating that
Defendant would not be appearing. On May 5, 2015 at 1:00, consistent with Merriouns’ fax,
Defendant failed to appear. A true and correct copy of that accommodations letter, Third
Notice of Deposition, and fax from Merriouns is atteched‘as Exhibit E. During tﬁis time
period, on or about April 24, 2015, another attorney,contacted me on behalf of
Defendant. I discussed briefly with him the pending litigation, my clients’ wishes, the efforts
thus far, and a possible resolution. Robert DeVries never entered his appearance.

8. Ancillary to the efforts undertaken to depose Defendant, Plaintiffs had also
noticed a site inspection of the Premises for.obvious reasons, an;ong which would provide
Defendant an opportunity to simply show the Premises in its current etate, similar in the way
she recently invited the media into her home for display. The site inspection efforts are
discussed in more detaﬂ below, however of ehronological significance is that the ﬁirst site
inspection notice was.served on April 2, 2015 and noticed for May 7, 2015. At the time that
inepection was noticed, Defendant remained pro se. On May 6, 2015, the day after
Defendent’s failure to appear at her third noticed depo‘sition, and the dey before the site

inspection was noticed to take place, I received a telephone message from Defendant’s new

attorney (and the fourth my having contact with), Mary Catherine Wiedefhold[ iﬁdicating that
neither Defendant, nor herself, would be available for the site inspection noticed for the
following day. No alternative date or time was presented, nor was any explanation regarding
the unavailability of either D'efendar}t or ﬁer counsel represented. 'As aresult of that
cancellation, I served Defendant, by way of her counsel, with a Fourth Notice of Deposition, .
noticing the deposition for May 21, 2015 as a result of Defendant’s failure to appear at the

third deposition. I also noticed the second site inspection of the Premises for June 11, 2015 at
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11:00 a.m. The following day, May 7, 2015, I received a letter from Defendants’ attorney
regarding the site inspection, the deposition, and concemé that somehow Defendant was being
doubly exf)osed to discovery as a result of the status of the procedurally necessary defendant,
Old Republic Title Company, and that Plaintiffs were attempting to get “two bites at the apple”
by having a déposition and a site inspection, as if somehow that was precluded, let alone
improper. Additionally, Defense counsel asked specifically if their was a non-participation
agreement with Old Republic Title Company regarding discovery, which there in fact was, as
they had previously represented to me théy had no interest in conducting any discovery. Isoon
made arrangements with Old Republic Title‘ Company to have them provide written
confirmation of that non-participation agreemént, which was promptly provided to Defense
counsel merely four days later on May 11, 2015. Moreover, as a courtesy, I offered to conduct
the deposition at the already noticed time and p}ace of the site inspection, namely the Premises.
That way, Defendant would not be inconvenienced at all, she could simply permit the sité
inspection to occur, and I could depose her, all while at the Premises. This aéain, being an
opportunity for Defendant to shpw the Premises in a manner consistent with her recent media
representations that she has been living there all along. That offer was rejected. A true and
correct copy of Defense counsel Mary Catherine Wiederhold’s letter, thé non-participation
agreement frorﬁ 0ld Republic Title Company, the Foul'gh Notice of Deposition aI}d Second
Demand for Inspection and associated Proof of Service, as well as my meet and confer letter is
attached as Exhibit F.

9. After having represented Defendant for approximately six days, on May 11,
2015, the same day both the Old Republic Title Company and I sent letters to Mary Catherine

Wiederhold, she served me with a Notice of Motion to Be Relieved as Counsel, which,
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suspiciously was calendared out thirty-one days and set for hearing the exact same date, and
within an hour-and-a-half of, the now second noticed site inspection date for the Premises,
June 11, 2015. Additionally, Defense counsel’s last official act before withdrawing was to
cancel, now for the fourth time, Defendant’s properly noticed deposition set to take place on
May 21, 2015. This cancellation ignored my offer to conduct the deposition at the Premises at
the same time as the site inspection, and offered no documentation in support of the medical
issues represented, nor any alternative date, time, or place to reschedule. It was simply
canceled. A true and correct copy of that Motion to Be Relieved, my meet and confer efforts,
and that final deposition cancellation leﬁer is attached éollectively as Exhibit G.

10.  OnMay 29, 2015, I learned attomeay be entering his
appearance and representing Defendant in this action. I contacted Mr. Larson via email on
June 1, 2015 regarding his possible representation, as Mary Catherine Wiederhiold was still
counsel of record, and I did not want to communicate with the wrong attorney, or with
Defendant directfy if she was represented. Thad a very brief communication with David
Larson regarding this matter. David Larson never entered his appearance. A true and correct
of our communications is attached as Exhibit H.

11.  OnJune 11, 2015, I attended the hearing on Mary Catherine Wiederhold’s
motion to be relieved as counsel. The purpose of my appearing was not to oppose the motion
to be relieved, but simply to confirm the site inspection was still going forward. I hever
received confirmation one-way or the other. Defendant did not appear. That motion to be
relieved was granted, and permitted Ms. Weiderhold to witﬁdraw as counsel effective June 11,
20135, as a result of irreconcilable differences having led to a breakdown of the attorney-client

relationship. On June 11, 2015 at 11:00 a.m., and after appearing at that 9:30 a.m. law and
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motion calendar, I appeared a“c the Premises for the site inspection, which still remained
properly noticed to take place. Once there, after having both rang the doorbell numerous times
and knocked numerous times, after approximately 15 minutes I left when there was no
response and Defendant did not appear or answer the door.

12, Asaresult of Mary Catherine Wiederhold’s eaflier cancellation of fhe fourth
deposition, and a failure to provide any alter_ﬁative date, time, or scenario where such é
deposition coﬁld occur on-an agreed upon date, time and place, on June 15, 2015, 1 caused
Defendant td be served with a nbw Fifth Notice of Deposition and Request for Production of
Documents, scheduling that deposition for June 30, 2015 at 1:00 p.m. to take place at my
office. Additionally, as a result of the fail'ure of Defendant to appear at, or permit, the June 11,
2015 site inspection, I simuitaneOLlsly served Defendant with a Third Demand for Iﬁspection of
Real Property, noticing the Third Site Inspection for July 21,2015. This served as ho;c only the
opportunity, but legal obligation, to permit the Premises to be viewed by me, and
constructively by Plaintiffs, arguably in a mannér consistent with her récent representations to
the media that she has been living at the Premises all along First, on July 21 2015 the date of
the site inspection, at approx1mately 11:00 a.m., I personally appeared at the Premlses for the
'purpose of conducting the noticed site inspection. Much like before, there was no response to
1} my numerous attempts to announce my presence, including ringing the doorbell and knockmg |
numerous times. After approximately 15 minutes, after having received no response to ringing
the doorbell or my seeing the Defen"dant, or any related party, I left. Second, when June 30,
2015 arrived, the date set for Defendant’s fifth noticed deposition, Defendant faiied to appear.
After that failure to appear at the deposition, on July 13, 2015 I sent Defendant yet another

letter inquiring as to her nonappearance at her fifth properly noticed deposition, as well as my

9
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offer to relocate the deposition, provide tranéporta'tion if necessary. I received no response. A
true and correct copy of that letter and the Fifth Notice of Deposition and Third Notice of Site
Inspection is collectively attached as Exhibit I.

13. Asaresult of Defendant’s failure to appear at now five properly noticed
depositions, and the absolute failure lof any reasonable meeting and conferring on an agreeaéle
time or place for the deposition to take place, or my even receiving a response to my meet and
confer efforts and invitations to accommodate Defendant in any manner necessary, including
my July 13, 2015 letter as well as the offer to conduct the deposition simultaneously with the
site 'inspéction at the Véry location Defendant now alleges she has lived all along; on July 17,
2015 I filed a Motion to Compel Compliance with Deposition Notice and Request for
Sanctions. On September 15, 2015 that Motion to Compel Compliance with Deposition Notiée
and Request for Sanctions was heard and granted. The Court ordered Defendar;t to appear for
her deposition on or before October 5, 2015 and to produce the documents responsive to the
Fifth Notice of Deposition, a copy of which was attached to the Order. Additio'nally,
Defendant was required to contact me speciﬁcally in advance of that., deposition déadline to
meet and confer on the specific date and time for the deposition. The Court also awarded
Plaintiffs sanctions in the amount of $2,795.00 to be paid by Defendant on or before October 5,
2015. That Order and associated Notice of Entry of Order was served on Defenaant Sepfemberv
23,2015. Additionally, based on the history of the action, and Defgndant’s patterr; of ﬁot
meeting and conferring with me at all on any scheduling issues, I also re-noticed the deposition
for a date specific, namely September 30,2015 at 1:00 p.m., a time consistent with the Order,
so Defendant would have the opportunity to contact me pursuant to the Order and have the

deposition held that day or diffe'rent day which we could disc@ss, in the event she did contact
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me at all. She didn’t. At no time on September 30, 2015 did Defendant appear at my office
for her deposition, nor were any documents provided. Additionally, at no point has Defendant
ever contacted me pursuant to that Order to schedule her deposition, before October 5, 2015 or
otherwise, nor has Defendant ever contacted me regarding providing the demanded documents
or the sanctions, also contained within that Order to occur on or prior to October 5,2015. A
true and correct copy of that Order, Notice of Entry of Order, Sixth Notice of Deposition, and
proof of service is attached as Exhibit J.

14, Additionally, as a result of Defendant’s failure to appear at or permit the third
noticed Site Inspection on July 21, 2015 (referénced above), Plaintiff filed a Motion to Compel
Compliance with Plaintiffs’ Third bemand for Inspection of Real Property, and Request for
Sancti;)ns on July 22, 2015. That Motion was heard and granted on Septembqr 4,2015,
Pursuant to that Order, the site insp‘ection was ordered to take place on September 9,2015 at
11:00 a.m., and Defendant was further ordered to pay sanctions in the amount of $1,600.
Defendant was prov‘ided Notice of Entry of this Order on September 4, 2015 by personal
messenger. This would have served as the now third opportunity for Defendant to present the
Premises in a manner consistent with her recent representations to the media regarding her
occupancy, let alone pursuant to her obligation under the rules of discovery and now Courtb
Order. On September 9, 2015 at 11:00 a.m. I personally appeared at the Premises for the
purpose 6f conducting the Court Ordered site inspection. I knocked and rang the bell for
approximately fifteen minutes, and after having received no response, I left.

Besides Defendant’s failure to appear at the five noticed depositions resulting in a
Court Order, Defendant’s failure to permit the properly noticed and Ordered site inspection of

the Premises three separate times, Defendant had also failed to comply with or respond to any
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of Plaintiffs’ written discovery demands, namely form interrogatories and requests for
production of documents. The documents requested would have been of particular importance
as they would have supported or disputed Defendant’s permanently residing at the Premises,
the condition and repair of the Premises, among other things. Plaintiff first served their
Request for Production of Documents and Form Interrogatories on April 26, 2015 and April
23, 2015 respectively. ADefendant failed to provide any responses to either request. Well after |
the deadlines for Defendant’s responses were due, in advance of my filing a Motion to Compel
the Form Interrogatories and Request for Production, I sent Defendant a letter on June 15, 2015
informing her that the deadline had passed, and that I had not heard from her. Additionally, I
offered her an opportunity to havé additional time to prepare and provide responses, and if she
needed additional time, and we could select an agreeable date, and further provided Defendant
an additional week to let me know by June 23, 2015 if she would need additioﬁal tin';e.
Defendant failed to respond to that invitation or letter. Defendént failed to provide any
responses to ény requestéd discovery. As a result of Defendant’s failure to respond to the
Form Interrogatories, the Request for Production, and my offer of additional time, I caused to
be filed and served a Motion to Compel Responses to Plaintiffs’ Reqqest for Production of
Documents to Iris Canada — Set One, and Request for Sanctions and a Motion to Compel
Answers to Interrogatories and Request for Sanctions, both on June 24, 2015. On August 20,
>2015, both Motions were granted, which required Defendant to answer the Form
Interrogatories and produce the Requested Documents, and pay sanctions totaling $1,770, or
$885 for each h)otion, within ten days of notice of entry of Order. Notice of Entry of each
Order was provided to Defendant on August 20, 2015. Defendant failed to comply with any of

those obligations, either by responding to the interrogatories, providing the documents, paying
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the sanctions, or even requesting time to do any of those things. True and correct copies of my
meet and confer letter, the Site Inspection Order and the two Orders regarding Form
Intefrogatories and Produétion of Documents are collectively attached as Exhibit K.

15.  Simultaneous with my efforts to depose Defendant and to conduct an inspection
of the Premises, and to receive written discovery and documents, I had attempted to subpoena
Merriouns for a deposition, as she had been Plaintiffs’ primary contact for Defendant and was .
also servmg as her primary caregiver, as well as her spemﬁcally representing herself as being
power of attorney for Defendant. If there was anyone who was familiar w1th Defendant’s
living arrangements besides Defendant herself, it would be Merriouns. Con81ste;nt with that, I
prepared a deposition subpoen;d for Merriouns on March 11, 2015, noticing the deposition to
take place on April 2, 2015. Because Merriouns is not a party to the action, it was necessary to
personally serve her. The ﬁrsf place I had my process server attempt service was at the address
she had previously proyided for service, namely 1 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza and Oakland City
Hall. This, again, was specifically the address provided by Mérriouns earlier when I was
served with Defendant’s ﬁfs_t Answer. After the first attempt to serve Merriouns, the process
server was told that he must go to the city attorney’s office on the 6™ Eloor of Oakland City
Hall. That attempt was March 12, 2015. Upon going to the 6 Floor, the server was then
informed that that department would only accept record subpoenas, and nobody was available
to accept service. It was curious that the location de31gnated for service by Merriouns was a
place where service could not be effectuated. This would end up being the first in a wardrobe
of problems presented by Merriouns in her seemingly stratégic election to designate Qakland
City Hall as the address for service of process. Subsequent to that failed attempt, unsuccessful

attempts to serve Merriouns were made at her residence on March 13, 2015 at 8:10 a.m.,

-13-
DECLARATION OF MARK B, CHERNEV IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS REASONABLE FEES

2398




O 0 3 &N i kW N

e e e e e
s W N = O

ZACKS & FREEDMAN, P.C.
o

235 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 400

SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94104
O A
v 3

[\
<

March 14, 2015 at 3:25 p.m., March 15, 2015 at 10:20 a.m.; March 16, 2015 at 5:10 p.m. and
again at 8:10 p.m. (a black Mercedes being present at the residence, Merriouns drove a black
Mercedes at the time), March 17, 2015 at 8:25 a.m., aga;in with the Mercedes bresent, March
18,2015 at 7:00 a.m. and again at 6;35 p.m. with the Mercedes present the second time, March
19,2015 at 7:30 p.m., March 21, 2015 at 12:15 p.m., March 22, 2015 at 8:40 a.m., March 24,
2015 at 7:16 p.m., and March 25, 2015 at 6:50 p.m. After these sixteen failed attempts to serve
Merriouns, that first deposition subpoena expired and Plaintiffs were forced to re-notice the
déposition and attempt service on Merriouns anew. It was not until May 8, 2015 that the
process server was able to effectuate service on Merrioﬁns, and that was 'only after a neigﬁbor,
in the same manner as With service of the original Complaint i'tself, notified Plaintiffs that
Merriouns had‘ appeared at the Premises with Defendant. Merriouns was served a subpoeﬂa to
appear at her deposition set to fake place on May 26, 2015 at my office at 10:00 a.m. Two
days after Merriouns was served with her deposition subpoena, on May 11, 2016, I sent
Merriouns an anticipatory meet-and-confer letter, which also included the necessary witness
fees and mileage reimbursement. Included in that letter was an invitation fdr Merriouns to
contact me in the event the deposition date presented a conflict, as well as an offer to
reschedule the»c‘ieposition to an agreed upon date in the event she had a conflict. This éffer to
reschedule was sent two weeks in advance of the actual deposition, and was sent to Merriouns
at both her héme and work address. Merriouns never responded to that létter or invitation.
Additionally, when the date of the deposition arrived, on May 26, 2015, M"erriounls failed to
_abpear, failed to produce the necessary documents, and failed to contact me entifely. True and
correct copies of those subpoenas, declarations of due diligence, the meet and confer letter, and

the associated proof of service are collectively attached as Exhibit L.
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16.  Asaresult of Merriouns’ failure to appear at her deposition, and failure to
contact me about rescheduling, I sent her a meet and confer letter on; May 26, 2016 agaiﬁ
offering an opportunity to schedule the deposition to an agreeable time and also to inquire
reéarding the circumstances of her nonappearance in advance of my filing a motidn to compel.'
Merriouns failed to respénd to that invitation and -inqL.liry. As a result of Merriouns’ failure to
appear at her deposition and failure to meet and confer or engage me on the issue at all, T
'pr‘epared and filed a Motion to Compel Merri;)uns’ compliance with her deposition subpoena.
That Motion was filed on June 5, 2015 and Merriouns was served the following day ’by a
neighbor when Merriouns appeared at the Premises with Defendant. Meﬁiouns failed to
respond to that Motion and failed to appear at the hearing. On July 1, 2015, Plaintiffs were
éwarded and Order Granting Motion to Corﬁpél Compliance with Deposition Subpoena and
Request for Sanctions against Merriouns. That Order required Merriouns to appear at
deposition and pay Plaintiffs sanctions in the amounf of $1,972.50 which représented the fees
and costs associatea with Merriouns failure to appear at her deposition, failure to meet and
confer on the matter, and the Motion to Compel itself. Additionally, after Plaihtiffs were
avfarded the Motion to Compel, I seﬁt Merriouns yet another letter informing her of the status
| of the matter and thé Order, as well as again inviting her to contact ;m‘e.about resolving the
litigation. Of significance is that up to this point, both Merriouns and Defendant had failed to
present any evidence supporting Defendant having resided at the Premises aﬁd had additionally
resisted all Qf Plaintiffs’ efforts to investigate same. On July 17, 2015, at her home in Oakland,
Merriouns was served with the now second depositiqn subpoena as well as another cépy of the

Order, noticing her deposition for August 5, 2015. True and correct copies of the Order
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Granting Compliance, meet and confer letters, second subpoena and associated proof§ of
service is collectively attached as Exhibit M.

17. On July 22, 2015, two weeks in advance of the Merriouns deposition date, and
after she had been served, I sent Merriouns a letfer, with a courtesy copy of the deposition
notice and Order, inviting her again that if the noticed deposition date presented a c;onﬂict, to
please contact me about reécheduling to an agreed ﬁpon déte. This letter also informed
Merriouns that she had previously been provided the applicable witness fees for her
appearance. On August 4, 2015, at 5:01 p.m., less than 24 hours before the deposition was
set to begin, and thirteen days after Ivh;ad invited Merriouns to reschedule the deposition, I
received a fax from her stating she would not be appearing, requested “agreed dates and
times”, but contained no contact information to contact her regarding her réquest for an agreed
upon date, nor any suggested dates or times which would be agreeable. The only contact
number was a fax number in the margin indicatihg where the letter was sent from, namely the
“Oakland City Counsel”. In response to Metriouns’ cancelation, on August 5,2015, I sent her
a meet and confer letter attempting to reschedule the deposition to an agfeed upon date.
Because I was ﬁrrhly convinced I would not be receiving any correspondence back regarding
my offer, I additionally scheduled another date to have the deposition in the event I did not
hear from her. That date was August 12, 2015 at 1:00. ”i“his letter was emailed to Merriouns at
two different email addresses I have used to c‘orrespond with her in the past, as well as being
sent U.S. Mail to both héf home and work address. Meriouns did not brespond to that leﬁer aﬁd
did not acknowledge receipt of either email. On August 12, 2015, the actual date of the now
rescheduled deposition, at 1:12 a.m., I received a facsimile from Merriouns, again indicating

she would not be appearing. Much like the carlier cancellation facsimile, this letter seemingly
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offered to reschedule, however provided ho contact number or alternative date or time to
conduct the deposition. It is of significance that Merriouns has had my email address and work
phone number for months, yet she instead chose to send a fax at 1:12 a.m. One cannot simply
“reply” to a fax under those circumstances. After having not been contacted by Metriouns
after her August 12, 2015 cancellation and alleged willingness to reschedule the deposition, the
followmg week I caused a Motion to Compel Comphance with Deposition Subpoena, Request
for Sanctlons and Finding of Contempt to be filed as a result of Merriouns now having
canceled two properly noticed depositions in violation of Court order, and her failure to meet
and confer on the matter. On September 17, 2015, lthat Motion was granted after hearing and
appearance by Memouns At that hearing, and from the bench, the Hon. Ronald E. deachay ,
admonished and Ordered Merriouns to appear no less than five separate times for her
deposition, and she was again ordered to pay sanctions this time in the amount of $2,255
within 30 days, and was Ordered to shew cause why she should not be held in coﬁtempt of
Court for her failure to comply with the Ceu,rt’s earlier Order. I Would not be exaggerating or
embelﬁshing by representing that the Court was pleased with Merriouns ections to say the
least. Hearing oﬁ that OSC was set for November 13, 2015 and Merriouns was ordered to.
respond no later than Nove;nber 6,2015. A true and correct copy of the refereneea bletters and
associated emails and transmission receipts, and September 17, 2015 Order Grantmg Motion to
Compel Compliance thh Deposition Subpoena, Request for Sanctions, and Finding of
Contempt is collectively attached as Exhibit N. ‘

| 18.  On October 7, 2015 Metriouns actually appeared at Ber deposition at my office.
That deposition proceeded as best it could under the obvious circunistances and Metriouns

reluctance to be there. Additionally, the deposition could not be completed because, besides
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the time constraints, Merriouns failed to bring her eyeglasses, and was unable to review any
documents which were presented to her, such as the Life Estate, the Deed of Trust, the
Promissory Note or the Bill of Sale. Moreover, it was particularly teiling that Merriouns had
“forgotten™ her eyeglasses, eyeglasses of which she testified she needs because she is both
nearsighted and farsighted. After that deposition session ended without having been
concluded, attorneybegan representiﬁg Merriouns in defense to my efforts to
conclude the deposition. After numerous meet and confer efforts, proposed and entered orders,
and éngaging Mr. Cooke and the general theme and tone of resistance, I reélized it was going
to be substaﬁtially mjore effort than it was realisticaHy worth, and With the January 25 trial date
approaching,‘ the decision was made to simply abandon the effort without having concluded the
deposition. It simply was a mitigation of costs and effort.

19.  Prior to Merriouns’ Deposition, on October 5, 2015, 1 prepared‘and caused é .
very thorough Plaintiffs Arﬁended Moﬁon for Summary Judgment or in the Alternative
Summary Adjudication (“MSJ”) to be filed and served. The hearing on that MSJ was noticed
for December 22, 2015, which was approximately one month before the first scheduléd trial
date of January 25, 2016. ‘This MSJ was supported by declarations both from Plaintiff Peter
M. Owens a‘hd two separate independent witnesses; as well as meal delivery cénceliation ’ |
documents provided by Meals on Wheels, in addition to other evidence supporting all of
Plaintiff’s causes of action. Of note was that Plaintiff had served Meals on Whee}s with a
document demand and they‘had provided documents in response to that discovery réquést
evidencing that meal delivery at the Premises had been canceled on October 2, 2012 until
further notice, and had not been renewed. Copies of those meal cancelation records are

included in Plaintiffs’ MSJ.
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20.  Independent of the already filed and noticed MSJ, as a result of Defendant’s
failure to comply with any discovery, to meet and confer on any of outstanding discovery, and
her failure to comply with the now four separate Court Orders, én October 19, 2016, Plaintiffs
filed and served foﬁr seﬁarate Motions to Compel Compliance with Court Order each seeking
additional evidentiary sanctions. Plaintiffs’ Motion to Compel Compliance With Court Order
for Compliance with Deposition Notice; Request for Monetary Sénctions, and for Issues
Sanctions;Pléihtiffs’ Motion to Compel Compliance with Court Order for Site Inspection,
Request for Monetary Sanctions, and for Issue Sanctions, Plai‘n’ciffs’ Motion to Compel
Compliance with Court Order for Compliance With Request for Production of Documents,
Request for Monetary Sanctions, and for Tssue Sanctions, and Plaintiffs’ Motion to Compel
Complianée with Court Order .for Reé_ponses to ‘Fovrm Interrogatories, Request for Monetary
Sanctions, and for Issue Sanctions, with each Motion noticed for hearing November 10, 2015.
At 7:27 a.m., on November 10, 2015,'the date which the Motions were to be heard, attorney
John Cooke emailed the Court and myself noticing that he was entering his appéérance forthe
limited scope of representing Defendant _6n thesé Motions, and thdt‘Defendént was, albeit
untimely, contesting the teﬁtative rulings. John Cooke now served as the sixth attorney whom
I had contact with regarding representation éf Defendant, éither directly or indirectly, in this
matter. John Cooke appeared at the November 10, 2015 hearing along with myself. One of -
the main issues entertained by Pro Tem Judge Steven B. Stein at that hearing was providing
Defendant one final opportunity to convince the Court that there would be complete
compliance with the outstanding discovery with specific commitments made on behalf of
Defendant. The Court further emphasized the prejudice Plaintiffs have suffered as trial was set

to begin in approximately two months, and over seven months have passed since Defendant
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was first served with discovery requests, of which none has been complied With; Additionally,
rather than finding in favor of Plaintiffs from the bench and a manner consistent with the
tentative rulings, Pro Tem Judge Steven B. Stein took the matter under submission and
provided Defense counsel with two separate correspondences inviting Defendant to represent a
plan for compliance prior making a finding on Plaintiffs’ Motions as well as Defendant
providing discovery to Plaintiffs in a manner which can alleviafe the clear prejudice Plaintiffs
have suffered. In other words, tﬁe Court gave Defendant an opportunity before issuing its
order, Tlﬁrfeen days later, and after Defendant failed present any plan regarding compliance,
besides an offer to request PG&E Bills and té) pay $200 in sanctions, Plaintiffs were granted
each of their Motions by Pro Tem Judge Steven B. Stein on November 23, 2015, True and
correct copies of those Court communications and Notices of Entry of Order granting Plaintiffs
the issue sanctions sought are collectively attached as EXhibit 0.

21.  Inadvance of the MSJ hearing, Defendant filed an Opposition to Plaintiff’s
MSJ, first on December 15, 2015 and again on December 17, 2015, which were untixﬁely, but
not objected to by Plaintiffs. Plaintiff filed Reply papers in response to Defendant’s
Opposition papers. On December 22, 2015, the MSJ hearing date, the Court, on its own
motion, continued the métter to be heard December 31, 2015.

22.  OnDecember 28, 2015, thre; days before that MSJ hearing was to be héard,
Defeﬁdant filed for Chépter 7 Bankruptcy. (Exhibit P-1) That resulted m the MSJ being taken
off calendar because of an automatiq stay. Of significance is that Within her Chapter 7
Bankruptcy Petition, Defendant listed no assets, no c?editoré, and no debts, besides her
obligatioﬁ to pay Plaintiffs on the Promissory Note on the underlying Life Estate and Deed of

Trust. Additionally, because the Life Estate was not an alienable asset (it applying to
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Defendant only and not being transferrable or marketable), it had no value to the Bankruptcy
Estate and even if it had Plaintiffs were the only scheduled creditors who would receive
distributions, to the extent there even were any funds to be distributed considering Defendant
had no significant assets scheduled. Moreover, and most importantly, Plaintiffs seeking
recovery of the Life Estate was based on behavioral violations, and not related in any way to
the Promissory Note or the ﬁnat{cial obligation of Defendant to make payments to Plaintiffs. |
Likewise, there was no relief which the Bankruptcy Court could prov1de for Defendant, short
the stay 1tself strateglcally taking the MSJ off calendar Equally as telling, was that in her
petition, Defendant had also listed as her address‘ for all Bankruptcy notices, to be “One Frank
H. Ogawa Plaza, 2™ Floor, Attn: Iris Merriouns, Oakland, CA 94612”. (ExhibitP-1). Asa
result of Defendant filing fof Chapter 7 Bankruptcy, and Plaintiffs being entitled to relief from
the stay, Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Relief From Stay and a simultaneous application to have
that Motion heard on shortened time, the three mainl factqrs being 1) there was no relief which
the Bankruptcy Court prdvide Defendant; 2) the uhderlying ni‘atter was a State Court property
dispute and the Bankruptcy Court should abstain, and; 3) that trial in the acfion was scheduled
for January 25, 2016, merely weeks away. That Motion aﬁd request to shorten time was filed
on December 31, 2015. (Exhlblt P-2) Shortened time was granted on January 2, 2016 and the
Bankruptcy Court set the hearmg for January 7,2016. (Exhibit P-3) In response to Plamt1ffs
seven-page Motion for Relief From Stay, Defendant filed a twenty-five page Opposition.
(Exhibit P-4) After filing her fwenty-ﬁve page opposition, Defendant further filed 2 Motion to
Strike the Order Granting Ex Parte relief shortening time, alleging, among other things,
improper service at the Oakland City Hall address and improper communications between the

Bankruptcy Court and PlaintifP’s counsel. (Exhibit P-5) Additionally, Defendant filed a
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Request for Continuance based on her medical condition. Defendant filed all of the above
referenced pleadings while she remained pro se. At that January 7, 2016 hearing, US
Bankruptcy Judge Hannah L. Blumenstiel denied Defendant’s Motion to Strike, further
admonishing her for the accusations of improper communications (Exhibit P-7) and granted
Defendant’s Request fo;’ Continuance Re: Medical Impairment for one-week to J anuary 14,
2016, but for purposes mainly of her securing counsel. (Exhibit P-8) Not soon after,
Defendant amended her ba:nkruptcy petition to ‘remov'e Merriouns and the Oakland City 'Hall as

her address for service. (Exhibit P-9).

Defendant’s new attorney,|Mitche11 Abdallah lof Sacramento, CA, entered his

appearance in the Bankruptcy matter on January 13, 2015, tﬁe‘ day before the Motion for Relief
From Stay was to be heard. Mitchell Abdéllah’s first procedural act as counsel for Defendant
was to file a Motion to Convert her Chapter 7 Bankruptcy to a Chapter 13 Bankruptcy the
morning of the Relief from Stay hearing. (Exhibit P-10) At the hearing, on January 14, 2016,
Plaintiffs were granted Relief From Stay. One can only speculate as to why Defendant sought
to convert her Chapte; 7 to Chapter 13, however, after Pléintiffs received relief from stay that
day, Defendant immediately withdrew her Motion to Convert to Chapter 13 before ;che relief
from stay Order was even docketed.A (Exhibit P-11) Plaintiff was granted relief from stay
pursuaht to Order o'n January 15,> 2016. (Exhibit 1;'-12).' Defendant later requested to dismiss
her own Bankruptcy on March 2, 2016, without her having received any of the relief souéht
’under the protections of bankruptcy. (Exhibit P-13) Defendant’s baﬁkruptcy was dismissed
pursuant fo her request on April 3, 2016. (Exhibit P-14). True and correct copies of all of the

Exhibits referenced as P-1 through P-14 are attached to this Declaration in Exhibit P.
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23. Judge Blumenstiel’s Bankruptcy Order granting Plaintiffs relief from stay had a
fourteen-day hold which further delayed the proceedings in this Court, including the January
25" trial date. The stay was effectively lifted January 29, 2016, however trial iﬁ the underlying
action remained oﬁ calendar for January 25, 2016. Likewise, not only did Defendant’s
Bankruptcy cause the MSJ hearing to be taken off calendar, it would delay the trial date as
well. I appeared at thg January 25, 2016 trial call. At that call, Judge Stewart rescheduled the
trial to February 1, 2016 to account for the expiration of the stay. Neither Defendant nor
anyone on Defendant’s behalf appeared at that January 25, 2016 trial call. Thereafter, I caused
Defendant to be noticed of the time and place of trial, as ordered to do so by the Court. The
following week, I appeared at the rescheduled February 1, 2016 trial calendar call. True and
correct copies of that Notice of Time and Place of Trial is attached as Exhibit Q.

24, OnFebruary 1, 2016, when the matter was called for trial, Merriouns appeared
and served Plaintiffs, via me, with Defendant’s Notice of Notice of Removal ‘and a Notice of
Stay and left the courtroom. This Notice of Notice of Rémoval was signed by Defendant and
dated January 29, 2016, and seemingly attempted to remove the matter to Federal Court on
grounds of divérsity, whi;:h also resulted in, what was now, a second attempt to stall and stay
the proceedings and prevent any ﬁndinés on the merits. (Exhibit R-1) Defendant did not
appear. Because the Court was unable to verify the Removal, and Merriouns did not remain to
provide or volunteer any additional information or explanation, the trial was continued to _
February 2, 2016 so Court staff could verify the proceedings and status. T appeared at the call
the following day after having learned that Defendant had filed a Notice of Removal with the
United States District Court for the Norfhern District of California on January 29, 2016,

(Exhibit R-2) At that Februéry 2, 2016 trial call, and after the Court confirmed Removal, the
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trial was rescheduled a third time to March 21, 2016. Later that day, I caused Defendant to be
served with Notice of that new trial date as ordered to do so by the Court. (Exhibit R-3) I soon
learned that the Notice of Notice of Removal and Notice of Stay were not the only pleadings
that Defendant had »ﬁled in the State Court action pending in this Court. First, on February 1,
2016, besides the Notice of Notice of Removal I had been served, Defendant also ﬁled an
additional Objection to Plaintiffs’ MSJ, which had still yet to be heard. Additionally, on
February 4, 2016, after having filed her Removql, Defendant filed an amended Notice of Stay
and an additional Notice of Removal. Moreover, despite the fact that neither Plaintiffs or I had
ever utilized electronic service to serve Defendant of any pleadings in the year-plus this

|| litigation had been pending, Defendant field a Noﬁce of Non-Authdrization and Non-Cons